NOTICE
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that a meeting of the REGULAR VILLAGE BOARD MEETING will be held on
Monday, May 18, 2020. This meeting is being held via teleconference.

You may alternatively join the meeting via toll free phone number: 1-866-899-4679
When prompted, enter the access code 306-654-405 followed by the pound or hash (#).
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE, 6:00 P.M.
1. Discuss outline for next steps for the Transportation and Parking Analysis.
REGULAR MEETING OF THE VILLAGE BOARD, 7:30 P.M. – Court Room

Public comments on items not on the agenda are permitted and welcome at the beginning of the Village
Board meeting under “Citizens to be Heard.” Public comments on agenda items may be invited after the
item has been opened to discussion. Individual speakers should raise their hand so they may be recognized
by the Village President and are asked to begin their comments by stating their name and address.
Discussion may follow comment on non-agenda items or discussion and action may come at future
meetings.
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.

6.
7.
8.

9.

Call to Order
Roll Call
Statement of Public Notice
Special Order of Business
a. 2019 audit report and CAFR presentation– Sikich.
b. Consider Ordinance #3011 - Amending Section 10, “Smoking Prohibited in Certain
Places,” OF Article II, “General Regulations,” of Chapter 319, “Health and Sanitation,” of
the Shorewood Municipal Code and associated communications plan.
c. Consider next steps for Milwaukee County Public Health Officers Local Health Plan
guidelines, gating criteria and phased re-opening plan.
Consent Agenda Items (Items under the consent agenda may be acted upon by one motion. If in
the judgment of any Village Board Member, a consent agenda item needs discussion, the item can
be placed in the items removed from the consent agenda.)
a. Presentation of Accounts – May 18, 2020
b. Consider Village Board Minutes May 4, 2020
c. Consider human resource manual amendment for health insurance opt-out payment.
d. Consider approval of new online payment provider.
Items Removed from the Consent Agenda.
Public Hearing(s) – none.
Citizens to be heard – This item is for matters not on the agenda. Discussion may follow comment
on non-agenda items or discussion and action may come at future meetings.
New Business
a. Consider Resolution #2020-16 – Requesting Estabrook Parkway to be added to the

Milwaukee County Parks Active Streets Program.
b. Discuss and possible consider adding Menlo Boulevard to the Active Streets Program.
c. Review of biennial sidewalk program.
d. Consider plan to re-open Saturday compactor at DPW yard.
e. Consider waiver of lease payment for Hubbard Park Lodge.
f. Consider agenda management vendor selection.
10. Reports of Village Officials
a. Village President
i. Proclamation recognizing National Public Works Week
c. Village Trustees
c. Village Manager
11. Items for Future Consideration
12. Adjournment
DATED at Shorewood, Wisconsin this 14th day of May, 2020; amended 5/15/20.
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
Sara Bruckman, CMC/WCMC
Village Clerk

Should you have any questions or comments regarding any items on this agenda,
contact the Manager's Office at 847-2702.

It is possible that members of and possibly a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the
municipality may be in attendance at the above stated meeting to gather information; no action will be
taken by any governmental body at the above stated meeting other than the governmental body
specifically referred to above in this notice.
Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals.

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE
Agenda Item: Discuss outline for next steps for the Transportation and Parking Analysis.
Date: May 13, 2020
Presenter: Bart Griepentrog, AICP
Department: Planning & Development
Action Required / Recommended – Please include the recommended motion or possible actions for

this agenda item.

This item is for discussion and guidance. Staff is seeking direction on the desired next steps related to
High Priority items and any other recommended actions within the Transportation and Parking Analysis
desired by the Village Board, understanding that staff will bring back the selected items with more
analysis and options for implementation.

History – Please include a timeline of historical relevant events related to this agenda item. This may
include previous Village Board action, policies, planning documents, etc. If able, hyperlink to previous
agenda packets (include page number) to reference information. If there is no relevant history, N/A
should be entered in this space.
A village-wide transportation and parking analysis was identified within the Village Board’s 2018
prioritization exercises as a top initiative for 2019. A total budget amount of $90,000 was anticipated
for the project. The Village Board allocated $50,000 from its Capital Projects Fund to the effort, the CDA
allocated $30,000 and the remainder would be covered by the Parking Utility.
A Request for Proposal (RFP) was developed and discussed at the December 3, 2018 Committee of the
Whole. That RFP was subsequently approved at the December 17th Village Board meeting. (12/17/18
minutes) Selection of Walker/Eriksson in an amount not to exceed $89,490 was approved by the Village
Board at the March 4, 2019 meeting.
A Technical Advisory Committee, led by the Chair of the Public Works Committee and comprised of
members from the CDA, ESAB, School District, Ped/Bike Safety, Plan Commission, BID and a multi-family
property owner was created to oversee implementation of the analysis. That analysis has included
current and best practice policy review; field observations; town hall meetings on June 26, 2019, July 30,
2019, August 29, 2019; and December 4, 2019; eight focus groups; a Trustee survey; and, staff input.
More complete project details and summaries may be found on the project’s website:
www.villageofshorewood.org/tap
A draft of the analysis was shared during the Town Hall presentations on December 4, 2019 at 1:00 pm
and 6:00 pm. Stakeholders were provided until December 18 to submit comments/questions pertaining
to the draft. A revised Final Draft was shared with the Village on January 10th. That draft was formally
presented and discussed at the January 30, 2020 Committee of the Whole meeting where Trustees also
asked questions pertaining to the draft. The Board delayed “receipt” of the plan at their February 3
meeting, but was presented potential implementation charts for discussion. As a result of that
conversation, the Board requested to convene a Committee of the Whole specific to implementation.

The Village Board formally “received” that final Analysis at their February 17, 2020. The Key Goals of
the recommendations within the Analysis were to:
Improve Communication – simplify and clearly present current policies and practices
Improve Accessibility – Increase access to public parking and transportation options within the village
Improve Standardization – Revise processes for efficient implementation by staff, and simplification
of use by residents and visitors
Improve Enforcement – Revise policies and practices to increase compliance with public parking
regulations

Agenda Item Discussion – Please provide a summary of the agenda item along with bullet points
highlighting the main items and key issues to be discussed.

In order to help provide direction to staff for work plan incorporation and prepare future budget
requests, the Planning Director and Village Manager prepared implementation charts for both the
Transportation and Parking recommendations provided within the final Analysis. Those
recommendations were shared with the Village Board and other Department Heads for discussion in
February. The recommendations within the Analysis were coded with the following actions:
HP
QA
QA-A
QA-VB
CDA-B
VB-B
PI
M
NA
LP
P

High Priority
Quick Action (2020)
Quick Action (2020) – annual recurrence
Quick Action with Village Board approval required
CDA Budget consideration
Village Board Budget consideration
Post Implementation of HP policy actions
Monitor
No Action
Low Priority
Private

The primary purpose of this Committee of the Whole is to discuss the Board’s desire to
incorporate High Priority items into relevant department and committee work plans.
Essentially, should staff pursue these further, and if so, under what limitations or expectations,
if any, and with what level of priority or timeliness?
Based on discussion, the items will be further developed by staff within their work plans, in
conjunction with the Village Manager, and presented to the TAG for initial review and
discussion. Those discussions will include impacts to DPW and enforcement practices, needed
exceptions and financial impacts. Recommendations for options from the TAG would be
brought to the Village Board for consideration with further opportunity for public engagement
and communication.
The proposed recommendations associated with each HP topic are provided below, but any
specifics may be modified throughout the process. They are presented in an order that staff
believes provides a logical work flow, per both parking and transportation groupings.

Parking
Night Parking Permit

Replace the overnight parking restrictions
with a paid permit. This recommendation
would likely also incorporate Alternate Side
Parking.

Alternate Side Parking

Initiate on-street alternate side parking year
round on Village streets from 10pm – 6 am,
excluding Friday, Saturday and holidays.

Winter Parking

In conjunction with Alternate Side Parking,
remove December 1 – February 28 parking
restriction

Consistent Two-Hour Parking

Provide consistent 2-hour daytime on-street
parking from 8:00 am - 6:00 pm (code and
signage clean-up)

Consistent 15-Minute Parking

Provide consistent 15-minute daytime onstreet parking from 8:00 am - 6:00 pm (code
and signage clean-up)

Permit Management

Develop electronic record keeping with
automated permit management to replace
customized system.

Transportation
Document current transportation
improvement processes

Not completed within project scope

Complete Streets Policy

Develop and adopt formal policy/ordinance

Identify process to evaluate resident requests

Not completed within project scope

Secondarily, staff will work items marked QA (see Implementation Charts) into their respective
department or committee work plans as time permits. Should the Board wish to express
priority or disagreement with any of those items, this meeting would be the time to discuss
such perspectives. For example, the Village Manager’s Office would like to prioritize an update
to the Village’s ADA parking ordinance in the near future.
Lastly, items marked with “–B” considerations will be presented as requests during future
budget discussions.

Fiscal Note – Please include the budget impact for this agenda item.
The fiscal impact of each topic varies. Initial costs will primarily be related to staff time.
Signage related to updated parking regulations could involve significant costs. As a first step, an intern
has been suggested to document and map current signage within the Village’s GIS.

Community and Business Outreach – If applicable, did you notify the community groups and
businesses that are directly impacted by this agenda item. Please specify in attached
communication plan how community groups and businesses will be informed of action after
Village Board consideration.
__ __ Yes

__X __ No

Prior community engagement was implemented to draft the analysis, but implementation will be
directed by the Village Board.

Action Required / Recommended – Please include the recommended motion or possible actions for

this agenda item.

This item is for discussion and guidance. Staff is seeking direction on the desired next steps related to
High Priority items and any other recommended actions within the Transportation and Parking Analysis
desired by the Village Board, understanding that staff will bring back the selected items with more
analysis and options for implementation.

Attachments – Please list the following attachments and supporting documents for this agenda item.

Some attachments may be hyperlinked. Include Fiscal notes, if applicable, as the first attachment
following this memorandum. Attachments may include: agreements/contracts, presentation materials,
letters, service proposals, etc.
1. Transportation and Parking Analysis – Implementation Charts
2. Parking fiscal impact metrics – baseline data

Parking Recommendations Implementation
Classification

Report #

Topic

HP

ESP2, 6, 12

HP

ESP3, 8, 9, 16 Alternate Side Parking

HP

1, 2

Consistent Two‐Hour Parking

HP

4, 5

Consistent 15‐Minute Parking

HP

10, 17

Winter Parking

HP

p 55

Permit Management

QA

p 52

School District ‐ Intermediate

QA‐A

ESP1

Expand shared parking agreements

QA‐A

p 57‐62

Performance Measurement

QA‐VB

ESP5

ADA

QA‐VB

3

High School Permit Parking

QA‐VB

p 52

School District ‐ Lake Bluff

QA/PI

ESP4

Enforcement

QA/PI

11

Daytime Districts

PI
PI‐B

Night Parking Permit

7, 13

Phase out Special Permit Program

p4

Gateway signage

LP

p 56

Commercial Parking

LP
NA
NA

p 63
14
15

Transportation Demand Management
Off Street Parking Permits
Temporary Overnight Permits

Actions
Update Ordinance
Map Signage (GIS)
Communicate Change
Update Fee Schedule and Duncan
Update Signage
Update Ordinance
Map Signage (GIS)
Communicate Change
Update Signage
Update Ordinance
Map Signage (GIS)
Communicate Change
Update Signage
Update Ordinance
Map Signage
Communicate Change
Update Signage
Update Ordinance
Map Signage (GIS)
Communicate Change
Update Signage
Electronic records
Online payments
Update Ordinance ‐ VB
Update Signage
Add Crosswalk
Document current
Annual/periodic review
Create annual parking report for budget
Publish annual parking report
Review/update fees
Update Ordinance
Communicate Change
Implement based upon request
Confirm Need
Update Ordinance
Update Signage
Loading Zone Special Privilege Request
Update Signage
Pro‐active daytime enforcement ‐ QA
Consider adding one‐part time employee for peak times ‐ PI
Consider increasing Night Parking fine to $30 ‐ QA
Consider increasing School Zone fine to $125 ‐ QA
Consider creation of Shorewood Ambassadors ‐ PI
Consider implementation of courtesy citation ‐ PI
Update Ordinance (consolidate districts) ‐ QA
Create/Update policy and fee for guests? ‐ PI
Update Duncan ‐ PI
Communicate Change ‐ PI
Update Ordinance
Communicate Change
Update Signage
Update Ordinance ‐ off‐sreet requirements
Update Ordianance ‐ special exceptions
Adopt Ordinance
No Change ‐ review annually
No Change ‐ review annually

Responsible Staff
Planning Director and Customer Service
Planning Intern
Customer Service
Customer Service and PD
DPW
Planning Director and DPW
Planning Intern
Customer Service & PD
DPW
Planning Director
Planning Intern
Customer Service & PD
DPW
Planning Director
Planning Intern
Customer Service & PD
DPW
Planning Director and DPW
Planning Intern
Customer Service & PD
DPW
Customer Service
Customer Service and Finance
Planning Director
DPW
DPW
Customer Service
Customer Service
Planning Director, Customer Service, Finance and PD
Customer Service, Finance and PD
Customer Service, Finance and PD
Planning Director and DPW
Customer Service
DPW
Planning Director
Planning Director
DPW
Planning Director
DPW
PD
PD
PD
PD
PD
PD
Planning Director and Customer Service
Customer Service
Customer Service and PD
Customer Service
Planning Director
Customer Service
DPW
Planning Director
Planning Director
Planning Director
Customer Service
Customer Service

Cost Estimate
HP
QA
QA‐A
QA‐VB
PI
NA
LP

Classification Key
High Priority
Quick Action (2020)
Qucik Action (2020) ‐ annual recurrance
Quick Action (2020) ‐ Village Board approval required
Post Implementation of HP policy actions
No Action
Low Priority

Transportation Recommendations Implementation
Classification

Report #

HP
HP

p 101

HP

Topic
Actions
Document current transportation improvement
Identify opportunity for process improvements
processes
Complete Streets Policy
Adopt policy

Planning Director

Identify process to evaluate resident requests

Planning Director

7

Capitol and Estabrook

QA
QA‐A
QA‐A

p 87‐88
15
16

Location of transit stops

QA‐A

17

Adult bicyclists on sidewalk

QA‐VB

ESP3, 4

Rolling stops / excessive signage

QA‐VB

2

Morris and Capitol intersection

QA‐VB

3

Shorewood Intermediate School

QA‐VB

10

Loading Zones

QA‐VB

21

CDA‐B

ESP1, 12

Metro Market Pedestrian Safety

VB‐B

9

Oakland and Edgewood

VB‐B

ESP2, 14

Capitol Drive crosswalks to High School

VB‐B

ESP4, 5

Oakland and Kensington

VB‐B

ESP5, 18

Bike lanes

VB‐B

1

Menlo‐Morris

VB‐B
VB‐B

13
13

Jarvis and Lake
Menlo and Lake

VB‐B

19

Bike boulevards

VB‐B

20

Bublr Bikes

M
M
M
NA
NA

22
23
24
6
8

Electronic surveillance
Autonomous vehicles
Autonomous deliveries
Oakland and Glendale
Ridgefield cut‐through

P

11

Metro Market

QA

Inconsistent crosswalk designs
Walkable community

E‐scooters

Adopt policy
Do not install traffic signal
Consider landscape improvements
Utilize MCTS scoring sheet and request relocations
Standardize crosswalks
Promote walkability
Outreach and education
Install signage
Enforcement
Remove 7 stop signs at intersections
Update ordinance
Remove Signage
Enforcement
Restrict parking on north side of Capitol west of Morris
Consider cross access within Culver's and Corner Bakery sites
Relocate bus loading zone
Limit zones to 1 per block
Permit parking in loading zones at other times
Ban e‐scooters from sidewalks
Monitor Milwaukee's program
Remove northern crosswalk at Jarvis and provide barriers
Install RRFB at Wood crosswalks
Install bike/ped warning signs
Eliminate west crosswalks at Larkin and Newhall
Install additional signage
Possibly relocate RRFB at Newhall
Install traffic signal
Green bike lanes on Capitol
Separated bike lanes on Capitol
Additional no right turn on red signage (QA)
Modify Hubbard Park intersection
Install bumpouts
Install speed table or hump
Install RRFB and bump outs
Install RRFB and bump outs
Create long‐term plan for Murray
Create long‐term plan for Kensington
Add station at Atwater
Consider locations at parks and schools
Monitor Milwaukee's legislation efforts
Follow State regulations
Consider future restrictions on sidewalks
No action
No action
Improve lighting in garage
Modify planters in right‐of‐way

Responsible Staff
DPW and Planning Director

DPW
Planning Director
DPW
Bike/Ped Committee
Bike/Ped Committee
DPW
Police
Planning Director and DPW
DPW
Police
Planning Director and DPW
Planning Director
Planning Director and DPW
Planning Director
VM and Planning Director
VM and Planning Director
DPW
DPW
DPW
DPW
DPW
DPW
DPW
DPW
DPW
DPW
DPW
DPW
DPW
DPW
DPW
Bike/Ped Committee
Bike/Ped Committee
Planning Director
Planning Director
Police
Police
Police

Metro Market
Metro Market

Classification Key

Cost Estimate
HP
QA

$500 each

$300 each

$100/sign

$500/zone

$100,000
$5,000
$10,000 ‐ $50,000
$250,000
$300,000+

$130,000
$20,000 ‐ $40,000
$20,000 ‐ $40,000
$150,000
$150,000

QA‐A
QA‐VB
CDA‐B
VB‐B
M
NA
P

High Priority
Quick Action (2020)
Qucik Action (2020) ‐ annual recurrance
Quick Action (2020) ‐ Village Board approval required
CDA‐Budget consideration
VB‐Budget consideration (2021)
Monitor
No Action
Private

Parking fiscal impact metrics

Clerk / Customer Service
On‐Street Parking permits
Village Hall staff *
Duncan Costs **
net impact

permits
per month
180
‐
‐

permits
per year
2,160
‐
‐

permit
revenues
47.35
(0.00)
(0.00)

total
revenue
102,276
0.00
0.00
102,276

102,276

* Customer service staff time is not allocated for on‐street parking related items
** Duncan costs are nominal for current on‐street parking permit processing

Parking Utility
Village Lot permits
Contracted Lot permits
Contracted Lot payments
Duncan Costs (online)
Village Hall staff *
DPW / Admin charges **
Police CSO staff
PILOT fees
Other parking utility costs
net impact

200
125
125
100
11,000
16,000
50,000
40,000
20,000

2,400
1,500
1,500
1,200
5
1
0.5
1.0
1

47.35
47.35
(12.00)
(2.95)
(11,000)
(16,000)
(50,000)
(40,000)
(20,000)

113,640
71,025
(18,000)
(3,540)
(55,000)
(16,000)
(25,000)
(40,000)
(20,000)
7,125

7,125

* Support staff time is allocated to the utility for parking lot permit related items
** Plowing and maintenance charges allocated to Parking utility

Police
Parking citations
Duncan ‐ citations fees
Police CSO staff
Free parking permits
Free parking fees (Duncan)
Late notice costs
net impact

1,125
1,125
50,000
3,425
3,425
665

13,500
13,500
1.5
41,100
41,100
7,980

30.00
(4.99)
(50,000)
0.00
(1.00)
(0.67)

405,000
(67,365)
(75,000)
0.00
(41,100)
(5,347)
216,188

216,188
325,589

Parking fiscal impact metrics
2019
Parking citations issued
(20 restricted nights / month)

Jan.
Feb.
March
April
May
June
July
Aug.
Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
Dec.
Average

2019
Parking citations late notices
Jan.
Feb.
March
April
May
June
July
Aug.
Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
Dec.
Average

per
Month
882
908
1,426
1,205
1,128
1,376
1,199
1,334
1,078
1,169
687
1,090
13,482
1,124

per
Month
712
342
703
842
640
521
974
707
554
930
406
674
8,005
667

per
Night
44
45
71
60
56
69
60
67
54
58
34
55
674
56

Parking fiscal impact metrics
2019
Free single night permits
(20 restricted nights / month)

Jan.
Feb.
March
April
May
June
July
Aug.
Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
Dec.
Average

2018
Single night permits @ $2.00
(20 restricted nights / month)

Jan.
Feb.
March
April
May
June
July
Aug.
Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
Dec.
Average

per
Month
2,779
2,698
3,427
3,388
3,742
4,049
4,161
4,205
3,686
3,533
2,773
2,637
41,078
3,423

per
Night
139
135
171
169
187
202
208
210
184
177
139
132
2,054
171

per
Month
2,995
2,281
2,499
2,564
2,644
2,583
2,951
2,831
2,391
2,042
1,721
1,303
28,803
2,400

per
Night
150
114
125
128
132
129
148
142
120
102
86
65
1,440
120
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INTRODUCTORY
SECTION

April 22, 2020
To the Village Board and the Citizens of the Village of Shorewood, Wisconsin:
The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Village of Shorewood as of and for the year,
ended December 31, 2019, is herein submitted.
Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all of the
information presented in this report based upon a comprehensive internal control framework that
has been established for this purpose. As the cost of internal control s should not outweigh their
benefits, the objective is to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial
statements are free of any material misstatements.
Sikich LLP has issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion on the Village of Sho rewood’s financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2019. The independent auditor’s report is located at
the front of the financial section of this report. Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A)
immediately follows the independent auditor’s report and provides a narrative introduction,
overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements. MD&A complements this letter of
transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it.
COMMUNITY PROFILE
The Village of Shorewood is located in Milwaukee County and is the first suburb north of the City
of Milwaukee on Lake Michigan. Shorewood, at just over 1.5 square miles, is bounded by the
Milwaukee River on the west and the Village of Whitefish Bay to the north.
Incorporated as the Village of East Milwaukee (with a population of 300) in August of 1900,
Shorewood is the fourth oldest suburb in the Milwaukee area. In 1917, the name of the Village was
changed to Shorewood to more accurately reflect the beautifully unique environment that
bordered Lake Michigan on the east, which attracted both business and professional people to the
Village of Shorewood; an exclusive community separated from the City of Milwaukee, but close to
its many convenient resources.
Shorewood operates under a manager form of government. Under this form of government, a six member Board of Trustees is elected at large and on a non -partisan basis. The Village President,
who is also elected at large and on a non-partisan basis, presides at Village Board meetings and
votes on all matters. The Village President has no veto power. Annual elections are held in April.
The terms of office are 3 years but are overlapping so that the Village is provided with a continuity
of knowledge in the Village business and legislative matters.
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The Board is responsible for enacting ordinances, resolutions, and regulations governing the
Village as well as the appointment of members of various statutory and advisory boards and
the Village Manager. The manager is the chief executive officer who is the head of the
administrative branch of the Village and is accountable to the Board for the proper
administration of all affairs of the Village.
The Village provides a range of services including police, library, refuse, recycling, snow and
leaf removal, on and off street parking, building inspections, licenses and permits, water and
sewer services. Health services are provided by the North Shore Health Department and fire
services are provided by the North Shore Fire Department.
The Village is required to adopt an annual budget during the preceding year. This budget
serves as the foundation of the Village’s financial planning and control. The budget is prepared
by fund and department. Department heads may use resources within a de partment. The
Village Board would need to approve any budget amendments.
LOCAL ECONOMY
Located along the shores of Lake Michigan just north of Milwaukee, the Village of Shorewood
is a demographically and economically vital and diverse community. The Village continues to
be a desirable place to reside due to excellent services, high quality s chools, parks, and
exclusive shops and businesses, which all contribute to the perceived “high quality of life.”
Shorewood’s employment base represents an excellent mix of service and retail
establishments. Moreover, its proximity to downtown Milwaukee (ju st 5 miles south) enables
residents to commute for employment.
The Village’s property base is roughly 80% residential and 20% commercial with no industrial
properties. Tax exempt properties are excluded from these totals. The Village is considered to
be mostly built out in that very few vacant properties still exist within our boundaries. The
Village’s single-family housing was constructed almost entirely in the period from 1915 to 1945,
and can be characterized as being in the middle to upper-middle price range in the Milwaukee
area market. The Village also has a substantial number of multifamily housing units, consisting
of rental and condominium units, which occupy the same middle to upper -middle market
niche.
In 2015 the village saw the completion of the Harbor Chase project, a new 4 story 60 unit
assisted living and 35 unit memory care facility located just south of Capitol Drive on the
Milwaukee River. In 2016, construction was completed on a new 80,000 square foot Roundy’s
Metro Market grocery store and an adjacent 350 stall parking garage, with a related six story
mixed use building which will include 80 apartment units and 15,000 square feet of retail space
completed in 2017. In 2018, construction was completed on the Shorewood Senior Living
project which includes 100 market rate apartments for active senior living with underground
parking.
The Village is also in close proximity to the University of Wisconsin Milwaukee’s campus (within
about 1 mile). Many residents within the Village are students, professors or administrative
personnel at the University.
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LONG RANGE PLANNING AND FINANCIAL POLICIES
In 2014 the Village undertook a visioning plan to update its 2006 and 2009 plans. The plan was
an effort to help define the ten year goals for the Village. This visioning project serves as the
umbrella plan for several other initiatives, including comprehensive business district planning,
positioning, branding initiatives, and long-range financial planning.
One of the major components of our planning initiatives is to assure infrastructure
maintenance is a priority. Annually, the Village Board reviews the long range Financial
Management Plan which looks forward 10 years. This plan focuses on significant capital needs,
on-going capital maintenance requirements, and projects future annual operating budgets,
potential property values, tax levy needs, debt service levels and future budget gaps. The
Village’s overall budget process begins with a look at this plan and how we stand in relation to
our financial targets.
The long range financial plan discusses the financial policy guidelines. One such guideline
relates to General Fund, fund balances. The plan targets General Fund, fund balance at 30% of
revenues and limits the reasons for using fund balance to capital, one -time, or investment in
the community uses.
Due to the Village’s strong history of financial planning and our healthy local economy, the
Village has been able to both achieve its infrastructure and other capital related objectives, and
has maintained a credit rating of Aa2 from Moody’s Investor Service.
AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) has
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Village of
Shorewood for its comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2018. This was the seventh consecutive year that the government has achieved
this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the government
had to publish an easily readable and efficiently organized CAFR that satisfied both generally
accepted accounting principles and other applicable program requirements.
We also believe that our current CAFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement for
Excellence in Financial Reporting Program’s requirements, and we will be submitting it to the
GFOA to seek another certificate for the Village’s 2019 report.
The Village also received the GFOA’s Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for its annual
budget document for the year beginning January 1, 2019. To qualify for the Distinguished
Budget Presentation Award, the Village’s budget document had to be judged proficient as a
policy document, a financial plan, an operations guide, and a communications device.
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The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the skill, effort, and
dedication of the entire staff of the Finance Department. We wish to thank all Village
departments for their assistance in providing the data necessary to prepare this report. Credit
also is due to the Village President, Village Manager and the Village Board for their unfailing
support for maintaining the highest standards of professionalism in the management of the
Village of Shorewood’s finances.
The Village would like to recognize the Sikich LLP, audit management team, for their
dedication and expertise, which contributed significantly to the report quality and adherence
to professional accounting standards.

Respectfully submitted,

Rebecca Ewald
Village Manager

Mark Emanuelson, CPFO
Finance Director
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FINANCIAL
SECTION

13400 Bishops Lane, Suite 300
Brookfield, WI 53005
262.754.9400

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Members of the Board of Trustees
Village of Shorewood
Shorewood, Wisconsin
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the businesstype activities, the discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the Village of Shorewood, Wisconsin (the Village), as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes to financial statements, which collectively
comprise the Village’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
Village’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Village’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinions.
Opinions
In our opinion, based on our audit, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the Village of Shorewood, Wisconsin, as of December 31, 2019, and the
respective changes in financial position and cash flows, where applicable, for the year then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Emphasis of Matter
The Village adopted the requirements of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No.
84, Fiduciary Activities, which establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities. Our opinion is
not modified with respect to this matter.
Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the required supplementary information listed in the
table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information,
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of the financial reporting for placing the
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries
of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the Village’s basic financial statements. The introductory section,
supplementary information, and statistical section listed in the table of contents are presented for
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.
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The supplementary information listed in the table of contents is the responsibility of management
and was derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and
other used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America by us. In our opinion, based on our audit and the procedures performed as
described above, the supplementary information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to
the basic financial statements as a whole.
The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on them.

Brookfield, Wisconsin
April 22, 2020
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(Unaudited)
The Village of Shorewood’s management offers this narrative overview and analysis of the
Village’s financial statements. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here
in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal,
which can be found preceding the independent auditor’s report.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
•

The overall assets of the Village of Shorewood exceeded its liabilities as of December 31,
2019, by $1,529,696 (net position). However, due to significant non-capital related debt,
the village’s unrestricted net position is ($17,933,286). This is due primarily to the
difference between current assets and the long-term non-capital debt outstanding. The
village currently has $20,217,304 in non-capital debt outstanding at year end. More than
90% of the village’s liabilities are related to long term debt.

•

The deferred outflows of the village are mostly related to the actuarial liabilities for the
village’s pension and OPEB post-retirement benefits. Similarly, these items are also
reflected in the deferred inflows section and are updated each year based on n ew
actuarial estimates. However the most significant component of deferred inflows is the
property taxes that the village has levied for the subsequent year budget.

•

As of December 31, 2019 the Village of Shorewood’s governmental funds reported
combined ending fund balances of $13,211,025 a decrease of $307,728, or 2.3 % from the
prior year. This decrease is due primarily to the Village spending about $1 million of
unspent bond proceeds from the 2018 bonding that were being held for 2019 projects,
offset by increases in TIF District reserves.. Approximately 43.4% of this total, or
$5,730,098, is available for spending at the government’s discretion (committed,
assigned, and unassigned fund balance).

•

The total General Fund unassigned balance at year end was $4, 905,219, or approximately
41.5% of 2019 general fund revenues. The first 30% of these reserves is, by village board
policy, used for operating cash flow needs and to provide the ability of the village to
respond to unforeseen contingencies and opportunities that may not have been know n at
the time of budget preparation. The remainder has been designated to be used to
manage the rate of growth of the property taxes that will be needed to meet debt service
needs over the next several years.

Net position, as referred to above, results when revenues exceed expenses. When expenses
exceed revenues, the result is a decrease in net position. You can think of this relationship
between revenues and expenses as the Village’s operating results. However, the Village’s goal is
to provide services that improve the quality of life for our residents, n ot to generate profits. For
this reason, you need to consider many other non-financial factors when assessing the overall
financial health of our Village.
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the Village of
Shorewood’s basic financial statements. The Village of Shorewood’s basic financial statements
are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial
statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other
supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broa d
overview of the Village of Shorewood’s finances in a manner similar to a private -sector business.
They are presented in two statements, the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities (pages 32-34).
Both of these financial statements distinguish functions of the Village of Shorewood that are
principally supported by taxes (governmental activities) from functions that are intended to
recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees (business -type activities). The
governmental activities of the Village include general government, public safety, public works,
health, culture and recreation, and conservation and development. The business -type activities
of the Village include the Water, Sewer, and Parking Utilities. The Community Development
Authority (CDA) is a component unit of the Village and is presented separately as discrete
column in the Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities.
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
The following table summarizes the Village’s Statements of Net Position from 2019 and 2018.
Governmental activities
2019
Current and other assets
Net Capital assets

Business-type activities

2018

2019

$ 31,028,141 $ 31,777,533
30,869,299
31,614,124

Total

2018

$ 1,909,470 $ 2,405,750
23,906,966
23,853,657

2019
$

2018

32,937,611 $ 34,183,283
54,776,265
55,467,781

Total assets

61,897,440

63,391,657

25,816,436

26,259,407

87,713,876

Deferred outflows

3,751,794

1,995,485

414,060

196,548

4,165,854

2,192,033

42,765,279
2,510,971

47,618,569
1,652,933

11,933,332
493,442

12,597,368
307,655

54,698,611
3,004,413

60,215,937
1,960,588

Total liabilities

45,276,250

49,271,502

12,426,774

12,905,023

57,703,024

62,176,525

Deferred inflows

18,843,288

18,011,865

222,680

218,074

19,065,968

18,229,939

12,333,819
7,129,163
(17,933,286)

12,448,913
6,733,914
(21,079,052)

12,990,982
590,060

12,615,165
89,244
628,449

22,983,830
7,129,163
(15,002,255)

22,511,854
6,823,158
(17,898,379)

Long-term debt
Other liabilities

Net investment capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted (deficit)
Net position

$

1,529,696 $ (1,896,225)

$ 13,581,042 $ 13,332,858

$

89,651,064

15,110,738 $ 11,436,633

Changes in capital assets and long term debt are described in more detail in those sections of
this report.
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Governmental Activities – Statement of Net Position
Current and other assets for governmental activities primarily represent cash, investments,
taxes receivable, prepaid items, internal balances and loans receivable. Total current and other
assets decreased by $749,392 or 2.4% in 2019. This decrease was largely due to the village
spending reserve debt proceeds from the 2018 bonding’s which were used to finance projects
that were completed in 2019.
Deferred outflows are related to the WRS net pension assets now reported under GASB 68, and
the loss on the advance refunding’s done in 2011 and 2013, which will continue to be amortized
through 2021.
Long Term Debt decreased by $4,853,290 in 2019. This is the net impact of calling $1,575,000 of
the TID related portion of the Village’s 2010B bonds plus the other scheduled 2019 debt service
principal payments.
Other liabilities include accounts payable, accrued payroll, and other accrued liabilities. These
increased $858,038 from the previous year. This is due to a $1.26 million increase in the village’s
net pension liability less a $400,000 decrease in capital related payables in 2019.
Deferred inflows primarily represent unearned revenue for taxes levied in December 2019. These
taxes represent revenue for the 2020 fiscal year and are not considered to be revenue in 2019.
The net investment in capital assets represents the Village’s equity in its capital assets which
was 40.0% of the historical cost of assets. This can be thought of as the Village’s ownership in
those capital assets. This percentage increased from 39.3% in 2018 due to the village’s debt
service payments on capital related debt in 2019.
A portion of the Village’s net position represents resources that are subject to external
restrictions on how they may be used. Restricted net position consists of amounts with grant or
donor restrictions. The remaining unrestricted net position may be used to meet ongoing
obligations to citizens and creditors. It is not unusual for municipal unrestricted net posi tion to
be negative as certain expenses included in the Statement of Activities are reported on a full
accrual model, such as unmatured long term debt, accrued interest payable, compensated
absences and the unfunded portion of other postemployment benefits . However, these expenses
are not currently due, and therefore, will be funded with future years’ revenues. This timing
difference between the recognition of liabilities (as incurred) and when liabilities will be paid
(which determines when the Village will levy taxes for these liabilities) creates the deficit
unrestricted net position.
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Business-Type Activities – Statement of Net Position
Business-type activities current and other assets consist mainly of cash, accounts receivable and
internal balances. These assets decreased by $496,280 in 2019 as positive operating results were
offset by the spend down of residual 2018 bond proceeds that were being held in the water
utility to fund 2019 capital projects.
Deferred outflows are related to WRS net pension assets now recorded under GASB 68.
Long term debt decreased by $664,036 in 2019 due to ongoing debt service principal payments.
Other liabilities are similar to those found within the governmental activities and include
accounts payable and accrued payroll liabilities. There was an $185,787 increase in accounts
payable and other liabilities in 2019.
The net investment in capital assets represents the Village’s equity in its capital assets which
was 54.3% of the historical cost of assets for the village’s business-type activities. This can be
thought of as the Village’s ownership in those capital assets. This percentage increased from
52.9% in 2018 as debt service principal payments reduced overall debt.

- 14 -

- 14 -

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the government’s net position
changed during the fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying
event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing o f related cash flows. Thus,
revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash
flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). The
table below summarizes the Statements of Activities for 2019 and 2018.
Governmental activities
2019

2018

Business-type activites
2019

2018

Total
2019

2018

Revenues
Program reveues
Charges for services
$ 1,816,934 $ 1,437,388 $ 4,269,757 $ 4,607,838 $ 6,086,691 $ 6,045,226
Operating grants & contributions
1,007,746
1,057,494
1,007,746
1,057,494
Capital grants & contributions
418,196
140,564
418,196
140,564
General revenues
Property taxes
16,014,057
15,501,813
16,014,057
15,501,813
Other revenues
1,516,908
1,436,082
46,059
31,630
1,562,967
1,467,712
Total revenues

20,773,841

19,573,341

4,315,816

4,639,468

25,089,657

24,212,809

$1,593,432
7,984,911
4,560,933
319,740
1,548,357
381,562
1,166,509
-

$1,520,645
7,541,180
4,555,461
306,536
1,427,787
632,755
1,276,625
-

150,287
1,579,499
2,130,322

189,629
1,572,119
1,876,381

$1,593,432
7,984,911
4,560,933
319,740
1,548,357
381,562
1,166,509
150,287
1,579,499
2,130,322

$1,520,645
7,541,180
4,555,461
306,536
1,427,787
632,755
1,276,625
189,629
1,572,119
1,876,381

17,555,444

17,260,989

3,860,108

3,638,129

21,415,552

20,899,118

3,218,397
207,524

2,312,352
199,635

1,001,339
(199,635)

3,674,105
-

3,313,691
-

Total Change in Net Position
Net position, Jan 1

3,425,921
(1,896,225)

2,511,987
(5,644,452)

248,184
13,332,858

801,704
12,409,396

3,674,105
11,436,633

3,313,691
6,764,944

Prior Period Adjustment - OPEB
Net Position OPEB Restated

(1,896,225)

1,236,240
(4,408,212)

13,332,858

121,758
12,531,154

11,436,633

1,357,998
8,122,942

Expenses
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and social services
Culture & recreation
Conservation & development
Interest on long-term debt
Parking
Water
Sewer
Total expenses
Change in Net Position
Before Transfers
Transfers

Net position, Dec 31

455,708
(207,524)

$ 1,529,696 $ (1,896,225) $ 13,581,042 $ 13,332,858 $ 15,110,738 $ 11,436,633

Overall, the Village’s governmental activities increased net position by $3 ,425,921 and business
type activities increased by $248,184 in 2019.
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Significant Changes in Governmental Activities
Governmental Activities – Revenues
Program revenues are those revenues that can be directly related to a particular activity,
whereas general revenues represent revenues that are not directly related to one specific
function. Charges for services are primarily made up of licenses, permits, fees for service and
fines. The Village’s main operating grants are State resources received for highway maintenance
and recycling programs. Capital grants fluctuate annually and are received to assist the Village
with capital asset purchases. The table below compares governmental activities’ revenues for
2019 and 2018 and significant changes are discussed below the table.
Governmental activities
Revenues
Program reveues
Charges for services
Operating grants
Capital grants
General revenues
Property taxes
Other revenues
Total revenues

2019
$

2018

1,816,934 $
1,007,746
418,196
16,014,057
1,516,908

1,437,388 $
1,057,494
140,564
15,501,813
1,436,082

$ 20,773,841 $

19,573,341 $

Chg
379,546
(49,748)
277,632

% chg
26.4%
-4.7%
197.5%

512,244
80,826

3.3%
5.6%

1,200,500

6.1%

Charges for services increased by $379,546 in 2019. The largest factors in this change were an
increase of over $70,000 in DPW charges for services, $85,000 in collections revenues for court
fines, $50,000 in building related permit revenues, and about $120,000 of on-street parking
revenues in the governmental funds beginning in 2019.
Operating grants decreased by $49,748 due to a cyclical decrease in State Transportation aids.
Capital grants and contributions fluctuate annual depending on the capital projects and are
typically non-recurring revenues. In 2019 the received two grants from Milwaukee Metropolitan
Sewer District for green infrastructure projects, and had a special assessment of just over
$200,000 for sidewalk replacement costs.
In 2019, property tax revenue, which includes TIF tax incremental revenues, increased by
$512,244. Of this amount $444,311 was due to increases in TIF revenues. Property taxes
accounted for 75% of the total governmental activities revenues in 2019.
Other revenues increased by $80,826 in 2019 due to normal fluctuations in these items.
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Governmental Activities – Expenses
Governmental activities expenses are broken down into various functions. General government
includes costs of general village administration. Costs associated with the Village’s police
department, planning and building inspection, and contributions for fir e and dispatch services
are shown within the public safety function. The public works function includes expenses for
street and sidewalk maintenance, winter operations, refuse, recycling and yard waste, as well as
building maintenance. Health and social services include expenses incurred for providing health
programs to the general public such as restaurant licensing, immunizations and health clinics as
well as senior programming. Culture and recreation expenses include the costs of park
maintenance, special events and library services. Conservation and development expenses
include forestry services and economic development activities within the Village’s tax
incremental financing districts.
The table below compares 2019 and 2018 expense by function. The reasons for fluctuations of
more than $100,000 and 5% of the previous year are described following the section.
Governmental activities
Expenses
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and social services
Culture & recreation
Conservation & development
Interest on long-term debt
Total Expenses

2019

2018

Chg

$

1,593,432 $
7,984,911
4,560,933
319,740
1,548,357
381,562
1,166,509

1,520,645 $
7,541,180
4,555,461
306,536
1,427,787
632,755
1,276,625

72,787
443,731
5,472
13,204
120,570
(251,193)
(110,116)

$

17,555,444 $

17,260,989 $

294,455

% chg
4.8%
5.9%
0.1%
4.3%
8.4%
-39.7%
-8.6%
1.7%

Public safety had an increase in costs related to the NSFD of $116,000 for facility renovations, as
well as significant year-to year increase in the non-cash reporting of OPEB and WRS pension
costs in 2019 compared to 2018.
Public works had a significant year-to year increase in the non-cash reporting of OPEB and WRS
pension costs in 2019 compared to 2018, but also had a $250,000 decrease in capital outlay costs
in 2019.
Culture & recreation had a significant year-to year increase in the non-cash reporting of OPEB
and WRS pension costs in 2019 compared to 2018.
Conservation and Development also had approximately $250,000 less expenditures than in 2018
as the activity in the TIF districts continues to diminish over time. The impact of swings in the
OPEB and WRS pension costs are not significant in this area as the majority of the costs are not
staff related.
Interest on expenses on long-term debt decreased as outstanding debt balances decreased by
just over $4.9 million in 2019.
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Business-Type Activities – Revenues
Unlike the governmental activities, the Village’s business-type activities are financed primarily
by user charges. The Village bills water and sewer fees to its customers on a quarterly basis. Any
utility bill not paid by the tax levy date is placed on the property owner’s tax bill. Parking Utility
revenues are derived from the sale of monthly parking passes. A summary of these charges are
shown below.
Business-type activites
Revenues
Program reveues
Parking
Water
Sewer

2019
$

Charges for services
Other revenues
Total revenues

$

2018

Chg

% Chg

190,426 $
2,063,299
2,016,032

331,698 $
2,070,716
2,205,424

(141,272)
(7,417)
(189,392)

4,269,757

4,607,838

(338,081)

46,059

31,630

14,429

-8.6%
-7.3%
45.6%

4,315,816 $

4,639,468 $

(323,652)

-7.0%

-42.6%
-0.4%

Parking revenues decreased due to transferring about $120,000 of fees for on-street parking
permits to the general fund in 2019. Water and Sewer utility revenues reflect a slight decrease in
consumption in 2019. In 2018 the Sewer Utility also received a one-time grant of just over
$150,000 which is not present in 2019.
Other revenues include investment income and other nominal miscellaneous revenues.
Business-Type Activities – Expenses
The table below compares the Village’s business-type activities’ expenses from 2019 to 2018.
Business-type activites
Expenses
Parking
Water
Sewer
Total expenses

2019

2018

Chg

$

150,287 $
1,579,499
2,130,322

189,629 $
1,572,119
1,876,381

(39,342)
7,380
253,941

$

3,860,108 $

3,638,129 $

221,979

% Chg
-20.7%
0.5%
13.5%
6.1%

Parking expenses were reduced largely due to a decrease in the allocation of police support costs
associated with the enforcement of on-street parking.
Water Utility expenses include all costs necessary to provide water to the homes and businesses
within the Village. Water is purchased from the City of Milwaukee’s Water Utility, Milwaukee
Water Works, so internal expenses relate chiefly to maintenance of infrastructure. Overall, the
Water Utility operating costs remained relatively unchanged in 2019.
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Sewer Utility expenses include all costs necessary to provide services to the homes and
businesses within the Village. Waste water is conveyed from the village to the Milwaukee
Metropolitan Sewer District (MMSD) for treatment, so internal expenses relate c hiefly to
maintenance of infrastructure. Overall, the Sewer Utility saw about a $250,000 increase in which
includes a $100,000 increase in treatment costs, of which $65,000 is an accounting accrual
adjustment, and about $125,000 in increased maintenance co sts.
Business-Type Activities – Operating Income
It may also be useful to compare the operating income and losses for each segment between the
two years. The graph below summarizes operating results as a percentage of expenses.

The Parking utility change is largely due to the transfer of on-street permit fees to the general fund in
2019. The Water utility is fairly consistent with the prior year. The Sewer utility had a $100,000 increase in
treatment costs, of which $65,000 is an accounting accrual adjustment, and about $125,000 in increased
maintenance costs. Also in 2018, the sewer utility had a one-time operating grant of $150,000 which may
distort this year-to-year comparison.
Please also consider that this income is used to make the principal payments on the Utility’s outstanding
debt as well as to support various equipment and other capital project costs. The total Utility principal
payments in 2019 were $661,070. Net equipment and capital costs were just over $250,000.
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FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have
been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The Village of Shorewood, like other state
and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the Village of Shorewood can be divided
into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.
Governmental Funds
Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on
near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable
resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a
government’s near-term financing requirements. The basic governmental fund financial
statements can be found on pages 35-40 of this report.
Because the focus of the governmental funds is narrower than that of the government -wide
financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds
with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government -wide financial
statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long -term impact of the
government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the
governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a
reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governme ntal
activities.
The Village of Shorewood maintains ten individual governmental funds. Information is presented
separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, Debt Service Fund,
General Capital Projects Fund, and the Tax Incremental Financing Districts 1, 3, 4 and 5 Funds, all
of which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other three governmental funds are
combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining stat ements elsewhere in this
report.
The focus of the Village of Shorewood’s governmental funds is to provide information on
near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in
assessing the Village of Shorewood’s financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund
balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at
the end of the fiscal year.
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GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS – FUND BALANCE
The Village of Shorewood’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of
$13,211,025 a decrease of $307,728, or 2.3 % from the prior year. This decrease is due primarily
to the Village spending about $1 million of unspent bond proceeds from the 2018 bonding that
were being held for 2019 projects, offset by increases in TIF District reserves. The TID District
fund balances should continue to increase as most program expenditures have already been
made and all planned projects have now been completed.
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the Village. At year end, total fund balance in the
General Fund was $6,346,862 of which $4,905,219 was unassigned. The General Fund
unassigned fund balance represents 41.5% of total General Fund revenues. This was an increase
of $379,327 from a total unassigned fund balance of $4,525,892 or 42.2% in 2018. Unassigned
fund balance can be thought of as the residual fund balance category within the General Fund.
The General Fund’s overall fund balance increased in 2019 by $328,660.
The General Capital Projects Fund had a decrease in fund balance of $1,174,191. This amount
reflects the spending of 2018 bond proceeds that were being held for 2019 projects.
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS
The Village of Shorewood adopts an annual budget for its General Fund. A budgetary
comparison schedule can be found on pages 86-87 of this report. There was one budget
amendment completed during the year related to the North Shore Fire Department.
Overall the General Fund excess of revenues over expenditures was $366,824 in 2019. Other
significant changes between budget and actual results are addressed below:
Revenues and Other Financing Sources
•

Licenses and Permit revenues were about 30,000 more than anticipated due to increased
permit fee for construction related activities.

•

Fine revenues were about $45,000 less than budgetary expectations. Parking fine collections
were $85,000 under budget which was partially offset by court fines which were about
$40,000 more than budgeted.

•

Charges for services were about $77,000 more than budget due mostly to increased costs and
the resulting chargebacks for services to other governments.

•

Investment income exceeded budget by $255,000 in 2019 due to rising interest rates available in
the LGIP as well as a positive year-end mark-to-market adjustment of over $50,000.

•

Other revenues exceeded budget by $98,000 due in large part to the receipt of over $50,000
of rental fees from the NSFD not anticipated in the 2019 budget .

•

Overall actual General Fund revenues in 2019 were $469,361 more than budgeted.
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Expenditures and Other Financing Uses
•

Overall, General Fund expenditures were at 99.2% of budget. This represents about a $91,000
favorable outcome. However, there were a number of unfavorable variations in some areas that,
while noteworthy, were offset by savings in other areas.

•

General Government: These departments were all very close to budget in almost all areas except for
minimal budget variances. The total favorable expenditure variance was just under $7,000 or about
99.5% of budget.

•

Public Safety: While the total employee costs within the Police department were more tha n
$160,000 under budget, however retiree health care costs were more than $20,000 over
budget and unemployment costs were $15,000 over budget. Also, the costs for contracted
inspectors in the Planning department were about $35,000 under budget due to a del ay in
getting these services contracted.

•

Public Works: Salary and benefit costs were about $50,000 or 3.7% over budget due to
various workforce deployment changes during the year. There were some offsetting net
expenditure savings in other areas to help offset the increased staff costs.

•

Conservation and Development: Salary costs in this area were about $40,000 over budget due to
increased labor costs in the Forestry division.

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
The Village uses one type of Proprietary fund, called Enterprise funds to report the same
functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statement. The
Village of Shorewood uses enterprise funds to account for its Water, Sewer and Parking Utilities.
The proprietary funds financial statements provide the same type of information as the
government-wide financial statements, only in more detail. These statements also provide
separate information for each utility. All three utilities are considered to be major funds. The
basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 41-44 of this report.
Utility Funds
The net position of the Parking, Water, and Sewer Utilities at the end of the year was $705,949,
$3,069,528 and $9,805,565 respectively. The total net position of the Water and Sewer Utilities
are much higher than the Parking Utility as those Utilities are capital intensive. This means more
of their net position is included in the category net investment in capital assets. Unrestricted net
position for the Parking, Water, and Sewer Utilities were $401,097, $26,479, and $162,484
respectively. Other factors concerning the finances of these funds have already been addressed
in the discussion of the Village’s business-type activities.
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FIDUCIARY FUNDS
Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the
government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement
because the resources of those funds are not available to support the Village of Shorewood’s
own programs. The Village maintains one fiduciary fund, the Tax Collection Fund which records
the tax roll and tax collection for other taxing jurisdictions within the Village of Shorewood.
The fiduciary fund financial statement can be found on page 45 of this report.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The
notes to financial statements can be found on pages 47-85 of this report. The information
provided below on capital assets and long-term debt can also be found within the footnotes to
the financial statements.
CAPITAL ASSETS
The Village’s capital asset activity for 2019 and 2018 is summarized below.
Governmental Activities
Description
Land and right of way
Artwork
Construction in progress (CIP)
Machinery and equipment
Intangibles
Building and improvements
Infrastructure
Total Capital Assets
Less accumulated depreciation
Capital assets, net of depreciation

2019
$

2018

Business-type Activities
2019

2018

4,491,320 $
330,000
193,823
4,919,415
69,793
14,109,771
32,469,431

4,491,320 $
233,345 $
233,345
330,000
164,515
270,261
235,951
4,587,801
1,019,537
984,347
87,810
14,109,771
31,906,302
28,357,430
27,861,238

56,583,553

55,677,519

29,880,573

29,314,881

(25,714,254)

(24,063,395)

(5,973,607)

(5,461,224)

$ 30,869,299 $

31,614,124 $ 23,906,966 $ 23,853,657

Significant projects in excess of $50,000 undertaken during the year include the following:
•

$290,683 on the Department of Public Works vehicles

•

$718,527 on alley reconstruction

•

$114,028 on parks improvements

Additional information on the Village’s capital assets can be found in Note III -D on pages 67-68.
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LONG-TERM DEBT
Wisconsin state statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a governmental entity may
issue to 5% of its total equalized valuation. The current debt limitation for the Village of
Shorewood is $87,761,120 which exceeds the Village’s current outstanding general obligation
debt of $48,864,443 by $38,896,677. This debt is entirely backed by the full faith and credit of
the government. At year end the outstanding debt equaled 55.7% of the Village’s state
authorized debt limit.
Total general obligation debt for governmental activities decreased by $4.9 million during the
year. The Village issued $116,641 in new debt in and made annual debt payments in accordance
with the debt repayment schedules totaling $5.0 million in 2019.
The total debt for business-type activities decreased by $581,123 during the year. This includes
no new debt, offset by $581,123 in annual debt principal payments made in accordance with the
debt repayment schedules in 2019.
The table below summarizes the ending balances for 201 9 and 2018.
Governmental Activities
2019
General obligation debt
Revenue Bonds
OPEB
Compensated absences
Retiree sick leave
Total

Business-type Activities

2018

2019

2018

$ 39,383,302 $
2,968,010
369,779
44,188

44,303,965 $
2,912,525
340,241
61,838

9,481,141 $ 10,062,264
2,095,000
2,190,000
329,818
323,652
20,392
21,452
6,981
-

$ 42,765,279 $

47,618,569 $ 11,933,332 $ 12,597,368

Additional information on the Village’s long term debt can be found in Notes III -F and G on
pages 72-76.
Other Information
The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with non -major governmental funds
are presented immediately following the notes to required supplementary information and can
be found beginning on page 89 of this report.
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Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates
General Economic Conditions
The Village of Shorewood is located just north of Milwaukee along the shores of Lake Michigan.
The village is predominantly a residential based community and has maintained strong property
values due to its proximity to both downtown Milwaukee, and the University of Wisconsin
Milwaukee campus which is located on the village’s southern border.
Unemployment rates for the Village of Shorewood specifically are not available but would be
included within Milwaukee County’s unemployment rates. The largest city within Milwaukee
County is the City of Milwaukee which had an unemployment rate higher than the County total.
Because the City’s rate is higher than the total County rate, it is estimated that the Village’s
unemployment rate would be lower than the County total. Historical unemployment information
can be summarized as follows:
Region
City of Milwaukee
Milwaukee County
State of Wisconsin
United States

2015
5.3%
5.1%
4.2%
4.9%

2016

2017

5.2%
4.4%
3.7%
4.7%

2.7%
3.1%
2.7%
4.1%

2018
3.7%
3.5%
2.6%
3.9%

2019
4.0%
3.6%
3.5%
3.5%

Due to the recent COVID 19 outbreak, the Village could see significant impacts in certain
revenue or expenditure line items in 2020 as the Village responds to these events. We currently
anticipate these effects to be relatively modest in the overall context of operations and will be
working to mitigate those effects to the extent possible while still providing safe and essential
services to the community.
2020 Budget
The 2020 budget includes the following major changes from 2019:
-

A property tax levy increase of 1.42% or $162,621 in 2019. The significant portions of this
change can be attributed to an increase of $135,133 for increased general fund operating
costs.

-

Recently, the Village started using general fund reserves to help limit the tax levy
increases for debt service needs to a 5% increase from the previous year. In 201 9, this
amount was $253,912. In 2020 this amount was $297,321 to maintain a 0.0% increase in
debt service tax levy.

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Village of Shorewood’s
finances for all those with an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of
the information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be
addressed to the Finance Director, 3930 N. Murray Avenue, Shorewood, WI 53211.
General information relating to the Village of Shorewood, Wisconsin, can be found at the
Village’s website, http://www.villageofshorewood.org.
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
As of December 31, 2019

Primary Government
Governmental
Activities
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Prepaid items
Restricted asset - cash and cash equivalents
Internal balances
Loans receivable
Capital Assets
Land
Artwork
Construction in progess
Other capital assets, net of depreciation
Total Assets

$

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related deferred outflows
OPEB related deferred outflows
Unamortized loss on refunding
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

3,390,338
8,528,397
8,954,950
12,254
6,147,024
615,875
3,379,303

BusinessType
Activities

Totals

$ 1,259,171 $ 4,649,509
8,528,397
734,799
9,689,749
39,229
39,229
12,254
492,146
6,639,170
(615,875)
3,379,303

CDA
Component
Unit
$ 1,002,463
8,296
99,482

4,491,320
330,000
193,823
25,854,156
61,897,440

233,345
270,261
23,403,360
25,816,436

4,724,665
330,000
464,084
49,257,516
87,713,876

1,110,241

3,417,128
309,429
25,237
3,751,794

379,680
34,380
414,060

3,796,808
343,809
25,237
4,165,854

-

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Liabilities payable from restricted assets
Accrued interest payable
Net Pension Liability
Noncurrent Liabilities
Due within one year
Due in more than one year
Total Liabilities

781,354
103,428
365,365
1,260,824

251,270
102,082
140,090

1,032,624
103,428
467,447
1,400,914

720
-

4,098,069
38,667,210
45,276,250

725,296
11,208,036
12,426,774

4,823,365
49,875,246
57,703,024

720

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Taxes levied for subsequent year's budget
Other deferred revenues
Pension related deferred inflows
OPEB related deferred inflows
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

16,332,509
506,668
1,735,808
268,303
18,843,288

192,868
29,812
222,680

16,332,509
506,668
1,928,676
298,115
19,065,968

-

12,333,819

12,990,982

22,983,830

-

420,496
6,704,275
4,392
-

590,060

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Pension Benefits
Capital Projects
Library Bequests
CDA Grant Activities
Unrestricted (deficit)
TOTAL NET POSITION

(17,933,286)

$

1,529,696

$ 13,581,042

420,496
6,704,275
4,392
(15,002,255)
$ 15,110,738

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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1,109,521
$ 1,109,521

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(continued)

Program Revenues

Functions/Programs
Primary Government
Governmental Activities
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and social services
Culture and recreation
Conservation and development
Interest and fiscal charges
Total Governmental Activities

Expenses

$

Business-Type Activities
Parking
Water
Sewer
Total Business-Type Activities
Total Primary Government
Component Unit
Community Development Authority
Total Component Units

Charges for
Services

1,593,432
7,984,911
4,560,933
319,740
1,548,357
381,562
1,166,509
17,555,444

$

150,287
1,579,499
2,130,322
3,860,108

633,845
720,346
315,013
71,362
76,368
1,816,934

Operating
Grants and
Contributions

Capital
Grants and
Contributions

$

$

190,426
2,063,299
2,016,032
4,269,757

103,818
829,427
74,501
1,007,746

-

418,196
418,196

-

$ 21,415,552

$

6,086,691

$

1,007,746

$

418,196

$

103,118

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

103,118

$

-

$

-

$

-
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(concluded)
Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position
Primary Government
Governmental Business-Type
Activities
Activities

$

(959,587) $
(7,160,747)
(2,998,297)
(248,378)
(1,397,488)
(381,562)
(1,166,509)
(14,312,568)

(14,312,568)

General Revenues
Taxes
Property taxes, levied for general purposes
Property taxes, levied for debt service
Property taxes, levied for component unit
Intergovernmental revenues
not restricted to specific programs
Investment income
Miscellaneous
Sale of assets
Transfers
Total General Revenues and Transfers
Change in Net Position

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR

$

40,139
483,800
(114,290)
409,649
409,649

Totals

$

(959,587) $
(7,160,747)
(2,998,297)
(248,378)
(1,397,488)
(381,562)
(1,166,509)
(14,312,568)

-

40,139
483,800
(114,290)
409,649

-

(13,902,919)

-

-

-

-

14,180,972
1,833,085
-

-

14,180,972
1,833,085
-

-

(103,118)
(103,118)

7,400
6,703

570,603
663,244
259,003
24,058
207,524
17,738,489

46,059
(207,524)
(161,465)

570,603
709,303
259,003
24,058
17,577,024

14,103

3,425,921

248,184

3,674,105

(89,015)

13,332,858

11,436,633

1,198,536

$ 13,581,042

$ 15,110,738

$ 1,109,521

(1,896,225)

NET POSITION - BEGINNING OF YEAR

-

CDA
Component
Unit

1,529,696

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
As of December 31, 2019

General
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Taxes and delinquent personal property
taxes receivable (net of uncollectibles allowance)
Other receivables
Due from other governments
Prepaid items
Restricted asset - cash and cash equivalents
Loans and long-term receivable
Advances to other funds
TOTAL ASSETS

$

1,653,684
8,528,397

General
Capital
Projects

Debt
Service
$

4,108,543
133,631
12,254
394,303
615,875

982,388
-

$

888,395
-

109,764
-

Capital
Projects
TID No. 1
$

296,523
732,220
359,011
-

Capital
Projects
TID No. 3
-

$

973,704
91
1,113,519
-

Capital
Projects
TID No. 4
-

$

388,031
223
596,988
-

Capital
Projects
TID No. 5
-

$

249,877
1,091
1,300,788
2,985,000
-

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds
-

$

658,536
2,476
2,772,326
-

644,502
-

Totals
$

495,831
25,778
4,392
-

3,390,338
8,528,397
8,059,440
895,510
12,254
6,147,024
3,379,303
615,875

$

15,446,687

$

1,870,783

$

1,497,518

$

2,087,314

$

985,242

$

4,536,756

$

3,433,338

$

1,170,503

$

31,028,141

$

287,819
357,208
645,027

$

-

$

82,038
82,038

$

49
49

$

22
97
119

$

49
103,428
103,477

$

48
48

$

20,753
33,271
54,024

$

390,632
390,722
103,428
884,782

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS
OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Liabilities payable from restricted assets
Total Liabilities
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Taxes levied for subsequent year's budget
Other unavailable revenues
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

8,404,391
50,407
8,454,798

1,833,085
1,833,085

387,800
546,718
934,518

2,009,109
63
2,009,172

800,650
155
800,805

515,588
759
516,347

1,358,803
1,723
1,360,526

1,023,083
1,023,083

16,332,509
599,825
16,932,334

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable - prepaids
Nonspendable - long-term receivables (net of current)
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned (deficit)
Total Fund Balances

12,254
853,163
576,226
4,905,219
6,346,862

-

359,011
121,951
480,962

78,093
78,093

184,318
184,318

3,916,932
3,916,932

2,072,764
2,072,764

4,392
89,004
93,396

12,254
853,163
6,615,510
126,702
698,177
4,905,219
13,211,025

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES

$

15,446,687

37,698
37,698

$

1,870,783

$

1,497,518

$

2,087,314

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
- 29 -

$

985,242

$

4,536,756

$

3,433,338

$

1,170,503

$

31,028,141

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET TO THE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Fund balances - total governmental funds

$ 13,211,025

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position
are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental funds are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds
Land
Artwork
Construction in progress
Machinery and equipment
Intangibles
Buildings and building improvements
Infrastructure
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total adjustment for capital assets
Deferred outflows are not current financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds
Pension
OPEB

4,491,320
330,000
193,823
4,919,415
69,793
14,109,771
32,469,431
(25,714,254)
30,869,299

3,417,128
309,429

Gains/losses on refundings are capitalized in the government-wide financial
statements

25,237

Some receivables that are not currently available are reported as deferred
inflows of resources in the fund financial statements but are recognized
as revenue when earned in the government-wide statements

93,157

Net pension Liabilities are not current financial resources and, therefore,
are not reported in the governmental funds

(1,260,824)

Deferred inflows are not current financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds
Pension
OPEB

(1,735,808)
(268,303)

Some liabilities, including long-term debt, are not due and payable in the
current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. The details
of this adjustment are as follows:
General obligation debt
(Discounts)/premiums
Other post employment benefits
Compensated absences
Retiree sick leave
Accrued interest on debt
Total adjustment for long-term obligations
NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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(38,721,709)
(661,593)
(2,968,010)
(369,779)
(44,188)
(365,365)
(43,130,644)
$ 1,529,696

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Debt
Service

General
REVENUES
Taxes
Intergovernmental
Licenses and permits
Fines
Charges for services
Investment income
Other revenues
Total Revenues

$

EXPENDITURES
Current
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and social services
Culture and recreation
Conservation and development
Capital Outlay
Debt Service
Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges
Bond issuance costs
Total Expenditures
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets
General obligation debt issued
Premium on bonds issued
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

$

$

1,833,085
1,833,085

$

368,820
308,942
203,213
880,975

Capital
Projects
TID No. 1
$

1,935,451
24,720
17,238
1,977,409

Capital
Projects
TID No. 3
$

762,216
1,319
6,852
50,000
820,387

Capital
Projects
TID No. 4
$

533,589
255
122,774
656,618

Capital
Projects
TID No. 5
$

1,297,059
2,459
53,605
1,353,123

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

Total
Governmental
Funds

$

$

1,014,575
74,501
160,555
72,705
1,322,336

16,014,054
1,793,333
490,860
592,697
801,628
649,864
331,714
20,674,150

1,261,912
7,246,308
2,383,712
132,416
206,610
232,435
-

-

2,079,224

8,584
-

117,523
-

2,220
-

2,220
-

88,857
177,903
1,049,054
-

1,350,769
7,246,308
2,383,712
310,319
1,255,664
362,982
2,079,224

11,463,393

4,973,137
1,251,345
6,224,482

2,079,224

8,584

117,523

2,220

2,220

1,315,814

4,973,137
1,251,345
21,213,460

366,824

(4,391,397)

(1,198,249)

1,968,825

702,864

654,398

1,350,903

6,522

215,748
(253,912)
(38,164)

4,341,795
4,341,795

(2,775,247)
(2,775,247)

(390,095)
(390,095)

(502,644)
(502,644)

(419,897)
(419,897)

(8,224)
(8,224)

24,058
4,557,543
(4,350,019)
231,582

151,754

931,006

(1,702)

(307,728)

3,765,178

1,141,758

6,018,202

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - BEGINNING OF YEAR

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR

8,269,259
1,381,137
490,860
592,697
437,860
449,395
209,009
11,830,217

328,660

Net Change in Fund Balance

General
Capital
Projects

6,346,862

$

24,058
24,058

(49,602)

(1,174,191)

(806,422)

312,769

87,300

1,655,153

884,515

(128,451)

37,698

$

480,962

$

78,093

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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$

184,318

$

3,916,932

$

2,072,764

(539,310)

95,098
$

93,396

13,518,753
$

13,211,025

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

$

(307,728)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in
the statement of net position the cost of these assets is capitalized and
they are depreciated over their estimated useful lives with depreciation
expense reported in the statement of activities
Capital outlay is reported as an expenditure in the fund financial
statements but is capitalized in the government-wide financial
statements

2,079,224

Some items reported as capital outlay were not capitalized
Miscellaneous non-capitalized capital outlay

(824,389)

Depreciation is reported in the government-wide statements

(1,999,660)

Net change in net pension assets are not current financial resources
and, therefore, are not reported in the government-wide financial
statements

(512,244)

Net change in OPEB liabilities are not current financial resources
and, therefore, are not reported in the government-wide financial
statements

41,126

Receivables not currently available are reported as deferred inflows in the
fund financial statements but are recognized as revenue when earned in
the government-wide statements
Current year receivables added to revenue
Less: receivebles recognized as revenue in previous years

93,157
(17,524)

The issuance of debt provides current financial resources to governmental
funds, but increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.
Repayments of debt is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the
reduces debt in the statement of net position
Contribution to North Shore Fire Department debt
Principal repaid
Amortization of the loss on advanced refunding

(116,641)
4,973,137
(12,618)

Governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts,
and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are
deferred and amortized in the statement of activities
Amortization of discounts/premiums

64,166

Some expenses in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the
governmental funds
Compensated absences
Net OPEB liability
Retiree insurance
Accrued interest on debt

(29,538)
(55,485)
17,650
33,288

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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$

3,425,921

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
STATEMENT OF FUND NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
As of December 31, 2019

Business-Type Activities
Enterprise Funds
Parking
Water
Sewer
Utility
Utility
Utility
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Restricted asset - cash and cash equivalents
Current portion of advance
Inventories
Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets
Capital Assets
Land
Construction in progress
Other capital assets, net of depreciation
Long-term portion of advances
Total Noncurrent Assets
Total Assets

$

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related deferred outlfows
OPEB related deferred outlfows
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued interest payable
Current portion of debt
Current portion of advances
Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
General obligation debt
Revenue Bonds
Advances from other funds
Net Pension Liability
Other postemployment benefits (OPEB)
Retiree sick leave
Compensated absences
Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related deferred Inflows
OPEB related deferred Inflows
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted (deficit)
TOTAL NET POSITION

$

469,967
637
21,007
491,611

$

271,345
347,905
492,146
39,229
1,150,625

$

517,859
386,257
904,116

Totals

$

1,259,171
734,799
492,146
21,007
39,229
2,546,352

233,345
71,508
114,436
419,289
910,900

34,310
6,175,746
6,210,056
7,360,681

235,951
17,156,106
17,392,057
18,296,173

233,345
270,261
23,403,360
114,436
24,021,402
26,567,754

-

189,840
17,190
207,030

189,840
17,190
207,030

379,680
34,380
414,060

910,900

7,567,711

18,503,203

26,981,814

32,962
1,449
20,752
55,163

95,015
36,811
238,098
115,000
484,924

123,293
63,822
466,446
63,022
716,583

251,270
102,082
725,296
178,022
1,256,670

147,762
2,026
149,788
204,951

3,438,301
230,000
70,045
149,909
6,981
6,683
3,901,919
4,386,843

5,204,782
2,095,000
343,296
70,045
149,909
6,683
7,869,715
8,586,298

8,790,845
2,095,000
573,296
140,090
299,818
6,981
15,392
11,921,422
13,178,092

-

96,434
14,906
111,340

96,434
14,906
111,340

192,868
29,812
222,680

304,852
401,097
705,949

3,043,049
26,479
$ 3,069,528

9,643,081
162,484
$ 9,805,565

12,990,982
590,060
$ 13,581,042

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
- 33 -

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND
NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Business-Type Activities
Enterprise Funds
Parking
Water
Sewer
Utility
Utility
Utility

Totals

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services
Miscellaneous revenues
Total Operating Revenues

$ 190,386
40
190,426

$ 2,032,361
30,938
2,063,299

$ 1,994,000
22,032
2,016,032

$ 4,216,747
53,010
4,269,757

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses

141,329
5,500
146,829

1,315,370
147,426
1,462,796

1,542,816
372,889
1,915,705

2,999,515
525,815
3,525,330

Operating Income (loss)

43,597

600,503

100,327

744,427

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income
Interest expense
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

16,532
(3,458)
13,074

21,351
(116,703)
(95,352)

8,176
(214,617)
(206,441)

46,059
(334,778)
(288,719)

Income (Loss) Before Transfers

56,671

505,151

(106,114)

455,708

(40,202)

(162,185)

16,469

342,966

689,480

2,726,562

9,916,816

13,332,858

$ 705,949

$ 3,069,528

$ 9,805,565

$ 13,581,042

TRANSFERS OUT
Change in Net Position
TOTAL NET POSITION - BEGINNING OF YEAR

TOTAL NET POSITION - END OF YEAR

(5,137)
(111,251)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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(207,524)
248,184

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(continued)
Business-Type Activities
Enterprise Funds
Parking
Water
Sewer
Utility
Utility
Utility
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Received from customers
Paid to suppliers for goods and services
Paid to employees for services
Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities

$

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Paid to village for tax equivalent
Payments received on advances
Payments made on advances
Interest received on advances
Interest paid on advances
Net Cash Flows From Noncapital
Financing Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Payments of long-term debt
Interest paid on long-term debt
Net Cash Flows From Capital
and Related Financing Activities
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS END OF YEAR

190,426 $ 2,085,667 $ 2,181,477 $ 4,457,570
(133,213) (1,020,430) (1,239,271) (2,392,914)
(36,673)
(252,161)
(222,757)
(511,591)
20,540
813,076
719,449
1,553,065

(40,202)
20,421
4,473
-

(162,185)
(115,000)
(14,950)

(5,137)
(61,264)
(13,419)

(207,524)
20,421
(176,264)
4,473
(28,369)

(15,308)

(292,135)

(79,820)

(387,263)

12,702

22,044

10,145

44,891

(20,000)
(3,877)

(450,214)
(216,279)
(109,091)

(128,910)
(424,791)
(213,249)

(579,124)
(661,070)
(326,217)

(23,877)

(775,584)

(766,950)

(1,566,411)

(5,943)

(232,599)

(117,176)

(355,718)

996,090

635,035

2,107,035

517,859

$ 1,751,317

475,910

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING OF YEAR

$

Totals

469,967

$

763,491

(This statement is continued on the following page.)
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$

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(concluded)
Business-Type Activities
Enterprise Funds
Parking
Utility
Ending Total Cash and Cash Equivalents are comprised of:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted - cash and cash equivalents
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash provided from operating activities
Noncash items included in income
Depreciation
Depreciation charged to other accounts
Accrued other post employment benefits
Accrued sick leave
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepayments
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
OPEB related deferred inflows/outflows
Pension Related deferred inflows / outflows
Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities

$

Water
Utility

$

$

469,967
469,967

$

43,597

$

$

271,345
492,146
763,491

$

600,503

5,500
-

20,540

$

$ 1,259,171
492,146
$ 1,751,317

$

100,327

$

22,373
(5,492)
1,719
(2,285)
25,606
$

813,076

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Totals

517,859
517,859

147,426
13,161
3,083
6,982

(28,557)
$

Sewer
Utility

$

744,427

372,889
(13,161)
3,082
-

525,815
6,165
6,982

165,442
76,239
(2,285)
16,916

187,815
(5,492)
49,401
(4,570)
42,522

719,449

$ 1,553,065

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION FIDUCIARY FUND
As of December 31, 2019

Tax
Collection
Custodial
Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Property taxes receivable
Other receivable

$

17,814,576
16,896,129
92

TOTAL ASSETS

$

34,710,797

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Due to other taxing units

$

49,654
34,661,143

TOTAL LIABILITIES

$

34,710,797

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION FIDUCIARY FUND
As of December 31, 2019

Tax
Collection
Custodial
Fund
REVENUES
Tax collections
Other receivable

$

34,224,350
83,068
34,307,418

TOTAL REVENUES
EXPENSES
Tax distributions
Other expenses

34,224,350
83,068
34,307,418

TOTAL EXPENSES

Change in Net Position

-

TOTAL NET POSITION - BEGINNING OF YEAR

TOTAL NET POSITION - END OF YEAR

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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$

-
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES
The accounting policies of the Village of Shorewood, Wisconsin conform to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental units. The
accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles is the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).
A. R EPORTING E NTITY
The accompanying financial statements include all of the funds of the Village of Shorewood (the
Village) and its component units, entities for which the Village is considered to be financially
accountable. Blended component units are, in substance, part of the Village’s operations, even
though they are legally separate entities. Thus, blended component units are appropriately
presented as funds of the Village. The Village does not report any blended component units. Each
discretely presented component unit is reported in a separate column in the government -wide
financial statements to emphasize that is it legally separate from the primary government.
Discretely Presented Component Units
The Village of Shorewood Business Improvement District ("BID") was established in 1999 by the
Village. The BID is a legally separate organization whose board is appointed by the Village
president. The BID does not provide a financial benefit or burden to the Village as the Village
cannot access the BID’s resources, and is not obligated for any deficits or debt issued by the BID.
Wisconsin Statutes provide for circumstances whereby the Village can impose its will on the BID
as the Village board approves the BID’s annual budget and changes to the BID’s assessment
methods. Wisconsin Statutes were amended to allow the Village to exclude the BID from these
financial statements and are therefore not included in the government-wide financial statements.
Separately issued financial statements of the Village of Shorewood Business Improvement District
may be obtained from the BID's office.
The Shorewood Community Development Authority ("CDA") was established by the Village in
1993 as the Village’s housing and redevelopment authority. The board of the CDA is appointed by
the Village president. The CDA does not provide a financial benefit or burden to the Village as the
Village cannot access the CDA’s resources, and is not obligated for any deficits or debt issued by
the CDA. The Village is not able to impose its will on the CDA under the criteria included in GASB
standards. While the CDA may not meet the tests to be considered a comp onent unit of the
Village, management has determined that the exclusion of the CDA from the Village’s reporting
entity would be misleading. Therefore, the CDA is considered to be a component unit of the
Village and any financial activity or net position of the CDA would be discretely presented. The
CDA does not issue financial statements separate from the Village of Shorewood.
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES (continued)
B. B ASIS OF P RESENTATION
Government-Wide Financial Statements
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement
of activities) report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the Village and its
component units. All fiduciary activities are reported only in the fund financial statements.
Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and
other non-exchange transactions, are reported separately from business-type activities, which
rely to a significant extent on fees and charges to external customers for support. Likewise, the
primary government is reported separately from certain legally separate component units for
which the Village is financially accountable.
While separate government-wide and fund financial statements are presented, they are
interrelated. The governmental activities column incorporates data from governmental funds
while business-type activities incorporate data from the Village’s enterprise funds. Separate
financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds,
even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. As discussed
earlier, the Village’s component unit is shown as a separate column in the government-wide
financial statements.
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government -wide
financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the Village’s water and
sewer utility and various other functions of government. Elim ination of these charges would
distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned.
Fund Financial Statements
The fund financial statements provide information about the Village’s funds, including its
fiduciary funds. Separate statements for each fund category - governmental, proprietary, and
fiduciary - are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental
and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governme ntal and
enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds. Major individual governmental
and enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.
The Village reports the following major governmental funds:
General Fund - accounts for the Village's primary operating activities. It is used to account for
and report all financial resources not accounted for and reported in another fund.
Debt Service Fund - is used to account for and report resources that are restricted, committed ,
or assigned to expenditure for principal and interest.
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES (continued)
B. B ASIS OF P RESENTATION (continued)
Fund Financial Statements (continued)
Capital Projects Funds - are used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or
construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.
The Village reports the following major capital projects funds:
General Capital Projects Fund - is used to account for and report financial resources
restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures for Village-wide capital outlay.
Tax Incremental District (TID) No. 1 Fund - is used to account for and report financial
resources restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures outlined in the TID project
plan which are primarily capital related.
Tax Incremental District (TID) No. 3 Fund - is used to account for and report financial
resources restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures outlined in the TID project
plan which are primarily capital related.
Tax Incremental District (TID) No. 4 Fund - is used to account for and report financial
resources restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures outlined in the TID project
plan which are primarily capital related.
Tax Incremental District (TID) No. 5 Fund - is used to account for and report financial
resources restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures outlined in the TID project
plan which are primarily capital related.
The Village reports the following major enterprise funds:
Parking Utility - accounts for the operations of the parking system.
Water Utility - accounts for operations of the water system.
Sewer Utility - accounts for operations of the sewer system.
In addition, the Village uses fiduciary funds to account for fiduciary activities (e.g., assets held by
the Village in a trustee capacity or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, and/or other
governmental units). The Village reports its Tax Collection Fund as a Custodial Fund. This fund
accounts for property tax collections made on behalf of other organizations.
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES (continued)
B. B ASIS OF P RESENTATION (continued)
Fund Financial Statements (continued)
During the course of operations, transactions occur between individual funds that may result in
amounts owed between funds. Any residual balances outstanding at year end are reported as due
from/to other funds and advances to/from other funds. While these balances are reported in fund
financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the government -wide
financial statements. Balances between the funds included in governmental activities (i.e., the
governmental funds) are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as internal balances in
the governmental activities column. Similarly, balances between the funds included in business type activities (i.e., the enterprise funds) are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as
internal balances in the business-type activities column.
In the governmental fund financial statements, advances to other funds are offset equally by
nonspendable fund balance, within the General Fund, which indicates that they do not constitute
expendable available financial resources and, therefore, are not available for appropriation. When
the proceeds of a noncurrent receivable are restricted, committed, or assigned, as is typically the
case with receivable outside of the General Fund, the long-term portion is shown as restricted,
committed, or assigned, rather than as nonspendable.
Further, certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers of resources between funds. In
fund financial statements these amounts are reported at gross amounts as t ransfers in/out. While
reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the
government-wide financial statements. Transfers between the funds included in governmental
activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as transfers in the governmental
activities column. Similarly, balances between the funds included in business -type activities are
eliminated so that only the net amount is included as transfers in the business -type activities
column.
C. MEASUREMENT F OCUS AND B ASIS OF A CCOUNTING
The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement
focus and basis of accounting. Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being measured
such as current financial resources or economic resources. The basis of accounting indicates the
timing of transactions or events for recognition in the financial statements.
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and
expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are lev ied. Grants and similar
items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider
have been met.
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES (continued)
C. MEASUREMENT F OCUS AND B ASIS OF A CCOUNTING (continued)
The governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon
as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current
period. For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are collected
within 90 days of the end of the current fiscal period, except for reimbursement based grants and
similar items which are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by
the provider have been met. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as
under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to
compensated absences, and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.
General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Issuances
of long-term debt are reported as other financing sources.
Property taxes are considered to be revenue for the fiscal year they are intended to finance.
Interest on investments is recognized as revenue when earned and received within the period of
availability (within 90 days of year-end). Entitlements are recorded as revenues when all eligibility
requirements are met, including any time requirements, and the amount is received during the
period or within the availability period for this revenue source (within 90 days of year -end).
Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been
incurred and all other eligibility requirements have been met, and the amount is receive d during
the period or within the availability period for this revenue source (within 90 days of year -end). All
other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received.
The proprietary and fiduciary funds are reported using the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES (continued)
D. A SSETS , L IABILITIES , AND N ET POSITION OR E QUITY
1.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Village considers all highly liquid investments
with an initial maturity of three months or less when acquired to be cash and cash equivalents.
Investment of Village funds is restricted by Wisconsin state statutes. To protect itself against
credit risk exposure, the Village’s investment policy regarding investment instruments follows
Wisconsin statutes. Available investments are limited to:
a. Time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank, or trust company maturing in
three years or less.
b. Bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district,
Village, town, or school district of the state. Also, bonds issued by a local exposition
district, a local professional baseball park district, a local professional football stadium
district, a local cultural arts district, the University of Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics
Authority, or by the Wisconsin Aerospace Authority.
c. Bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the federal government.
d. The local government investment pool.
e. Any security maturing in seven years or less and having the highest or second highest
rating category of a nationally recognized rating agency.
f.

Securities of an open-end management investment company or investment trust,
subject to various conditions, and investment options.

g. Repurchase agreements with public depositories, with certain conditions.
Custodial Credit Risk
The Village’s investment policy requires all deposits above Federal Depository Insurance limits to
be collateralized by securities specifically pledged to the Village. The collateral shall be in U.S.
Treasuries, U.S. government agencies, U.S. government guaranteed securities, or general
obligations of states of municipalities and held by the Village’s agent in the Village’s name.
Collateral for time deposits or certificates of deposit shall be valued at market value at least
monthly and be at least 105% of the investment after the effect of FDIC and state guarantee fund
coverage.
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES (continued)
D. A SSETS , L IABILITIES , AND N ET POSITION OR E QUITY (continued)
1.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments (continued)

Interest Rate Risk
The Village’s investment policy restricts investments to those with a maturity date less than five
years. The investment of reserve funds will also be laddered so that the securities mature to meet
the cash requirements of the Village, thereby avoiding the need to sell securities on the open
market prior to maturity in order to meet cash flow needs.
Investments with a maturity of less than one year when purchased, non-negotiable certificates of
deposit and other nonparticipating investments are stated at cost or amortized cost. Investments
with a maturity greater than one year when purchased are stated at fair value. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. .
The Wisconsin Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) is part of the State Investment Fund
(SIF), and is managed by the State of Wisconsin Investment Board. The SIF is not registered with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, but operates under the statutory authority of Wisconsin
Chapter 25. The SIF reports the fair value of its underlying assets annually. Participants in the
LGIP have the right to withdraw their funds in total on one day's notice. At year end the fair value
of the Village's share of the LGIP's assets was substantially equal to the amount as reported in
these statements.
See Note-III-A for further information.
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES (continued)
D. A SSETS , L IABILITIES , AND N ET P OSITION OR E QUITY (continued)
2.

Receivables

Property taxes are levied in December on the assessed value as of the prior January 1. In addition
to property taxes for the Village, taxes are collected for and remitted to the state and county
governments as well as the local school district and technical college district. Taxes for all state
and local governmental units billed in the current year for the succeeding year are reflecte d as
receivables and due to other taxing units on the accompanying custodial fund statement of
fiduciary net position.
Property tax calendar - 2019 tax roll:
Lien date and levy date
Tax bills mailed
Payment in full, or
First installment due
Second installment due
Third installment due
Personal property taxes in full
Tax sale - 2019 delinquent real estate taxes

December 2019
December 2019
January 31, 2020
January 31, 2020
March 31, 2020
May 31, 2020
January 31, 2020
October 2022

Accounts receivable have been shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. Delinquent
real estate taxes as of July 31 are paid in full by the county, which assumes the collection thereof .
No provision for uncollectible accounts receivable has been made for the water, sewer, and
parking utilities because they have the right by law to place substantially all delinquent bills on
the tax roll.
3.

Inventories and Prepaid Items

Governmental fund inventory items are charged to expenditure accounts when purchased.
Year-end inventory was not significant. Proprietary fund inventories are generally used for
operations and maintenance work. They are not for resale. The proprietary fund inventories are
expensed as consumed, and are valued using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) method.
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are
recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.
4.

Capital Assets

Capital assets include property, plant, equipment, intangibles, and infrastructure assets (e.g.
roads, alleys, street lights, and similar items), and are reported in the applicable governmental or
business-type activities column in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are
defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 for
general capital assets, $20,000 for infrastructure assets, and an estimated useful life in excess of
two (2) years. All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual
amounts are unavailable. Donated capital assets are recorded at their acquisition value at the date
of donation.
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES (continued)
D. A SSETS , L IABILITIES , AND N ET P OSITION OR E QUITY (continued)
4.

Capital Assets (continued)

Additions to and replacements of capital assets of business-type activities are recorded at original
cost, which includes material, labor, overhead, and an allowance for the cost of funds used during
construction when significant. The cost of renewals and betterments relating to retirement units
is added to plant accounts. The cost of property replaced, retired, or otherwise disposed of, is
deducted from plant accounts and, generally, together with removal costs less salvage, is charged
to accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the statement
of activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the statement of net position.
Depreciation is provided over the assets' estimated useful lives using the straight -line method of
depreciation. The range of estimated useful lives by type of asset is as follows:

Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure
Intangibles
Machinery and equipment
Utility system

Years
10-50
20-50
5-10
5-20
14-100

In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are
accounted for as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. Capital
assets used in proprietary fund operations are accounted for the same way as in the
government-wide statements.
5.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section
for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows
of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so
will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The Village has
items that qualify for reporting in this category, the unamortized loss on refunding and the
amounts related to pensions. An unamortized loss on refunding results from the difference in the
carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This amount is amortized over the
shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt.
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s )
and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until then.
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES (continued)
D.

A SSETS , L IABILITIES , AND N ET P OSITION OR E QUITY (continued)
5.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources (continued)

The Village reports deferred inflows of resources for property taxes levied but supporting the
subsequent years’ budget. These deferred inflows are reports on both the governmental fund and
the government-wide financial statements. Additionally, the Village reports unavailable revenue,
within its governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds report unavailable revenues
for revenues which are earned and measurable but not available. The se amounts are recognized
as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. For purposes of
measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position
of the Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) and additions to/deductions from WRS’ fiduciary net
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by WRS. For this purpose,
benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.
6.

Compensated Absences

Under terms of employment, employees are granted sick pay benefits and vacations in varying
amounts. Only benefits considered to be vested are disclosed in these statements. Payments for
vacation and sick leave will be made at rates in effect when the bene fits are used. Accumulated
vacation and sick leave liabilities at year end are determined on the basis of current salary rates
and include salary related payments.
The Village allows employees to earn vacation time during the year which would be eligible for
payment upon separation from Village service. The liability for vacation time is reported as
incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for those
amounts is recorded in the governmental fund financial statements only if the liability has
matured as a result of employee resignations or retirements. The liability for compensated
absences includes salary-related benefit where applicable.
The Village also recognizes a liability for active employees’ sick leave e arned which may be paid
out in the future. This liability is reported as vested compensated absences in either the
governmental activities or the business-type activities, as appropriate.
7.

Retiree Sick Leave Bank

Employees earn sick leave at various rates. Employees hired before January 1, 2013 who retire
under Wisconsin Retirement System rules, can choose to have 50% of their accumulated sick leave
either paid out to them or held by the Village to pay for their portion of health insurance
premiums. The maximum amount of sick leave that can be accumulated varies depending on the
employee’s years of service. The Village funds these benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis and
funding generally comes from the Village’s General Fund. The remaining unused sick leave bank
for these retirees is reported as a government-wide liability.
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES (continued)
D. A SSETS , L IABILITIES , AND N ET P OSITION OR E QUITY (continued)
8. Other Postemployment Benefits
In addition to providing the pension benefits described, the Village provides postemployment
health care benefits (OPEB). The benefits, benefit levels, employee contributions and employer
contributions are governed by the Village and can be amended by the Village through its
personnel manual and union contracts.
The Village will pay a portion of health insurance premiums for employees retiring under certain
conditions until the employee reaches age 65. Some employees retiring over the age of 65 are
allowed to remain on the Village’s health insurance plan, with Medicare primary; however , the
retiree must pay the cost of the premium. Exact eligibility and benefit provisions are based on
contractual agreements with employee groups, local ordinances, or employe e benefit policies.
The Village funds these benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis and funding is expected to come
primarily from the Village’s General Fund and Water and Sewer Utilities. The Village has obtained
an actuarial evaluation to determine the cost of these benefits. A liability is reported on the
government-wide financial statements as a governmental activities or the business-type activities
liability, as appropriate.
9. Long-Term Obligations/Conduit Debt
All long-term obligations to be repaid from governmental and business-type resources are
reported as liabilities in the government-wide statements. The long-term obligations consist
primarily of notes and bonds payable and accrued compensated absences.
Long-term obligations for governmental funds are not reported as liabilities in the fund financial
statements. The face value of debt (plus any premiums) is reported as other financing sources and
payments of principal and interest are reported as expenditures. The accounting in proprietary
funds is the same as it is in the government-wide statements.
For the government-wide statements and proprietary fund statements, bond premiums and
discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the issue using the straight -line method. The
balance at year end for premiums/discounts, as applicable, is shown as an increase or decrease in
the liability section of the statement of net position.
The Village may approve the issuance of industrial revenue bonds (IRB) for the benefit of private
business enterprises. In 2012, the Village’s component unit, CDA issued $2,800,000 of subordinate
redevelopment revenue bonds. IRB's are secured by mortgages or revenue agreements on the
associated projects, and do not constitute indebtedness of the Village. Accordingly, the bonds are
not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial statements.
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES (continued)
D. A SSETS , L IABILITIES , AND N ET P OSITION OR E QUITY (continued)
10.

Claims and Judgments

Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting
Standards Board pronouncements are met. Claims and judgments that would normally be
liquidated with expendable available financial resources are recorded during the year as
expenditures in the governmental funds. If they are not to be liquidated with expendable available
financial resources, no liability is recognized in the governmental fund statements. The related
expenditure is recognized when the liability is liquidated. Claims and judgments are recorded in
the government-wide statements and proprietary funds as expenses when the related liabilities
are incurred. Refer to Note-IV-F on commitments and contingencies.
11.

Equity Classifications
Government-Wide Statements

Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:
a. Net investment in capital assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital
assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances
(excluding unspent bond proceeds) of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of
those assets.
b. Restricted net position - Consists of net position with constraints placed on their use
either by (1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or
regulations of other governments or (2) law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation.
c. Unrestricted net position - All other net position that do not meet the definitions of
"restricted" or "net investment in capital assets."
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Village's policy to
use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.
Fund Statements
Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance. Fund balance is further classified as
nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned.
-

Nonspendable - includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in
spendable form or (b) legally of contractually required to be maintained intact.
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES (continued)
D. A SSETS , L IABILITIES , AND N ET P OSITION OR E QUITY (continued)
11.

Equity Classifications (continued)
Fund Statements (continued)

-

Restricted - fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of
resources are either (a) externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors , or laws or
regulations of other governments or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisi ons
or enabling legislation.

-

Committed - includes amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to
constraints imposed by formal action of the Village’s highest level of decision making
authority. This action must occur prior to year end. Those committed amounts cannot be
used for any other purpose unless the government removes or changes the specified use
by taking the same type of action it employed to previously com mit those amounts.
The Village’s highest level of decision making authority is the Village Board and
commitments made by the Village Board are done through the adoption of a resolution
passed by the majority of the seven member board.

-

Assigned- includes amounts that are constrained by the government’s intent to be used for
specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. Intent should be expressed by
(a) the governing board itself or (b) a body or official to which the governing body has
delegated the authority to assign amounts to be used for specific purposes. Further,
assigned fund balance includes all remaining amounts (excluding negative balances) that
are reported in governmental funds, other than the General Fund, that are not classified as
nonspendable, restricted, or committed.
The Village Board adopted Resolution No. 2011-43, To Establish a Fund Balance Policy,
which authorized the Village Manager to assign amounts to a specific purpose.

-

Unassigned - fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund and negative
fund balances within other governmental funds.

The Village’s fund balance policy also specifies that when multiple classifications of fund balance
are available, that fund balance shall be spent in the following order: restricted, committed,
assigned then unassigned.
The Village’s fund balance policy includes a minimum fund balance policy. This policy states that
the Village shall maintain its unassigned fund balance at a minimum of 30% of total General Fund
annual revenues. The purpose of the first 25% of this balance is to provide adequate cash flow
during the year. Any use of these funds would require a two thirds vote of the Village Board. The
additional 5% is to provide the ability of the Village to respond to unforeseeable contingencies
and opportunities that may not have been known at the time of budget preparation. Any use of
the 5% fund balance referred to above must be replenished during the next budget process. These
uses are subject to approval by the Village Board.
Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the government -wide statements.
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NOTE I – S UMMARY OF S IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES (continued)
D. A SSETS , L IABILITIES , AND N ET P OSITION OR E QUITY (continued)
12.

Program Revenues

Amounts reported as program revenues include (1) charges to customers or applicants who
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function
or segment and (2) grants and contributions (including special assessments) that are restricted to
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. All taxes,
including those dedicated for specific purposes, and other internally dedicated resources are
reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues.
13.

Proprietary Fund Revenues

The proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non -operating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's pr incipal ongoing operations. The
principal operating revenues of the water, sewer, and parking utilities are charges to customers
for sales and services. Special assessments are recorded as receivables and contribution revenue
when levied. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services,
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.
Current water rates were approved by the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin (PSCW) and
effective January 1, 2017. Current sewer rates were approved by the Village Board and effective
November 15, 2014. Current monthly parking rates were approved by the Village Board and
effective January 1, 2015.

NOTE II – S TEWARDSHIP , C OMPLIANCE , AND A CCOUNTABILITY
L IMITATIONS ON THE V ILLAGE ’ S T AX L EVY
The State of Wisconsin’s legislature has acted to limit the Village's future tax levies. Generally, the
Village’s non-debt tax levy is limited to its prior year tax levy dollar amount (excluding TID
Districts), plus the percentage change in the Village's equalized value due to new construction and
any decrease in our debt service payments for debt issued prior to July 2005. There is no cap on
taxes required to be levied for debt service.
Municipalities can carry forward up to ½ of one percent of their prior year unused capacity with a
majority vote of the Village Board or up to 1½ percent of their prior year unused capacity with a
super majority vote of the Village Board.
The State of Wisconsin’s legislature can amend these limits at any time. Current regulations
allowing for the conversion of pre-July 2005 debt service levy from debt to operating may not
continue to be in effect for future years. Other changes to the levy limit calculation could also
impact the Village in future years.
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NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS
A. CASH , CASH E QUIVALENTS , AND I NVESTMENTS
The Village maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all funds. Each fund
type’s portion of this pool is displayed on the statement of net position and balance sheet as cash
and cash equivalents and/or investments.
The Village's deposits and investments at year end were comprised of the following:
Statement
Balance
Petty cash
Demand deposits / Money Market funds

$

Carrying
Value

-

$

Associated
Risks

1,441

N/A

7,202,105

7,202,105

Custodial credit risk

22,902,171

22,902,171

Credit risk

324,815

324,815

Municipal bonds

5,368,958

5,368,958

Custodial credit, credit risk,
concentration of credit, and interest rate

Certificates of deposit

2,834,625

2,834,625

Custodial credit, and
concentration of credit risk

LGIP
US agency securities

Custodial credit and interest rate

$ 38,632,674 $ 38,634,115

Reconciliation to financial statements
Per statement of net position
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Cash held for component unit (CDA)
Per statement of net position - Fiduciary Fund
Cash and cash equivalents
Total cash and investments

$

4,649,509
8,528,397
6,639,170
1,002,463

17,814,576
$ 38,634,115

The Village categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuatio n inputs used to
measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant
unobservable inputs.
The Village has the following recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2019:
U.S agency securities of $324,815, and municipal bonds of $5.4 million are valued using a matrix
pricing model (Level 2 inputs).
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NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
A. CASH , CASH E QUIVALENTS , AND I NVESTMENTS (continued)
Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $250,000 for time
and savings accounts (including NOW accounts), and $250,000 for interest bearing demand
deposit accounts.
Bank accounts are also insured by the State Deposit Guarantee Fund in the amount of $400,000.
Due to the relatively small size of the Guarantee Fund in relationship to the total deposits covered
and other legal implications, recovery of material principal losses may not be significant to
individual municipalities. This coverage has not been considered in computing custodial credit
risk.
Custodial Credit Risk
Deposits
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the Village's
deposits may not be returned to the Village. The Village does not have any deposits exposed to
custodial credit risk as all are either insured or collateralized, held by the Village’s agent in the
name of the Village.
Investments
For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the
counterparty, the Village will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral
securities that are in the possession of an outside party. As of December 31, 2019, all of the
Village’s investments that were not covered by SIPC were exposed to custodial credit risk .
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations. The Village’s investments are restricted in accordance with Wisconsin Statutes
section 66.0603. As of December 31, 2019, the Village’s investments were rated as follows:
Moody's Investors
Services Rating
Aaa
Aa1
Aa2
Aa3
A1
A2

Municipal Bonds
$

1,048,134
1,949,155
733,673
599,093
1,038,903
-

$

5,368,958

Unrated
Total

The Village also held funds in the Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) which is not rated.
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NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
A. CASH , CASH E QUIVALENTS , AND I NVESTMENTS (continued)
Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the value of an
investment. As of December 31, 2019, the Village's investments were as follows:
Maturity (in years)
Investment Type
Municipal bonds
U.S. agencies
Total

Fair Value

< 1 year

1-2

2-3

3-4

4-5

$ 5,368,958 $1,362,388 $ 2,282,932 $ 511,903 $ 1,130,337 $
324,815
324,815
-

81,398
-

$ 5,693,773 $1,362,388 $ 2,282,932 $ 836,718 $ 1,130,337 $

81,398

Maturities represented above assume that all investments are held until the final maturity date,
with the exception of the US agency securities held in overnight repurchase agreements which are
sold daily.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Village’s
investment in a single issuer. As of December 31, 2019, the Village had no investments that
exposed it to concentration of credit risk.
See Note I-D-1. for the Village’s investment policy and further information on deposits and
investments.
B. R ECEIVABLES
Delinquent personal property taxes have been shown net of an allowance for uncollectible
accounts. All other receivables on the balance sheet are expected to be collected within one year.
Governmental funds report deferred inflows in connection with receivables for revenues that are
not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. Property taxes levied
for the subsequent year are not earned and cannot be used to liquidate liabilities of the current
period. Governmental funds also defer revenue recognition in connection with resources that have
been received, but not yet earned. At the end of the current fiscal year, the various components of
deferred inflows reported in the governmental funds were as follows:
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NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
B. R ECEIVABLES (continued)
Deferred Inflows

Unavailable

Property taxes levied for subsequent year's budget
Revenues earned but not available
Total Deferred Inflows
for Governmental Funds

Unearned

Total

$

- $ 16,332,509 $
599,825
-

16,332,509
599,825

$

599,825

16,932,334

$ 16,332,509

$

Loans Receivable
Loans outstanding at year-end are as follows:

Program
Neighborhood
Loan Program
Private Lead
Lateral Program
Other Loans
Lighthorse
Total

Amount
Approved

Beginning
Balance

Additions

Deletions

Ending
Balance

Current
Portion

535,000

337,024

20,000

45,429

311,595

5,950

100,000

-

106,720

24,012

82,708

21,344

3,535,000

3,085,000

-

100,000

2,985,000

100,000

$ 4,170,000 $ 3,422,024 $

126,720 $

169,441 $ 3,379,303 $ 127,294

Individual loan programs and terms are described below.
The Neighborhood Loan Program is designed to assist residents in purchasing or making certain
improvements to homes within the Village. All loans are noninterest bearing and are only due
upon refinancing or sale of the property. The maximum loan amount is $20,000. As of December
31, 2019, there were 20 loans outstanding at year-end.
The Private Lead Lateral Program is designed to assist residents in replacing the lead water
service laterals in conjunction with municipal utility projects. All loans are noninterest bearing,
and are repaid over a 5 year period through special assessments levied on the property . As of
December 31, 2019, there were 17 loans outstanding at year-end.
Other Loans Receivable is a loan to the developer totaling $3,535,000. This loan bears interest of
2.0%-3.5% which is due bi-annually. Interest payments began in 2012; annual principal payments
of between $100,000 and $125,000 are due beginning December 2015 through December 2027.
The remaining balance on the loan of $2,145,000 is due on December 1, 2028. This loan will be
repaid through revenues generated by the completed project and is additionally secured through
a second mortgage on the property. Funding for this loan was obtain ed through a debt issuance
completed in 2012.
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NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
C. R ESTRICTED A SSETS
As of December 31, 2019, the Village reported restricted cash and cash equivalents for the
following purposes and funds:
Restricted cash

Restricted

& equivalent

Fund Balance

Fund
General Capital Projects Fund
Upsent bond proceeds for capital purposes

359,011

359,011

Capital Projects - TID No.1
Restricted for special purposes

1,113,519

78,093

Capital Projects - TID No.3
Restricted for special purposes

596,988

184,318

Capital Projects - TID No.4
Restricted for special purposes

1,300,788

3,916,932

Capital Projects - TID No.5
Restricted for special purposes

2,772,236

2,772,236

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Restricted for special purposes

4,392

4,392

Total Governmental Activities
Water Utility
Upsent bond proceeds for capital purposes

$

6,146,934 $

7,314,982

$

492,146 $

-

Sewer Utility
Upsent bond proceeds for capital purposes
Total Business-Type Activities

$

492,146 $

-

Any liabilities payable from restricted assets represent payments which will be paid from the
restricted cash balances.
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NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
D. CAPITAL A SSETS
Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2019 was as follows:
Beginning
Balance

Governmental Activities
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated
Land
$ 4,491,320 $
Artwork
330,000
164,515
Construction in progress

Additions
70,491

Ending
Balance

Deletions
$

41,183

$ 4,491,320
330,000
193,823

Total Capital Assets Not
Being Depreciated

4,985,835

70,491

41,183

5,015,143

4,587,801
87,810
14,109,771
31,906,302

465,817
759,710

134,203
18,017
196,581

4,919,415
69,793
14,109,771
32,469,431

50,691,684

1,225,527

348,801

51,568,410

Total Capital Assets

55,677,519

1,296,018

389,984

56,583,553

Less: Accumulated Depreciation for
Machinery and equipment
Intangible assets software
Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure

2,494,180
87,810
4,181,873
17,299,532

375,412
385,153
1,239,095

134,203
18,017
196,581

2,735,389
69,793
4,567,026
18,342,046

Total Accumulated Depreciation

24,063,395

1,999,660

348,801

25,714,254

Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Machinery and equipment
Intangible assets software
Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure
Total Capital Assets
Being Depreciated

Net Depreciable Assets
Total Governmental Activities

26,628,289

25,854,156

$ 31,614,124

$ 30,869,299

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:
Governmental Activities
General government

$

Public safety

84,736
197,917

Health and social services
Public works, which includes the depreciation of infrastructure
Culture and recreation
Total Governmental Activities Depreciation Expense
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704
1,502,146
214,157
$ 1,999,660

NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
D. CAPITAL A SSETS (continued)

Business-Type Activities
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated
Land
Construction in progress

Beginning
Balance
$

Additions

Ending
Balance

Deletions

233,345 $
235,951

34,310

$

-

$

233,345
270,261

469,296

34,310

-

503,606

7,508,413
19,851,256
501,569
984,347

401,230
128,910
35,190

33,948
-

7,875,695
19,980,166
501,569
1,019,537

28,845,585

565,330

33,948

29,376,967

29,314,881

599,640

33,948

29,880,573

Less: Accumulated Depreciation for
Water utility system
Sewer collection system
Parking improvements
Machinery and equipment

1,625,215
2,615,631
424,562
795,816

153,244
325,382
5,500
41,689

13,432
-

1,765,027
2,941,013
430,062
837,505

Total Accumulated Depreciation

5,461,224

525,815

13,432

5,973,607

Total Capital Assets
Not Being Depreciated
Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Water utility system
Sewer collection system
Parking improvements
Machinery and equipment
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Total Capital Assets

Net Depreciable Assets

23,384,361

23,403,360

Total Business-Type Activities

$ 23,853,657

$ 23,906,966

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:
Business-Type Activities
Water

$

Sewer
Parking

147,426
372,889
5,500

Total Business-type Activities Depreciation Expense
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$

525,815

NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
E.

I NTERFUND R ECEIVABLES /P AYABLES , A DVANCES , AND T RANSFERS
Interfund Receivables/Payables

The principal purpose of these interfunds is to fund cash overdrafts. For the statement of net
position, interfund balances which are owed within the governmental activities or business -type
activities are netted and eliminated. There were no interfund receivables as of December 31, 2019.
Advances
The following is a schedule of interfund advances:

Receivable Fund

Payable Fund

General Fund
General Fund

Water Utility
Sewer Utility

Subtotal General Fund
Parking Utility

Amount
$

Non Current

345,000
270,875

$

615,875
135,443

Sewer Utility

Total - Fund Financial Statements

751,318

Less: Fund eliminations

(135,443)

Total Internal Balances - Statement of Net Position

230,000
228,860
458,860
114,366

$

573,226

615,875

Payment schedules have been established and interest is being charged on all of the advances.
Interfund advances are due as follows:
Governmental Activities Advances to
Water Utility
Years

Principal

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

115,000
115,000
115,000
-

Total

$ 345,000 $

Interest
11,213
7,475
3,738
-

Sewer Utility
Principal
42,015
43,221
44,461
45,737
47,050
48,391

22,426 $ 270,875 $

Business-Type Advances
Total

Interest
7,774
6,568
5,328
4,052
2,739
1,398

Principal
157,015
158,221
159,461
45,737
47,050
48,391

27,859 $ 615,875 $

Parking Utility to Sewer Utility
Interest

Principal

18,987
14,043
9,066
4,052
2,739
1,398
50,285

21,007
21,610
22,230
22,868
23,524
24,204
$

135,443 $

Interest
3,887
3,284
2,664
2,026
1,370
690
13,921

The purpose of these advances was to provide for sufficient operating cash flow. These advances
will be repaid through future user fees. All current advances will be repaid in full by 2025.
For the statement of net position, interfund advances which are owed within the governmental
activities or business-type activities are netted and eliminated.
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NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
E. I NTERFUND R ECEIVABLES /P AYABLES , A DVANCES , AND T RANSFERS (continued)
Transfers
The following is a schedule of interfund transfers:
Transferred To
General
General
General
General

Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund

Transferred From
Water Utility
Sewer Utility
Parking Utility
Library

$

Subtotal General Fund
Debt
Debt
Debt
Debt
Debt

Service Fund
Service Fund
Service Fund
Service Fund
Service Fund

Purpose

Amount
162,185
5,137
40,202
8,224

Payment in lieu of taxes
Payment in lieu of taxes
Payment in lieu of taxes
Administration allocation

215,748
General Fund
TID No. 1
TID No. 3
TID No. 4
TID No. 5

253,912
2,775,247
390,095
502,644
419,897

Subtotal Debt Service Fund

Debt
Debt
Debt
Debt

service
service
service
service

Debt service

4,341,795

Total - Fund Financial Statements
Less: Fund Eliminations

4,557,543
(4,350,019)

Total Transfer - Government-Wide
Statement of Activities

$

207,524

Generally, transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that collects them to the fund
that the budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the
funds collecting the receipts to the debt service fund, and (3) u se unrestricted revenues collected
in the General Fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with
budgetary authorizations.
For the statement of activities, interfund transfers within the governmental activities or
business-type activities are netted and eliminated.
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NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
Long-term obligations activity for the year ended December 31, 2019 was as follows:
Beginning
Balance

Additions

Deletions

Ending
Balance

Due Within
One Year

Governmental Activties
Bonds and Notes Payable
General obligation debt
(Discounts)/premiums

$ 43,578,206 $
725,759

116,641 $ 4,973,138 $ 38,721,709
64,166
661,593

$ 3,503,903
64,166

Total General Obligation Debt

44,303,965

116,641

5,037,304

39,383,302

3,568,069

Other Liabilities
Other postemployment benefits
Compensated absences
Retiree sick leave

2,912,525
340,241
61,838

55,485
242,532
-

212,994
17,650

2,968,010
369,779
44,188

270,000
250,000
10,000

3,314,604

298,017

230,644

3,381,977

530,000

414,658 $ 5,267,948 $ 42,765,279

$ 4,098,069

Total Other Liabilities
Total Governmental Activities
Business-Type Activities
Bonds and Notes Payable
General obligation debt
(Discounts)/premiums
Total General Obligation Debt
Total Revenue Bonds

$ 47,618,569 $

$

9,838,975 $
223,289

- $
-

566,070 $
15,053

9,272,905
208,236

$

575,246
15,050

10,062,264

-

581,123

9,481,141

590,296

2,190,000

-

95,000

2,095,000

100,000

323,652
21,452
-

6,166
4,880
7,938

5,940
957

329,818
20,392
6,981

30,000
5,000
-

345,104

18,984

6,897

357,191

35,000

Other Liabilities
Other postemployment benefits
Compensated absences
Retiree sick leave
Total Other Liabilities
Total Business-Type Activities

$ 12,597,368 $

18,984 $

683,020 $ 11,933,332

$

725,296

General Obligation Debt
All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the
Village. Notes and bonds in the governmental funds will be retired by future property tax levies or
tax increments accumulated by the Debt Service Fund. Business-type activities debt is payable by
revenues from user fees of those funds or, if the revenues are not sufficient, by future tax levies.
In accordance with Wisconsin Statutes, total general obligation indebtedness of the Village may
not exceed 5% of the equalized value of taxable property within the Village's jurisdiction. The
debt limit as of December 31, 2019, was $87,761,120. Total general obligation debt outstanding at
year-end was $47,994,614. This leaves a remaining legal debt margin of $39,766,506.
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NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (continued)
General Obligation Debt (continued)

General Obligation Debt
Governmental Activities
Taxable issues
Corp Purpose Bonds
Community Dev Bonds
Tax-exempt issues
Corp Purpose Bonds
Community Dev Bonds
Corp Purpose Bonds
Refunding Bonds
Corp Purpose Bonds
Community Dev Bonds
Corp Purpose Bonds
Promissory Notes
Corp Purpose Bonds
NSFD Note Payables
Whitefish Bay
Bayside
Whitefish Bay

Date of
Issue

Final
Maturity

Interest
Rates

Original
Indebtedness

5/11/2010
3/8/2012

5/1/2025
12/1/2031

1.00-5.20%
2.00-3.25%

4,576,554
6,165,000

852,095
5,085,000

8/8/2011
3/8/2012
8/7/2012
12/30/2013
10/23/2014
1/22/2015
8/10/2016
8/22/2017
8/23/2018

8/1/2026
12/1/2028
8/1/2032
12/30/2022
4/1/2034
5/1/2022
7/1/2036
9/1/2027
8/1/2038

.085-3.90%
2.00-3.50%
2.00-3.00%
2.00-3.00%
2.00-3.00%
2.10-3.00%
2.00-3.00%
2.25%
3.00-3.50%

6,390,000
1,990,000
4,065,000
5,290,000
4,070,000
8,050,000
8,640,000
985,000
5,275,000

2,605,000
1,565,000
2,570,000
2,205,000
3,285,000
6,760,000
7,525,000
788,000
5,075,000

9/1/2002
8/1/2003
5/1/2019

4/1/2022
8/1/2023
5/1/2029

2.00-3.00%
0.80-2.30%
1.80-3.50%

897,184
468,050
116,641

177,609
112,364
116,641

Total Governmental Activities General Obligation Debt
Business-type Activities
Taxable Corp Purp Bonds
Tax-exempt issues
State Trust Fund Loan
Corp Purpose Bonds
Corp Purpose Bonds
Corp Purpose Bonds
Corp Purpose Bonds
Corp Purpose Bonds

Balance
Outstanding

$ 38,721,709

5/11/2010

5/1/2025

1.00-5.20%

4/22/2004
8/8/2011
8/7/2012
10/23/2014
8/10/2016
8/23/2018

3/15/2019
8/1/2026
8/1/2032
4/1/2034
7/1/2036
8/1/2038

3.75%
.085-3.90%
2.00-3.00%
2.00-3.00%
2.00-3.00%
3.00-3.50%

Total Business-Type Activities General Obligation Debt

$

143,446 $
129,000
2,175,000
5,400,000
1,990,000
1,280,000
1,085,000

1,395,000
4,060,000
1,585,000
1,120,000
1,040,000
$

Total General Obligation Debt

72,905

9,272,905

$ 47,994,614

Business-type Activities
Revenue Bonds

8/10/2016

7/1/2036

Total Business-Type Activities Revenue Bonds
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2.00-3.00%

2,285,000 $

2,095,000

$

2,095,000

NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (continued)
General Obligation Debt (continued)
Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:
Governmental Activities
G.O. Bonds and Notes Payable
Year

Principal

Business-Type Activities
G.O. Bonds and Notes Payable

Interest

Principal

Interest

2020

3,504,200

1,132,347

575,246

253,520

2021

3,510,166

1,046,614

606,034

237,582

2022

3,526,132

941,242

646,822

220,636

2023

2,489,830

848,670

677,611

203,044

2024

2,342,117

779,390

708,399

184,680

2025 - 2029

12,434,104

2,835,054

3,323,793

639,571

2030 - 2034
2035 - 2039

8,440,080
2,475,080

1,184,087
172,831

2,310,000
425,000

237,304
30,488

8,940,235 $

9,272,905 $

Totals

$

38,721,709 $

2,006,825

Revenue Debt
Business-Type activities revenue bonds are payable only from revenues pledged when issuing
revenue bonds.
The sewer utility has pledged future sewer revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to repay
revenue bonds issued in 2016 for sewer infrastructure projects. The current remaining balances on
these bonds are approximately $2.6 million, with payments of principal and interest due t hrough
2036. These payments are generally expected to be about 20% of the sewer utility net cash flow
from operating activities. In 2019 these payments represented 21.4% of those amounts.
Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:
Business-Type Activities
Revenue Bonds Payable
Year

Principal

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025 - 2029
2030 - 2034
2035 - 2039
Totals

100,000
100,000
105,000
110,000
110,000
595,000
675,000
300,000
$

2,095,000 $
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Interest
56,163
56,163
50,088
46,863
43,563
174,531
94,975
9,000
531,346

NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (continued)
Other Debt Information
Estimated payments of compensated absences are not included in the debt service requirement
schedules. The compensated absences liability attributable to governmental activities will be
liquidated primarily by the General Fund.
There are a number of limitations and restrictions contained in the various bond indentures and
loan agreements. The Village believes it is in compliance with all significant l imitations and
restrictions, including federal arbitrage regulations.
G. LEASE DISCLOSURES
Lessor - Operating Leases
In 2010, the Village entered into a lease agreement with a local restaurant owner to lease out the
Hubbard Park Lodge. The property is included in the Village’s capital assets with a historical cost
of $80,800. The term of the lease continues until the end of 2029. The lease also requires the
lessee to make annual capital improvements of at least $10,000 to the property.
The future minimum rentals for this property are $40,000 per year with a 3% annual increase from
2020-2029. Actual rental payments will be either the annual minimum payment, or 4% of the prior
year’s gross revenues for the property, whichever is higher.
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NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
H. NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCES
Net Position
Net position reported on the government-wide statement of net position at December 31, 2019
includes the following:
Governmental
Activities

Net Investment in Capital Assets
Capital Assets
Capital assets not being depreciated
Capital assets being depreciated
Accumulated depreciation

$

Total Capital Assets
Capital Related Debt
General Obligation (G.O.) Debt
Revenue Bond Debt
Discounts (Premiums) on Capital related debt
Less Noncapital Related Debt Issuances

Business-Type
Activities

5,015,143 $
51,568,410
(25,714,254)
30,869,299

23,906,966

(38,721,709)

(9,272,905)
(2,095,000)
(205,222)

(415,323)
177,609
112,364
852,095
833,421
5,085,000
1,565,000
1,277,097
1,835,933
1,602,144
6,760,000
116,641

Whitefish Bay note
Bayside note
2010B Taxable G.O. Bonds
2011 G.O. Corp Purpose Bonds (portion)
2012 Community Development Bonds
2012 Taxable Community Development Bonds
2012 Corp Purpose Bonds (portion)
2013 Tax Exempt G.O. Refunding Bonds (portion)
2014 Corp Purpose Bonds (portion)
2015 Community Development Bonds
2019 Whitefish Bay Note
Total Capital Related Debt

(18,919,728)

Unspent Capital Related Bond Proceeds
Deferred loss on refunding
$

Net Investment in Capital Assets

503,606
29,376,967
(5,973,607)

165,000
(11,408,127)

359,011

492,146

25,237

-

12,333,819 $

12,990,985

A portion of governmental activities borrowings are considered to be noncapital for the
governmental activities column, but are considered to be capital related for the total column in
the statement of net position. The amount of this adjustment is $ 2,340,971 which represents
governmental activities borrowing for capital assets of the business -type activities. The total
column of the statement of net position for the net investment in capital assets has been adjusted
for this difference.
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NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
H. NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCES (continued)
Fund Balances
Fund balances reported on the governmental fund financial statements as of December 31, 2019
within the restricted, committed, and assigned classifications can be further detailed as follows:
Classification/Fund

Amount

Restricted
Capital Projects Fund

Purpose

359,011 Unspent Bond proceeds

TID No. 1 Fund

78,093 TID plan purposes

TID No. 3 Fund

184,318 TID plan purposes

TID No. 4 Fund
TID No. 5 Fund

3,916,932 TID plan purposes
2,072,764 TID plan purposes

Nonmajor Funds

4,392 Library grants

Total Restricted

$

Committed
Debt Service Fund

6,615,510
37,698 Debt service activities

Nonmajor Funds

31,481 Library activities

Nonmajor Funds
Nonmajor Funds

40,562 Senior Services activities
16,961 Shorewood Today magazine

Total Nonmajor Funds
Total Committed

89,004
$

126,702

Assigned
General Fund

223,405 Neighborhood loan program

General Fund

35,500 Future retirement costs

General Fund
General Fund

20,000 Marketing & Communications
297,321 Next year budget transfers

Total General Fund

576,226

Capital Projects Fund
Total Assigned

121,951 Future capital projects and equipment
$

698,177
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NOTE III – DETAILED N OTES ON A LL F UNDS (continued)
I.

SPECIAL ITEMS

Significant transactions that are within the control of management that are either unusual in
nature or infrequent in occurrence for the reporting entity are considered to be special items.
There were no special items to report in 2019.
J. COMPONENT UNIT
Community Development Authority
This report contains the Village of Shorewood Community Development Authority (CDA), which is
included as a component unit. Financial information is presented as a discrete column in the
statement of net position and statement of activities.
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NOTE IV – O THER INFORMATION
A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Pensions. For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense,
information about the fiduciary net position of the Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) a nd
additions to/deductions from WRS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis
as they are reported by WRS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordan ce with the benefit terms.
Investments are reported at fair value.
General Information about the Pension Plan
Plan description. The WRS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. WRS
benefits and other plan provisions are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes.
Benefit terms may only be modified by the legislature. The retirement system is administered by
the Wisconsin Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF). The system provides coverage to all
eligible State of Wisconsin, local government and other public employees. All employees, initially
employed by a participating WRS employer on or after July 1, 2011, and expected to work at least
1200 hours a year and expected to be employed for at least one year from employee’s date of hire
are eligible to participate in the WRS.
ETF issues a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR), which can be found at
http://etf.wi.gov/publications/cafr.htm
Vesting. For employees beginning participation on or after January 1, 1990, a nd no longer actively
employed on or after April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for
eligibility for a retirement annuity. Participants employed prior to 1990 and on or after April 24,
1998, and prior to July 1, 2011, are immediately vested. Participants who initially became WRS
eligible on or after July 1, 2011, must have five years of creditable service to be vested .
Benefits provided. Employees who retire at or after age 65 (54 for protective occupation
employees, 62 for elected officials and State executive participants) are entitled to receive an
unreduced retirement benefit. The factors influencing the benefit are: (1) final average earnings,
(2) years of creditable service, and (3) a formula factor.
Final average earnings is the average of the participant's three highest years' earnings . Creditable
service is the creditable current and prior service expressed in years or decimal equivalents of
partial years for which a participant receives earnings and makes contributions as required. The
formula factor is a standard percentage based on employment category.
Employees may retire at age 55 (50 for protective occupation employees) and receive reduced
benefits. Employees terminating covered employment before becoming eligible for a retirement
benefit may withdraw their contributions and forfeit all rights to any subsequent benefits .
The WRS also provides death and disability benefits for employees.
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NOTE IV – O THER INFORMATION (continued)
A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (continued)
Post-Retirement Adjustments. The Employee Trust Funds Board may periodically adjust annuity
payments from the retirement system based on annual investment performance in accordance
with s. 40.27, Wis. Stat. An increase (or decrease) in annuity payments may result when
investment gains (losses), together with other actuarial experience factors, create a surplus
(shortfall) in the reserves, as determined by the system’s consulting actuary. Annuity increases
are not based on cost of living or other similar factors. For Core annuities, decreases may be
applied only to previously granted increases. By law, Core annuities cannot be reduced to an
amount below the original, guaranteed amount (the “floor”) set at retirement. The Core and
Variable annuity adjustments granted during recent years are as follows:
Year

Core Fund Adjustment

2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

(2.1)
(1.3)
(1.2)
(7.0)
(9.6)
4.7
2.9
0.5
2.0
2.4

Variable Fund
Adjustment
(42)
22
11
(7)
9
25
2
(5)
4
17

Contributions. Required contributions are determined by an annual actuarial valuation in
accordance with Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The employee required contribution is
one-half of the actuarially determined contribution rate for general category employees, including
teachers, and Executives and Elected Officials. Starting on January 1, 2016, the Executives and &
Elected Officials category was merged into the General Employee Category . Required
contributions for protective employees are the same rate as general employees. Employers are
required to contribute the remainder of the actuarially determined contribution rate . The
employer may not pay the employee required contribution unless provided for by an existi ng
collective bargaining agreement.
During the reporting period, the WRS recognized $409,635 in contributions from the employer
Contribution rates as of December 31, 2019 are:
Employee Category
General (including teachers, executives, and
elected officials)
Protective with Social Security
Protective without Social Security
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Employee
6.7%

Employer
6.7%

6.7%
6.7%

10.7%
14.9%

NOTE IV – O THER INFORMATION (continued)
A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (continued)
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
At December 31, 2019, the Village of Shorewood reported a liability of $1,400,91 4 for its
proportionate share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset). The Net Pension Liability (Asset) was
measured as of December 31, 2018, and the Total Pension Liability used to calculate the Net
Pension Liability (Asset) was determined by an actuarial va luation as of December 31, 2017 rolled
forward to December 31, 2018. No material changes in assumptions or benefit terms occurred
between the actuarial valuation date and the measurement date. The Village of Shorewood’s
proportion of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) was based on the Village of Shorewood’s share of
contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating employers. At
December 31, 2018, the Village of Shorewood’s proportion was 0.03937717%, which was an
increase of 0.00001346% from its proportion measured as of December 31, 2017 .
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Village of Shorewood recognized pension expense of
$958,168.
At December 31, 2019, the Village of Shorewood reported deferred outflows of reso urces and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:
Deferred
Outflows of
Resources
$1,091,101

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources
($1,928,675)

Net differences between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments

$2,045,943

$0.00

Changes in assumptions

$236,143

$0.00

Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate share of contributions

$18,064

$0.00

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement
date

$405,558

$0.00

Total

$3,796,809

($1,928,675)

Differences between expected and actual experience
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NOTE IV – O THER INFORMATION (continued)
A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (continued)
$405,558 reported as deferred outflows related to pension resulting from the WRS Employer’s
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net
pension liability (asset) in the year ended December 31, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be recognized in
pension expense as follows:
Year ended June 30:

Deferred Outflow of
Resources

Deferred Inflows of
Resources

2019

$1,628,577

($693,492)

2020

$806,661

($558,897)

2021

$788,959

($500,317)

2022

$572,612

($175,969)

Thereafter

$0.00

$0.00

Actuarial assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2018, actuarial valuation
was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:
Actuarial Valuation Date:

December 31, 2017

Measurement Date of Net Pension Liability (Asset)

December 31, 2018

Actuarial Cost Method:
Asset Valuation Method:

Entry Age
Fair Market Value

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return:

7.0%

Discount Rate:
Salary Increases:
Inflation
Seniority/Merit
Mortality:
Post-retirement Adjustments*

7.0%
3.0%
0.2% - 5.6%
Wisconsin 2018 Mortality Table
1.9%

* No post-retirement adjustment is guaranteed. Actual adjustments are based on recognized investment return, actuarial experience and other
factors. 1.9% is the assumed annual adjustment based on the investment return assumption and the post-retirement discount rate.

Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2018 that covered a
three-year period from January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017. Based on this experience study,
actuarial assumptions used to measure the Total Pension Liabili ty changed from prior year,
including the discount rate, long-term expected rate of return, post-retirement adjustment, wage
inflation rate, mortality and separation rates. The Total Pension Liability for December 31, 2018 is
based upon a roll-forward of the liability calculated from the December 31, 2017 actuarial
valuation.
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NOTE IV – O THER INFORMATION (continued)
A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (continued)
Long-term expected Return on Plan Assets. The long-term expected rate of return on pension
plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of
expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense
and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the
long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the
target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and
best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the
following table:
Asset Allocation Targets and Expected Returns
As of December 31, 2018

Core Fund Asset Class

Asset Allocation %

Long-Term
Expected Nominal
Rate of Return %

Long-Term
Expected Real
Rate of Return %

Global Equities
Fixed Income
Inflation Sensitive Assets
Real Estate
Private Equity/Debt
Multi-Asset
Total Core Fund

49
24.5
15.5
9
8
4
110

8.1
4.0
3.8
6.5
9.4
6.7
7.3

5.5
1.5
1.3
3.9
6.7
4.1
4.7

Variable Fund Asset Class
U.S. Equities
International Equities
Total Variable Fund

70
30
100

7.6
8.5
8.0

5.0
5.9
5.4

New England Pension Consultants Long Term US CPI (Inflation) Forecast: 2.5%
Asset Allocations are managed within established ranges; target percentages may differ from actual monthly allocations
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NOTE IV – O THER INFORMATION (continued)
A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (continued)
Single Discount rate. A single discount rate of 7.00% was used to measure the Total Pension
Liability, as opposed to a discount rate of 7.20% for the prior year. This single discount rate is
based on the expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 7.00% and a municipal bond
rate of 3.71%. Because of the unique structure of WRS, the 7.00% expected rate of return implies
that a dividend of approximately 1.9% will always be paid. For purposes of th e single discount
rate, it was assumed that the dividend would always be paid. The projection of cash flows used to
determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the
current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the
difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on
these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make
all projected future benefit payments (including expected dividends) of current plan members.
Therefore, the municipal bond rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability .
Sensitivity of the Village of Shorewood’s proportionate share of the net pension liability
(asset) to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the Village of Shorewood’s
proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) calculated using the dis count rate of 7.0
percent, as well as what the Village of Shorewood’s proportionate share of the net pension
liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 -percentage-point
lower (6.0 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.0 percent) than the current rate:

Village of Shorewood’s proportionate
share of the Net Pension Liability
(Asset)

1% Decrease to
Discount Rate
(6.00%)

Current Discount
Rate (7.00%)

1% Increase to
Discount Rate
(8.00%)

$5,567,388

$1,400,916

($1,697,178)

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in
separately issued financial statements available at http://etf.wi.gov/publications/cafr.htm
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NOTE IV – O THER INFORMATION (continued)
B. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
Plan Description
In addition to providing the pension benefits described, The Village administers a single employer
defined benefit healthcare plan. The plan allows eligible retirees to remain on the Village’s health
care plan which covers both active and retired members. Under certain conditions the Village also
directly pays for a portion of retiree health care premiums.
Benefit provisions were established through collective bargaining agreements and by Village
policy for non-represented employees. Police union employee benefits may only be amended
through negotiations between the Village and the union. All other employees’ benefits may be
changed through Village Board action. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria
in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75.
The Village funds these benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis and funding is expected to come
primarily from the Village’s General Fund and Water and Sewer Utilities. The Village has obtained
an actuarial evaluation to determine the cost of these benefits. A liability is reported on the
government-wide financial statements as a governmental activities or the busines s-type activities
liability, as appropriate.
Benefits Provided
The Village makes the same monthly health insurance contribution on behalf of the retiree as it
makes on behalf of all other active employees during the year. The Village contributes 50% for a
family plan and 100% for a single plan, towards the health insurance premium for general
employees hired before January 1, 2002. For employees hired between January 1, 2002 and
October 31, 2012, the Village contributes 50% single plans an 25% for family p lans. Employees
hired after October 31, 2012 are not eligible for employer contributions towards post -retirement
health care.
The Village’s contribution is capped at the amount the premium was when the employee retires.
Any premium increases are contributed by the retiree. To be eligible for these benefits the retiree
must have retired under the provisions of the System, with 20 years of service to the Village if
hired before January 1, 2002, or 25 years of service if hired after January 1, 2002, and is no t
currently eligible for Medicare.
Membership
At December 31, 2019, membership consisted of:
Inactive Employees or Beneficiaries Currently
Receiving Benefit Payments
Inactive Employees Entitled to but not yet
Receiving Benefit Payments
Active Employees
TOTAL

24
65
89
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NOTE IV – O THER INFORMATION (continued)
B. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)
Total OPEB Liability
The Village’s total OPEB liability of $3,297,828 was measured as of December 31, 2019 determined
by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2018.
Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs
The total OPEB liability in the December 31, 2018 actuarial valuation was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the
measurement, unless otherwise specified:
Actuarial Cost Method

Entry-age

Actuarial Value of Assets

N/A

Inflation

2.50%

Salary Increases

N/A

Discount Rate

2.75%

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

7.50% Initial
5.00% Ultimate

Retirees Share of Benefit-Related Costs

100% Regular Plan

The discount rate was based on the Bond Buyer GO 20-Year AA Bond Index published by the
Federal Reserve for the week at the beginning of the measurement period.
Mortality rates were based on the Wisconsin 2018 Mortality Table.
The actuarial assumptions used are based on an experience study conducted in 201 8 using
Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) experience from 2015-17.
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NOTE IV – O THER INFORMATION (continued)
B. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability
Total OPEB
Liability
BALANCES AT JANUARY 1, 2019

$3,236,177

Changes for the Period
Service Cost
Interest
Difference Between Expected
and Actual Experience
Changes in Benefit Terms
Changes in Assumptions
Benefit Payments

104,635
125,384
(253,497)
392,926
(307,797)

Net Changes

61,651

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2019

$3,297,828

Rate Sensitivity
The following is a sensitivity analysis of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate
and the healthcare cost trend rate. The table below presents the total OPEB liability of the Village
calculated using the discount rate of 2.75% as well as what the Village’s total OPEB liability would
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower ( 1.75%) or 1
percentage point higher (3.75%) than the current rate:

Total OPEB Liability

1% Decrease
(1.75%)

Current
Discount Rate
(2.75%)

1% Increase
(3.75%)

$3,531,911

$3,297,828

$3,079,178

The table below presents the total OPEB liability of the Village calculated using the healthcare
rate of 5.00% to 7.50% as well as what the Village’s total OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using a healthcare rate that is 1 percentage point low er (4.00% to 6.50%) or 1
percentage point higher (6.00% to 8.50%) than the current rate:

Total OPEB Liability

1% Decrease
(6.5% to 4.0%)

Current
Healthcare Rate
(5.0% to 7.5%)

1% Increase
(6.0% to 8.5%)

$3,032,472

$3,297,828

$3,606,814
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NOTE IV – O THER INFORMATION (continued)
B. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)
Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB
At December 31, 2019, the Village of Shorewood reported deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to other postemployment benefits from the following
sources:

Differences between expected and actual experience

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources
$-

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources
($221,810)

Changes in assumptions

$343,809

($76,305)

Total

$343,809

($298,115)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
other postemployment benefits will be recognized in expense as follows:
Year ended December 31:

Deferred Outflows/ Inflows
of Resources

2020

$2,168

2021

$2,168

2022

$2,168

2023

$2,168

2024

$2,168

Thereafter

$34,854
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NOTE IV – O THER INFORMATION (continued)
C. JOINT VENTURES
North Shore Public Safety Communications Commission
The Villages of Shorewood and Whitefish Bay and the City of Glendale jointly operate the local
public safety dispatch center, which is called the North Shore Public Safety Communications
Commission (NSPSCC) and provides central emergency police, fire, and ambulance dispatching
services. The governing body of NSPSCC is made up of citizens from each community and has
authority to adopt its own budget and control the financial affairs of the commission. Local
representatives are appointed by the governing body of each community. The fiscal agent for the
commission is the Village of Whitefish Bay. Costs are shared between the three communities
based on population, equalized valuation, and number of municipalities involved.
During 2011, the NSPSCC signed a ten-year agreement with the Village of Bayside which specifies
that Bayside will provide dispatching services for the NSPSCC during the term of the agreement.
2012 was the first year that service was provided under this agreement. For 201 9, the Village’s
financial responsibility towards this service was $366,749. The Village believes that the
commission will continue to provide these services in the future at similar rates.
Financial information of the NSPSCC is available directly from the NSPSCC's office at 5300 N.
Marlborough Drive, Whitefish Bay, WI 53217.
North Shore Fire Department
The City of Glendale and the Villages of Fox Point, Bayside, Brown Deer, River Hills, Shorewood ,
and Whitefish Bay jointly operate the North Shore Fire Department (N SFD) under an agreement
dated December 31, 1994. The NSFD furnishes fire and emergency medical services. The North
Shore Fire Department is operated by a Board of Directors consisting of seven members which
includes one representative and one alternative member from each community. Only one member
may vote from each municipality.
The powers of the Board of Directors include authorizing repair, maintenance and renewal of
physical assets, and recommending adoption of the department's budget. The capital and
operating budget of the department must receive approval of at least five of the seven
participating municipalities. Also established by the agreement is a Joint Fire Commission that
has the powers related to appointments, promotions, suspensio ns, removals, dismissals,
reemployment, compensation, rest days, etc.
For 2019, the Village’s financial responsibility towards this service was $2,271,062. The Village
believes that the NSFD will continue to provide these services in the future at similar rates.
In addition, the Village is also obligated to make certain debt service payments related to the
NFSD’s acquisition of facilities and equipment from the member municipalities dating back to
2002. For 2019, the Village’s financial responsibility towards these payments was $92,575 and will
continue at similar rates through 2022, at which time those obligations will be satisfied .
Financial information for the NSFD can be obtained from the Department at 4401 West River
Lane, Brown Deer, WI 53223.
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (continued)
C. JOINT VENTURES (continued)
North Shore Health Department
During 2011, the Village signed an agreement to join the North Shore Health Department, now
comprised of the Villages of Bayside, Brown Deer, Fox Point, River Hills, Shorewood and Whitefish
Bay, and the City of Glendale. The Village of Brown Deer, on behalf of the North Shore Health
Department (NSHD), began providing public health services to residents of the Village on
January 1, 2012. The NSHD Board of Health is comprised of one member representative from each
community, as appointed by each municipality’s Village President.
NSHD costs are allocated to individual communities based on a formula incorporating direct hours
used and population. The Village paid $132,416 to NSHD for 2019 services. The Village believes
that the NSHD will continue to provide these services in the future at similar rates.
The agreement is for a three year term that automatically renews. The Village of Brown Dee r
performs substantially all of the services of the NSHD. Financial information for the NSHD can be
obtained from the Village of Brown Deer at 4800 West Green Brook Drive, Brown Deer, WI 53223.
D. RISK MANAGEMENT
The Village is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction
of assets; errors and omissions; workers compensation; and health care of its employees. All of
these risks are covered through the purchase of commercial insurance, with minimal deductibles.
Settled claims have not exceeded the commercial coverage in any of the past three years. There
were no significant reductions in coverage compared to the prior year.
E. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
From time to time, the Village is party to various pending claims and legal proceedings. Although
the outcome of such matters cannot be forecasted with certainty, it is the opinion of management
and the Village attorney that the likelihood is remote that any such claims or proceedings will
have a material adverse effect on the Village's financial position or results of operations.
From time to time, the Village may receive federal and state grants for specific purposes that are
subject to review and audit by the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for
reimbursements to the grantor agency for expenditures disallowed under terms of the grants.
Management believes such disallowances, if any, would be immaterial.
The Village entered into a developer agreement in 2012 which calls for a grant totaling $8. 65
million. This agreement calls for the developer to construct an 84 unit apartment building with
18,700 square feet in retail space and approximately 320 parking spaces, within a parking gar age
and in underground parking. Approximately $122,000 of this grant remains in escrow reserve as of
December 31, 2019. The funding for the loan and grant was provided in 2012 through debt
issuances and any amounts not yet disbursed are shown as restricted cash within TID No. 4.
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (continued)
F. EFFECT OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ON CURRENT PERIOD FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has approved the following new
accounting pronouncements:
-

Statement No. 87, Leases, establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the
foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset and
aims to enhance comparability of financial statements among governments. Th is statement
also requires additional notes to the financial statements related to the timing, significance,
and purpose of a government’s leasing arrangements. The requirements of this statement are
effective for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2021. Earlier application is encouraged.

-

Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations, which intends to provide a single method of
reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice associated
with (1) commitments extended by issuers, (2) arrangements associated with conduit debt
obligations, and (3) related note disclosures. This Statement achieves those objectives by
clarifying the existing definition of conduit debt obligation; establishing that a conduit debt
obligation is not a liability of the issuer; establishing standards for accounting and financial
reporting of additional commitments and voluntary commitments extended by issuers and
arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations; and improving required note
disclosures. The requirements of this Statement are effective for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2021.

-

Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020, addresses a variety of topics including: The effective date
of Statement No. 87 for interim financial reports; reporting of intra -entity transfers of assets
between a primary government employer and a component unit defined benefit pension plan
or defined benefit other postemployment benefit (OPEB) plan; the applicability of Statements
No. 73 to Certain Provisions of GASB Statement Nos. 67 and 68, as amended, and No. 74, as
amended, to reporting assets accumulated for postemployment benefits; the applicability of
certain requirements of Statement No. 84, to postemployment benefit arrangements;
measurement of liabilities (and assets, if any) related to asset retirement obligations (AROs) in
a government acquisition; reporting by public entity risk pools for amounts that are
recoverable from reinsurers or excess insurers; reference to nonrecurring fair value
measurements of assets or liabilities in authoritative literature and terminology used to refer
to derivative instruments. The requirements of this Statement are effective for the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2021, except for the requirements related to the effective date of
Statement 87 and Implementation Guide 2019-3, reinsurance recoveries, and terminology
used to refer to derivative instruments are effective upon issuance.

G. SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On March 16, 2020 the Village authorized the issuance of the $3,590,000 General Obligation
Refunding Bonds Series 2020A that will be used to refund $3,500,000 of the 2011A General
Obligation Bonds on June 1, 2020. The Village also authorized the issuance of $835,0 00 Taxable
General Obligation Refunding Bonds Series 2020B that will be used to refund $795,000 of the
2010B General Obligation Bonds on June 1, 2020.

- 82 -

REQUIRED
SUPPLEMENTARY
INFORMATION

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL GENERAL FUND
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(continued)
Original
and Final
Budget
REVENUES
Taxes
Intergovernmental
Licenses and permits
Fines
Charges for services
Investment income
Other revenues
TOTAL REVENUES

$

8,269,260
1,328,436
459,950
638,000
360,310
193,900
111,000
11,360,856

Actual
$

8,269,259
1,381,137
490,860
592,697
437,860
449,395
209,009
11,830,217

Variance with
Final Budget
$

(1)
52,701
30,910
(45,303)
77,550
255,495
98,009
469,361

EXPENDITURES
General Government
Board
Court
Manager
Clerk
Finance
Other general administration
Total General Government

34,335
84,525
344,575
302,618
216,046
286,722
1,268,821

35,156
84,059
343,507
295,135
218,367
285,688
1,261,912

Public Safety
Police department
Planning and building inspection
Fire and other public safety
Total Public Safety

3,863,514
391,650
3,190,365
7,445,529

3,727,547
354,175
3,164,586
7,246,308

135,967
37,475
25,779
199,221

Public Works
Public Works
Public works administration
Building maintenance
Municipal garage
Street and alley
Street lighting
Winter maintenance
Refuse disposal
Yard waste/leaf collection
Total Public Works

434,150
214,092
358,260
199,305
197,930
140,046
632,292
138,773
2,314,848

466,705
202,268
342,886
183,682
193,695
159,567
642,899
192,010
2,383,712

(32,555)
11,824
15,374
15,623
4,235
(19,521)
(10,607)
(53,237)
(68,864)

(This statement is continued on the following page.)
- 83 -

(821)
466
1,068
7,483
(2,321)
1,034
6,909

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL GENERAL FUND
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(concluded)
Original
and Final
Budget
EXPENDITURES (continued)
Health Department

$

Culture and Recreation
Parks and beautification
Total Culture and Recreation
Conservation and Development
Forestry
Total Conservation and Development
TOTAL EXPENDITURES
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Net Change in Fund Balance

$

Actual

132,416

$

132,416

$

-

199,851
199,851

206,610
206,610

(6,759)
(6,759)

192,891
192,891
11,554,356

232,435
232,435
11,463,393

(39,544)
(39,544)
90,963

(193,500)

366,824

560,324

193,500
193,500

215,748
(253,912)
(38,164)

22,248
(253,912)
(231,664)

-

$

328,660
6,018,202

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR
FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR

Variance with
Final Budget

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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6,346,862

$

328,660

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)
Last 10 Fiscal Years*

Village of Shorewood’s proportion of the net
pension liability (asset)
Village of Shorewood’s proportionate share of
the net pension liability (asset)
Village of Shorewood’s covered payroll
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of
the total pension liability (asset)

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

0.04097664%

0.04050692%

0.03966671%

0.03936371%

0.03937717%

($1,006,498)

$658,229

$326,948

($1,168,755)

$1,400,916

$4,792,475

$4,848,954

$4,763,410

$4,732,568

$4,885,910

102.74%

98.20%

99.12%

102.93%

96.45%

*The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occurred within the fiscal year
**The amounts presented are intended to show information for 10 years, additional years of information will be displayed as it becomes available.

SCHEDULE OF VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD CONTRIBUTIONS
Last 10 Fiscal Years*

Contractually required contributions
Contributions in relation to the contractually
required contributions
Contribution deficiency (excess)
Village of Shorewood’s covered payroll
Contributions as a percentage of covered
payroll

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

$397,114

$384,052

$369,128

$400,172

$409,635

($397,114)

($384,052)

($369,128)

($400,172)

($409,635)

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$4,792,475

$4,848,954

$4,763,410

$4,732,568

$4,885,910

8.29%

7.92%

7.75%

8.46%

8.38%

*The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occurred within the fiscal year
**The amounts presented are intended to show information for 10 years, additional years of information will be displayed as it becomes available.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE EMPLOYER'S
TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN
Last Three Fiscal Year

MEASUREMENT DATE DECEMBER 31,
TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY
Service Cost
Interest
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience
Changes of Benefit Terms
Changes of Assumptions
Benefit Payments
Net Change in Total OPEB Liability

$

2017

2018

2019

114,721 $
116,504
(232,181)

114,721 $
115,739
(106,826)
(273,839)

104,635
125,384
(253,497)
392,926
(307,797)

(956)

(150,205)

61,651

3,387,338

3,386,382

3,236,177

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY - ENDING

$ 3,386,382

$ 3,236,177

$ 3,297,828

Covered Payroll

$ 2,982,357

$ 2,982,357

$ 4,746,505

Total OPEB Liability - Beginning

Employer's Total OPEB Liability
as a Percentage of Covered Payroll

113.55%

108.51%

69.48%

No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75.
Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of
information can be compiled, information will be presented for as many years as is available. 2017 was
the first year of implementation under these new standards.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

A. Budgetary Information
Budgetary information is derived from the annual operating budget and is presented using generally
accepted accounting principles and the modified accrual basis of accounting.
A budget has been adopted for the General Fund, Debt Service, General Capital Projects, TID No.’s
1, 3, 4, and 5, and the following Special Revenue Funds: Library, Senior Resource Center, and
Shorewood Today Funds. Wisconsin Statute 65.90 requires that an annual budget be adopted for all
funds levying a general property tax.
Appropriations lapse at year end unless specifically carried over. There were no carryovers to the
following year. Budgets are adopted at the department level of expenditure for the General Fund and
the fund total for all other funds. The budgeted amounts presented include any amendments adopted
during the year. No amendments were approved during the year. Transfers between departments and
changes to the overall budget must be approved by a two‑thirds Village Board action.
B. Excess Expenditures Over Appropriations
The excess of expenditures over appropriations were financed with current year revenue sources and
available fund balances.
Fund

Final
Budget

Department / Division

General Fund

Board
Finance
Public works administration
Winter Maintenance
Refuse disposal
Yard waste/leaf collection
Parks and Beautification
Forestry

Other Funds

Library
Debt Servive
TID 1

$

34,335
216,046
434,150
140,046
632,292
138,773
199,851
192,891
1,045,740
5,028,490
4,132
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Expenditures
$

35,156
218,367
466,705
159,567
642,899
192,010
206,610
232,435
1,049,054
6,224,482
8,584

Excess
$

821
2,321
32,555
19,521
10,607
53,237
6,759
39,544
3,314
1,195,992
4,452

SUPPLEMENTARY
INFORMATION

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
As of December 31, 2019

Special Revenue Funds
Senior
Services

Library
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Taxes receivable
Accounts receivable
Restricted assets - cash and cash equivalents
TOTAL ASSETS

Total
Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

Shorewood
Today

$

547,336
441,079
4,392

$

81,049
53,783
23,903
-

$

16,117
969
1,875
-

$

644,502
495,831
25,778
4,392

$

992,807

$

158,735

$

18,961

$

1,170,503

$

16,915
29,911
46,826

$

3,838
3,360
7,198

$

-

$

20,753
33,271
54,024

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Total Liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Taxes levied for subsequent year's budget
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources
Fund Balances
Restricted
Committed
Total Fund Balances
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES

$

910,108
910,108

110,975
110,975

2,000
2,000

1,023,083
1,023,083

4,392
31,481
35,873

40,562
40,562

16,961
16,961

4,392
89,004
93,396

992,807

$

158,735

(See independent auditor's report.)
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$

18,961

$

1,170,503

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Special Revenue Funds
Senior
Services

Library
REVENUES
Taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Other revenues
Total Revenues

$

EXPENDITURES
Current
General government
Public safety
Health and social services
Culture and recreation
Total Expenditures
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Net Change in Fund Balance

$

$

Shorewood
Today

107,490
26,871
44,490
178,851

1,049,054
1,049,054

177,903
177,903

6,901

948

(8,224)
(8,224)

-

(1,323)

948

37,196

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - Beginning of Year
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - END OF YEAR

905,085
74,501
48,154
28,215
1,055,955

35,873

$

(See independent auditor's report.)
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40,562

2,000
85,530
87,530

$

88,857
88,857

6,522

-

$

1,014,575
74,501
160,555
72,705
1,322,336

88,857
177,903
1,049,054
1,315,814

(1,327)

39,614
$

Total
Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

(8,224)
(8,224)

(1,327)

(1,702)

18,288

95,098

16,961

$

93,396

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(continued)
Library
Original
and Final
Budget
REVENUES
Taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Investment income
Other revenues
Total Revenues

$

EXPENDITURES
Current
General government
Public safety
Health and social services
Culture and recreation
Conservation and development
Total Expenditures
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)
$

Net Change in Fund Balance

Actual

905,085
74,155
54,500
12,000
1,045,740

$

$

Original
and Final
Budget

Variance
with
Final Budget

Actual

- $
346
(6,346)
16,215
10,215

107,490
30,000
58,817
196,307

$

107,490
26,871
44,490
178,851

$

(3,129)
(14,327)
(17,456)

(3,314)
(3,314)

196,307
196,307

177,903
177,903

18,404
18,404

1,045,740
1,045,740

1,049,054
1,049,054

-

6,901

6,901

-

948

948

-

(8,224)
(8,224)

(8,224)
(8,224)

-

-

-

-

(1,323) $

(1,323) $

-

948

37,196

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - BEGINNING OF YEAR

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - END OF YEAR

905,085
74,501
48,154
28,215
1,055,955

Senior Services
Variance
with
Final Budget

$

35,873

(See independent auditor's report.)
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39,614
$

40,562

$

948

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(concluded)
Shorewood Today
Original
and Final
Budget
REVENUES
Taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Other revenues
Total Revenues

$

EXPENDITURES
Current
General government
Public safety
Health and social services
Culture and recreation
Conservation and development
Total Expenditures
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures

Actual

2,000
85,025
87,025

$

88,857
88,857

(2,475)

(1,327)

$

2,000
85,530
87,530

89,500
89,500

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Net Change in Fund Balance

Variance
with
Final Budget

-

(2,475)

(1,327) $
18,288

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - BEGINNING OF YEAR

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - END OF YEAR

(See independent auditor's report.)
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$

$

16,961

505
505

643
643

1,148

1,148

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
DEBT SERVICE FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Original
and Final
Budget
REVENUES
Taxes
Total Revenues

$

EXPENDITURES
Debt Service
Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges
Total Expenditures
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Net Change in Fund Balance

$

Actual

1,833,085
1,833,085

$

1,833,085
1,833,085

Variance
with
Final Budget
$

-

3,748,138
1,280,352
5,028,490

4,973,137
1,251,345
6,224,482

(1,224,999)
29,007
(1,195,992)

(3,195,405)

(4,391,397)

(1,195,992)

3,195,405
3,195,405

4,341,795
4,341,795

1,146,390
1,146,390

-

(49,602) $
87,300

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - BEGINNING OF YEAR

FUND BALANCE - END OF YEAR

(See independent auditor's report.)
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$

37,698

(49,602)

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(continued)
General Capital Projects
Original
and Final
Budget
REVENUES
Taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Other Income
Total Revenues

$

EXPENDITURES
Current
Capital Outlay
Debt Service
Bond issuance costs
Total Expenditures
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets
General obligation debt issued
Premium on bonds issued
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Actual
$

368,820
308,942
203,213
880,975

$

99,942
28,213
128,155

2,104,113

2,079,224

24,889

2,104,113

2,079,224

24,889

(1,351,293)

(1,198,249)

153,044

32,500
32,500
$

Net Change in Fund Balance

368,820
209,000
175,000
752,820

Variance
with
Final Budget

24,058
24,058

(1,318,793)

(1,174,191) $
1,655,153

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - BEGINNING OF YEAR
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - END OF YEAR

(See independent auditor's report.)
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$

480,962

(8,442)
(8,442)
144,602

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(continued)
TID No. 1

REVENUES
Taxes
Intergovernmental
Investment income
Other revenues
Total Revenues

Original
and Final
Budget

Actual

$ 1,942,000
15,000
10,000
1,967,000

$ 1,935,451
24,720
17,238
1,977,409

4,132
4,132

8,584
8,584

1,962,868

1,968,825

(1,578,855)
(1,578,855)

(2,775,247)
(2,775,247)

EXPENDITURES
Current
Conservation and development
Total Expenditures
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers out
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

$

Net Change in Fund Balance

384,013

$

Original
and Final
Budget

Actual

789,000
1,500
2,000
50,000
842,500

(4,452)
(4,452)

123,415
123,415

117,523
117,523

5,892
5,892

5,957

719,085

702,864

(16,221)

(390,095)
(390,095)

(390,095)
(390,095)

328,990

312,769

(1,196,392)
(1,196,392)

$

884,515
$

78,093

(See independent auditor's report.)
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762,216
1,319
6,852
50,000
820,387

Variance
with
Final Budget

(6,549) $
9,720
7,238
10,409

(806,422) $(1,190,435) $

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - BEGINNING OF YEAR

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - END OF YEAR

TID No. 3
Variance
with
Final Budget

(128,451)
$

184,318

$

(26,784)
(181)
4,852
(22,113)

$

(16,221)

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(concluded)
TID No. 4
Original
and Final
Budget
REVENUES
Taxes
Intergovernmental
Investment income
Other revenues
Total Revenues

$

EXPENDITURES
Current
Conservation and development
Total Expenditures
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers out
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)
$

Net Change in Fund Balance

Actual

TID No. 5
Variance
with
Final Budget
$

Original
and Final
Budget

(1,411) $ 1,301,000
255
17,362
15,000
16,206
1,316,000

Actual

535,000
105,412
640,412

533,589
255
122,774
656,618

27,082
27,082

2,220
2,220

24,862
24,862

37,082
37,082

2,220
2,220

34,862
34,862

613,330

654,398

41,068

1,278,918

1,350,903

71,985

(502,645)
(502,645)

(502,644)
(502,644)

110,685

151,754

1
1
$

41,069

$

$ 1,297,059
2,459
53,605
1,353,123

Variance
with
Final Budget

(419,898)
(419,898)

(419,897)
(419,897)

859,020

931,006

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - BEGINNING OF YEAR

3,765,178

1,141,758

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - END OF YEAR

$ 3,916,932

$ 2,072,764

(See independent auditor's report.)
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$

(3,941)
2,459
38,605
37,123

1
1
$

71,986

STATISTICAL
SECTION

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
STATISTICAL SECTION

This part of the Village of Shorewood's comprehensive annual financial report
presents detailed information as a framework for understanding what the
information in the financial statements note disclosures, and required
supplementary information says about the overall financial well-being of the Village.
Contents

Pages

Financial Trends
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the
Village's financial performance and well-being have changed over time.

96-103

Revenue Capacity
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the Village's most
significant local revenue source, the property tax.

104-108

Debt Capacity
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of
the Village's current levels of outstanding debt and the Village's ability to issue new
debt in the future.

109-111

Demographic and Economic Information
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader
understand the environment within which the Village's financial activities
take place.

112-114

Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader
understand how the information in the Village's financial report relates to the
services the Village provides and the activities it performs.

115-117

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is obtained from the
comprehensive annual financial reports for the given year.

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
NET POSITION BY COMPONENT
Last Ten Years

2010
Governmental Activities
Net investment in
capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total
Business-Type Activities
Net investment in
capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total
Primary Government
Net investment in
capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total

2011

2012

2013

2014

Fiscal Year
2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

$ 11,803,216 $ 13,053,906 $ 13,704,213 $ 9,865,669 $ 10,437,085 $ 12,984,428 $ 12,756,515 $ 13,391,262 $ 12,448,913 $ 12,333,819
282,499
53,585
74,174
3,739,908
74,263
1,898,339
6,468,419
4,646,643
6,733,914
7,129,163
(2,792,958)
(6,318,265)
(7,115,016)
(8,209,666) (10,297,407) (17,859,982) (23,448,513) (23,682,357) (21,079,052) (17,933,286)
9,292,757
6,789,226
6,663,371
5,395,911
213,941
(2,977,215)
(4,223,579)
(5,644,452)
(1,896,225)
1,529,696

5,488,785
(686,652)
4,802,133

7,843,415
(439,907)
7,403,508

8,271,762
(951,552)
7,320,210

8,661,975
(877,131)
7,784,844

10,832,813
(927,021)
9,905,792

11,343,978
155,945
(291,278)
11,208,645

11,473,611
105,800
334,335
11,913,746

12,400,425
8,971
12,409,396

12,615,165
89,244
628,449
13,332,858

12,990,982
590,060
13,581,042

17,292,001
20,897,321
20,207,996
16,859,756
17,989,483
21,162,204
21,295,293
25,791,687
22,511,854
22,983,830
282,499
53,585
74,174
3,739,908
74,263
2,054,284
6,574,219
4,646,643
7,400,925
7,129,163
(3,479,610)
(6,758,172)
(6,298,589)
(7,418,909)
(7,944,013) (14,985,058) (20,179,345) (23,673,386) (19,086,263) (15,002,255)
$ 14,094,890 $ 14,192,734 $ 13,983,581 $ 13,180,755 $ 10,119,733 $ 8,231,430 $ 7,690,167 $ 6,764,944 $ 10,826,516 $ 15,110,738

A portion of governmental activities borrowings are considered to be noncapital for the governmental activities net investment in capital assets, but are considered to be capital related
for the primary government as a whole. This adjustment for 2019 is $2,340,971, 2018 was $2,552,224, 2017 was $2,745,656, 2016 was $2,934,883, 2015 was $3,166,202,
2014 was $3,280,415, 2013 was $1,667,888, and 2012 was $1,767,979 which represents the remaining principal balances on these borrowings.
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Last Ten Years
(continued)

2010
Expenses
Governmental Activities:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and social services
Culture and recreation
Conservation and development
Interest and fiscal charges
Total Government Activities Expenses
Business-Type Activities:
Parking
Water Utility
Sewer Utility
Total Business-Type Activities Expenses
Total Primary Government Expenses
Program Revenues
Governmental Activities:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
Total Governmental Activities Program Revenues
Business-Type Activities:
Charges for services
Capital grants and contributions
Total Business-Type Activities Program Revenues
Total Primary Government Program Revenues

$

1,207,164
6,090,227
5,489,734
367,852
1,346,194
2,528,039
848,052
17,877,262

Fiscal Year
2012

2011

$

1,176,140
6,855,057
4,146,710
363,298
1,712,091
2,285,189
884,021
17,422,506

$

1,305,008
6,988,644
3,422,047
299,287
1,283,662
1,110,846
1,367,838
15,777,332

2013

$

1,210,825
7,039,505
4,134,351
300,698
1,345,701
2,250,391
1,078,014
17,359,485

2014

$

1,540,429
7,032,842
4,122,520
303,352
1,486,916
3,157,765
1,037,714
18,681,538

171,855
1,179,876
1,309,817
2,661,548
20,538,810

214,358
1,287,836
1,675,352
3,177,546
20,600,052

184,432
1,390,015
1,624,196
3,198,643
18,975,975

174,076
1,330,211
1,547,718
3,052,005
20,411,490

164,586
1,599,591
1,569,920
3,334,097
22,015,635

1,169,641
996,816
518,409
2,684,866

1,271,890
1,089,423
1,035,176
3,396,489

1,319,962
1,025,336
200,913
2,546,211

1,459,202
1,030,409
484,729
2,974,340

1,549,691
1,122,171
506,550
3,178,412

2,377,259
11,886
2,389,145
5,074,011

2,900,918
1,580,988
4,481,906
7,878,395

3,286,396
275,000
3,561,396
6,107,607

3,627,146
3,627,146
6,601,486

3,708,421
3,708,421
6,886,833

- 97 -

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Last Ten Years
(continued)

2010
Net (Expense)/Revenue
Governmental Activities
Business-Type Activities
Total Primary Government Net Expenses

2013

2014

$ (14,026,017) $ (13,231,121) $ (14,385,145) $ (14,385,145) $ (19,255,943)
1,304,360
362,753
575,141
575,141
806,887
(12,721,657)
(12,868,368)
(13,810,004)
(13,810,004)
(18,449,056)

General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities:
Property taxes
Intergovernmental revenues not restricted to specific programs
Investment income
Miscellaneous
Transfers
Total Governmental Activities
Business-Type Activities:
Intergovernmental revenues not restricted to specific programs
Investment income
Special item
Transfers
Total Business-Type Activities
Total Primary Government
Change in Net Position
Governmental Activities
Business-Type Activities
Total Primary Government

2011

Fiscal Year
2012

$

11,074,984
669,473
205,858
327,509
(11,298)
12,266,526

11,526,622
662,114
160,354
299,913
(1,126,517)
11,522,486

12,122,900
590,495
246,596
173,987
159,760
13,293,738

12,061,130
495,365
225,305
189,940
145,945
13,117,685

10,956,764
700,965
212,176
182,287
(1,731,036)
10,321,156

8,954
11,298
20,252
12,286,778

158,800
11,698
1,126,517
1,297,015
12,819,501

53,994
12,227
(300,000)
(159,760)
(393,539)
12,900,199

30,225
5,213
(145,945)
(110,507)
13,007,178

15,588
1,731,036
1,746,624
12,067,780

(1,759,491)
1,324,612
(434,879) $

(1,708,635)
1,659,768
(48,867) $

(1,091,407)
181,602
(909,805) $

(1,267,460)
464,634
(802,826) $

(8,934,787)
2,553,511
(6,381,276)

(1) Past year's revenues and expenses have not been adjusted for restatements or reclassifications made in future years.
Total property taxes decreased in 2014 due to the suppression of TID No. 1 equalized value as part of the State of Wisconsin’s ongoing correction
process relating to the 2011 assessment reporting error of the TID No. 1 assessed values. In 2012 and 2013 the Village took special mitigating
action to offset the impact of these adjustments, but these measures were not available in 2014.
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Last Ten Years
(continued)

2015
Expenses
Governmental Activities:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and social services
Culture and recreation
Conservation and development
Interest and fiscal charges
Total Government Activities Expenses
Business-Type Activities:
Parking
Water Utility
Sewer Utility
Total Business-Type Activities Expenses
Total Primary Government Expenses
Program Revenues
Governmental Activities:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
Total Governmental Activities Program Revenues
Business-Type Activities:
Charges for services
Capital grants and contributions
Total Business-Type Activities Program Revenues
Total Primary Government Program Revenues

$

1,399,764
7,301,364
4,371,002
308,447
1,612,283
6,125,523
1,225,924
22,344,307

Fiscal Year
2017

2016

$

1,611,764
7,667,815
4,183,787
312,138
1,578,342
3,237,457
1,311,193
19,902,496

$

1,585,415
8,199,914
4,374,017
344,223
1,721,925
812,343
1,229,811
18,267,648

2018

$

1,585,415
8,199,914
4,374,017
344,223
1,721,925
812,343
1,229,811
18,267,648

2019

$

1,593,432
7,984,911
4,560,933
319,740
1,548,357
381,562
1,166,509
17,555,444

199,908
1,603,882
1,589,821
3,393,611
25,737,918

218,774
1,524,528
1,725,130
3,468,432
23,370,928

219,571
1,565,458
1,764,716
3,549,745
21,817,393

219,571
1,565,458
1,764,716
3,549,745
21,817,393

150,287
1,579,499
2,130,322
3,860,108
21,415,552

1,465,825
1,151,164
471,375
3,088,364

1,553,588
1,093,729
610,015
3,257,332

1,644,030
1,002,938
662,533
3,309,501

1,644,030
1,002,938
662,533
3,309,501

1,816,934
1,007,746
418,196
3,242,876

4,200,498
4,200,498
7,288,862

4,287,202
4,287,202
7,544,534

4,517,496
4,517,496
7,826,997

4,517,496
4,517,496
7,826,997

4,269,757
4,269,757
7,512,633
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Last Ten Years
(concluded)

2015
Net (Expense)/Revenue
Governmental Activities
Business-Type Activities
Total Primary Government Net Expenses

2018

2019

$ (16,645,164) $ (14,958,147) $ (14,958,147) $ (14,958,147) $ (14,312,568)
818,770
967,751
967,751
967,751
409,649
(15,826,394)
(13,990,396)
(13,990,396)
(13,990,396)
(13,902,919)

General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities:
Property taxes
Intergovernmental revenues not restricted to specific programs
Investment income
Miscellaneous
Transfers
Total Governmental Activities
Business-Type Activities:
Intergovernmental revenues not restricted to specific programs
Investment income
Special item
Transfers
Total Business-Type Activities
Total Primary Government
Change in Net Position
Governmental Activities
Business-Type Activities
Total Primary Government

2016

Fiscal Year
2017

$

12,708,645
573,762
297,035
176,983
168,345
13,924,770

13,413,950
569,611
275,045
307,437
175,091
14,741,134

14,876,565
570,246
230,548
291,538
191,920
16,160,817

14,876,565
570,246
230,548
291,538
191,920
16,160,817

16,014,057
570,603
663,244
283,061
207,524
17,738,489

21,936
(168,345)
(146,409)
13,778,361

24,478
(175,091)
(150,613)
14,590,521

26,852
(191,920)
(165,068)
15,995,749

26,852
(191,920)
(165,068)
15,995,749

46,059
(207,524)
(161,465)
17,577,024

1,202,670
802,683
2,005,353

1,202,670
802,683
2,005,353

3,425,921
248,184
3,674,105

(2,720,394)
672,361
(2,048,033) $

(217,013)
817,138
600,125 $

$

(1) Past year's revenues and expenses have not been adjusted for restatements or reclassifications made in future years.
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$

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Last Ten Years

2010
General Fund
Reserved
Unreserved
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total General Fund
All Other Governmental Funds
Reserved
Unreserved, reported in:
Special revenue funds
Capital projects funds
Non-spendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned (deficit)
Total
Total Fund Balances

$ 1,340,238
3,643,558
4,983,796

1,715,451
616,708
2,946,343
5,278,502
$ 10,262,298

2011
$

2012

1,193,705
124,410
441,399
3,745,364
5,504,878

25,064
2,964,160
10,201
456,486
(495,902)
2,960,009
$ 8,464,887

$

Fiscal Year
2014
2015

2013

889,565
118,264
444,898
3,002,031
4,454,758

1,660
13,477,045
12,551
417,810
(163,238)
13,745,828
$ 18,200,586

$

1,650,448
115,768
372,554
3,967,631
6,106,401

$

-

-

3,896,674
8,610,058
30,527
692,566
(232,831)
12,996,994
$ 19,103,395

1,802,801
10,846
199,907
4,267,073
6,280,627

29,657
5,473,327
117,643
654,489
(700,565)
5,574,551
$ 11,855,178

$

2016

1,570,536
399,282
4,310,950
6,280,768

33,000
6,564,952
117,053
437,028
7,152,033
$ 13,432,801

$

2017

1,473,157
418,826
4,527,892
6,419,875

9,434
5,442,228
392,723
699,265
(115,486)
6,428,164
$ 12,848,039

$

2018

1,110,023
573,544
4,626,132
6,309,699

4,908,456
234,560
119,431
(314,724)
4,947,723
$ 11,257,422

$

2019

955,335
536,975
4,525,892
6,018,202

$

-

-

7,026,914
172,675
429,413
(128,451)
7,500,551
$ 13,518,753

6,615,510
126,702
121,951
6,864,163
$ 13,211,025

In 2011, the Village implemented GASB Statement No. 54, which changed the classifications of fund balances. Prior periods have not be reclassified to this new standard.
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865,417
576,226
4,905,219
6,346,862

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Last Ten Years
(continued)

Revenues
Taxes
Intergovernmental revenue
Regulation and compliance
Fines
Charges for services
Investment income
Other revenues
Total Revenues

2010

2011

Fiscal Year
2012

2013

2014

$ 11,074,984
1,784,758
964,736
465,282
191,674
261,624
14,743,058

$ 11,526,622
1,819,587
984,511
461,831
154,326
173,457
15,120,334

$ 12,122,900
1,738,798
575,283
518,088
455,532
258,836
289,235
15,958,672

$ 12,061,129
1,459,011
512,054
481,800
710,439
225,409
261,956
15,711,798

$ 10,956,762
2,142,252
550,610
459,720
717,431
209,163
335,638
15,371,576

Expenditures
Current
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and social services
Culture and recreation
Conservation and development
Capital Outlay
Debt Service
Principal
Interest and fiscal charges
Total Expenditures

1,075,355
6,155,896
1,877,680
381,643
1,401,219
2,528,039
3,984,888

1,017,937
6,654,552
1,998,131
378,314
1,216,690
2,281,372
5,301,464

1,187,425
6,659,581
1,872,165
322,481
1,078,581
1,107,020
3,782,267

1,098,506
6,696,353
2,012,248
305,189
1,155,021
2,246,565
2,045,445

1,395,216
6,697,663
2,105,901
309,231
1,259,898
3,153,342
3,449,689

1,183,677
1,014,068
19,602,465

1,283,566
962,548
21,094,574

1,620,382
1,254,978
18,884,880

1,951,186
1,148,822
18,659,335

5,659,845
1,002,471
25,033,256

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over/(Under) Expenditures

(4,859,407)

(5,974,240)

(2,926,208)

(2,947,537)

(9,661,680)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
General obligation debt issued
Premium on bonds issued
Insurance recoveries
Payment on current refunding
Payment on advanced refunding
Payment of unfunded pension liability
Sale of property
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

1,426,370
(1,329,204)
8,461,554
213,685
(1,630,372)
7,876
7,149,909

1,335,181
(1,237,860)
6,390,000
113,680
93,734
(2,521,049)
3,142
4,176,828

1,548,631
(1,414,800)
12,220,000
120,998
41,889
12,516,718

7,691,962
(7,546,017)
5,290,000
197,040
(1,800,947)
18,309
3,850,347

1,774,524
(3,505,560)
4,070,000
69,064
5,375
2,413,403

Net Change in Fund Balances
Debt Service as a percentage
of noncapital expenditures

$ 2,290,502

$ (1,797,412) $ 9,590,510

11.92%

11.97%

17.46%

$

902,810

17.33%

Past year's revenues and expenditures have not been adjusted for restatements made in future years.
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$ (7,248,277)

29.49%

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Last Ten Years
(concluded)

Revenues
Taxes
Intergovernmental revenue
Regulation and compliance
Fines
Charges for services
Investment income
Other revenues
Total Revenues

2015

2016

Fiscal Year
2017

2018

2019

$ 12,708,644
1,843,614
579,720
448,231
722,921
284,905
317,792
16,905,827

$ 13,413,950
1,853,652
517,085
478,605
446,312
282,564
812,062
17,804,230

$14,876,565
1,997,303
515,585
595,696
593,025
229,379
465,492
19,273,045

$15,501,813
1,952,309
467,034
510,570
406,012
376,729
386,006
19,600,473

$16,014,054
1,793,333
490,860
592,697
801,628
649,864
331,714
20,674,150

Expenditures
Current
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and social services
Culture and recreation
Conservation and development
Capital Outlay
Debt Service
Principal
Interest and fiscal charges
Total Expenditures

1,216,710
6,842,776
2,196,481
307,053
1,395,324
6,108,624
1,693,001

1,343,321
6,867,306
2,156,768
313,375
1,343,612
3,209,468
6,274,662

1,364,520
7,153,461
2,151,909
342,829
1,359,761
764,274
4,479,858

1,392,937
7,257,277
2,298,665
305,598
1,204,130
631,891
4,796,295

1,350,769
7,246,308
2,383,712
310,319
1,255,664
362,982
2,079,224

2,595,165
1,225,769
23,580,903

4,910,250
1,308,986
27,727,748

3,182,474
1,281,606
22,080,692

3,717,560
1,307,978
22,912,331

4,973,137
1,251,345
21,213,460

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over/(Under) Expenditures

(6,675,076)

(9,923,518)

(2,807,647)

(3,311,858)

(539,310)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
General obligation debt issued
Premium on bonds issued
Insurance recoveries
Payment on current refunding
Payment on advanced refunding
Payment of unfunded pension liability
Sale of property
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

2,357,288
(2,188,943)
8,050,000
34,354
8,252,699

4,898,289
(4,723,199)
8,640,000
501,351
22,315
9,338,756

2,958,647
(2,766,728)
985,000
40,111
1,217,030

3,364,751
(3,165,117)
5,275,000
71,928
26,627
5,573,189

4,557,543
(4,350,019)
24,058
231,582

Net Change in Fund Balances
Debt Service as a percentage
of noncapital expenditures

$ 1,577,623

$

16.48%

(584,762) $ (1,590,617) $ 2,261,331

27.73%

23.93%

25.80%

Past year's revenues and expenditures have not been adjusted for restatements made in future years.
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$

(307,728)

31.19%

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
ASSESSED VALUE AND ACTUAL VALUE OF TAXABLE PROPERTY
Last Ten Years

Valuation Collection
Year
Year
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

Residential
Property
1,248,898,500
1,245,011,200
1,239,108,900
1,237,362,500
1,240,487,400
1,226,305,145
1,243,069,000
1,291,525,800
1,294,342,900
1,359,659,400

Commercial
Property

Industrial
Property

230,760,300
234,660,300
229,699,100
234,546,000
251,441,200
263,511,300
291,094,900
305,679,100
314,288,500
361,267,900

-

Personal
Property
9,391,001
9,041,500
10,394,300
9,633,700
9,698,500
8,512,700
9,641,200
12,821,000
9,604,000
9,871,500

Total Taxable
Assessed
Value
1,489,049,801
1,488,713,000
1,479,202,300
1,481,542,200
1,501,627,100
1,498,329,145
1,543,805,100
1,610,025,900
1,618,235,400
1,730,798,800

Total Taxable
Equalized
Value
1,437,686,900
1,419,303,600
1,300,467,300
1,330,875,300
1,431,921,200
1,497,728,300
1,567,602,300
1,634,825,200
1,714,159,900
1,755,222,400

Ratio of
Assessed to
Equalized
Value
103.57%
104.89%
113.74%
111.32%
104.87%
100.04%
98.48%
98.48%
94.40%
98.61%

Source: Wisconsin Department of Revenue
Assessed values are as of January 1 of a given year and are used for the following year's tax revenue. For example: assessed values on
January 1, 2019 are used for the 2019 tax levy which is collected and shown as revenue in 2020.
Total Taxable Assessed Value does not include tax exempt properties; Tax exempt properties are not assigned values.
The Village does not have any industrial or agricultural property.
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
PROPERTY TAX RATES (PER $1,000 OF ASSESSED VALUE)
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Tax Year
Collection Year

2010
2011

2011
2012

2012
2013

2013
2014

2014
2015

2015
2016

2016
2017

2017
2018

2018
2019

2019
2020

Direct Rates
General Fund
Debt Service Fund
Capital Projects Fund
Library Fund
Senior Services
Shorewood Today
Marketing
Total Direct Rate

$ 5.18
0.76
0.27
0.53
0.05
0.00
0.02
6.81

$ 4.31
0.85
0.20
0.53
0.06
0.00
0.02
5.97

$ 6.39
0.68
0.17
0.53
0.06
0.00
0.02
7.85

$ 5.28
0.90
0.36
0.54
0.07
0.00
0.02
7.17

$ 5.33
1.01
0.27
0.54
0.07
0.00
0.03
7.25

$ 5.42
1.06
0.24
0.55
0.07
0.00
0.03
7.37

$ 5.27
1.08
0.29
0.56
0.07
0.00
0.02
7.29

$ 5.07
1.08
0.34
0.55
0.05
0.00
0.00
7.09

$ 5.11
1.13
0.23
0.56
0.07
0.00
0.00
7.10

$ 4.86
1.06
0.22
0.53
0.06
0.00
0.00
6.73

Overlapping Rates
Shorewood School District
Whitefish Bay School
State School Levy Credit
Milwaukee Area Technical College
Milwaukee County
Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District
State Of Wisconsin
TID's
Effective Rate

12.22
0.00
(1.96)
1.79
4.16
1.35
0.16
0.91
$ 25.44 $

12.29
0.00
(1.96)
1.71
4.14
1.33
0.16
2.18
25.80 $

12.19
0.00
(1.97)
1.86
4.43
1.43
0.15
0.05
25.99 $

12.44
0.00
(1.96)
1.91
4.61
1.53
0.15
0.03
25.88 $

12.67
0.00
(1.94)
1.16
4.65
1.57
0.16
1.22
26.75 $

Source: Village Records
Section 66.0602 of the Wisconsin State Statutes imposes a limit on property tax levies.
Generally, the levies are limited to the prior year's tax levy plus the change in debt service, and any
increase in net new construction. For some years presented the limit also included an inflationary
factor or a carryforward provision. Some other specific adjustments to the limits are also allowed.
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13.13
0.00
(2.23)
1.19
4.86
1.65
0.17
1.57
27.72 $

13.02
0.00
(2.20)
1.18
4.78
1.64
0.17
2.28
28.16 $

12.93
0.00
(2.37)
1.17
4.71
1.61
2.47
27.61 $

13.39
0.00
(2.38)
1.18
4.73
1.63
2.75
28.40 $

12.94
0.00
(2.29)
1.09
4.40
1.52
2.70
27.10

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAXPAYERS
Ten Years Ago and Current Year

2009

2019
Total
Assessed
Valuation

Type of
Business

Taxpayer
Estabrook Homes
Sobczak, LLC
River Park Development
Fountainview
Shoreline Realty
Oakland Ave Property LP
Blankstein Enterprises
Peck Properties
Sunrise Shorewood
Robinson Family
Total

Apartments
Commercial
Commercial
Apartments
Commercial
Commercial
Commercial
Commercial
Commercial
Apartments

$ 18,154,700
12,763,821
11,046,000
8,851,939
8,697,780
8,282,500
6,016,882
5,267,821
4,842,200
4,300,000
$ 88,223,643

% of Total
Assessed
Rank Valuation
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

1.21%
0.85%
0.73%
0.59%
0.58%
0.55%
0.40%
0.35%
0.32%
0.29%
5.87%

Taxpayer
MDC Coastal 7, LLC
CHP Shorewood
General Capital LLC
Eastbrook Homes
River Park Development
Kenmore Place
Exchequer LLC
Fountain View
Wired Properties
Shorewood Senior Apts.
Total

Based on total Assessed Value as of January 1,
2009 $ 1,503,438,346
2019 $ 1,730,798,800
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Type of
Business

Total
Assessed
Valuation

Commercial
$ 38,366,692
Commercial
19,905,684
Commercial
19,439,624
Apartments
17,281,809
Commercial
13,798,110
Commercial
12,352,535
Commercial/Mix
9,493,582
Apartments
8,807,241
Commercial
8,269,887
Apartments
7,899,319
$ 155,614,482

% of Total
Assessed
Rank Valuation
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

2.22%
1.15%
1.12%
1.00%
0.80%
0.71%
0.55%
0.51%
0.48%
0.46%
8.99%

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Levy
Year

Collection
Year

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

Total
Tax Levy
10,518,068
9,645,304
12,061,129
10,776,128
10,882,218
11,046,002
11,250,022
11,418,306
11,485,740
11,648,361

Total
Uncollected
12,143
7,998
10,587
3,830
5,911
9,716
6,477
6,675
7,098
5,645,315

Collected within the
Fiscal Year of the Levy
% of
Amount
Levy
10,505,925
9,637,306
12,050,542
10,772,298
10,876,307
11,036,286
11,243,545
11,411,631
11,478,642
6,003,046

99.88%
99.92%
99.91%
99.96%
99.95%
99.91%
99.94%
99.94%
99.94%
51.54%

Tax bills are generated by December 15 of the levy year and are due January 31 of the
following year, or in installments through May 31. After August 15 of the collection year
Milwaukee County takes over any remaining delinquent balances, excluding delinquent
personal property taxes, and pays the Village. Thus any residual uncollected balances
are typically very low.
The most recent year only includes taxes collected through 12/31 of the reporting year.
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
RATIOS OF OUTSTANDING DEBT BY TYPE
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal
Year
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

Governmental
Activities
General
Obligation
Bonds/Notes
21,715,333
24,385,068
34,984,686
36,623,500
35,033,656
40,488,491
43,923,241
42,020,769
43,578,206
38,721,709

Business
Activities
General
Obligation
Bonds/Notes
2,408,712
4,315,478
9,374,397
8,860,374
10,410,687
9,698,275
10,441,889
9,766,117
10,062,264
9,481,141

Total
Primary
Government
24,124,045
28,700,546
44,359,083
45,483,874
45,444,343
50,186,766
54,365,130
51,786,886
53,640,470
48,202,850

Current year adjusted gross income (AGI) data is estimated.
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AGI

500,840,658
496,471,390
451,006,230
466,673,290
473,332,660
540,231,149
541,122,800
546,186,776
602,872,805
600,000,000

% of
Adjusted
Gross
Income
4.82%
5.78%
9.84%
9.75%
9.60%
9.29%
10.05%
9.48%
8.90%
8.03%

Debt
Per Capita
1,807.04
2,178.08
3,368.19
3,453.60
3,449.55
3,807.80
4,125.45
3,914.94
4,055.07
3,610.70

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
RATIOS OF GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal
Year
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

Total
General
Bonded Debt
18,652,079
24,124,045
28,700,546
44,359,083
45,483,874
45,444,343
50,186,766
54,365,130
51,786,886
53,640,470
48,202,850

Ratio of
General
Bonded Debt
to Equalized
Property Value

Total Taxable
Equalized
Value
1,525,289,600
1,437,686,900
1,419,303,600
1,300,467,300
1,330,875,300
1,431,921,200
1,497,728,300
1,567,602,300
1,634,825,200
1,714,159,900
1,755,222,400

Population

General
Bonded Debt
Per Capita

13,360
13,350
13,177
13,170
13,174
13,180
13,178
13,134
13,228
13,315
13,350

1,396.11
1,807.04
2,178.08
3,368.19
3,452.55
3,447.98
3,808.38
4,139.27
3,914.94
4,028.57
3,610.70

1.22%
1.68%
2.02%
3.41%
3.42%
3.17%
3.35%
3.47%
3.17%
3.13%
2.75%

Current year population is an estimate based on municipal expectations.
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
LEGAL DEBT MARGIN INFORMATION
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Year
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

Total Taxable
Equalized
Value
1,525,289,600
1,437,686,900
1,419,303,600
1,300,467,300
1,330,875,300
1,431,921,200
1,497,728,300
1,567,602,300
1,634,825,200
1,714,159,900
1,755,222,400

General
Obligation
Debt
Limit

Debt
Applicable to
Limit

76,264,480
71,884,345
70,965,180
65,023,365
66,543,765
71,596,060
74,886,415
78,380,115
81,741,260
85,707,995
87,761,120

18,652,079
24,124,045
28,700,546
44,359,083
45,483,874
45,444,343
50,186,766
54,365,130
51,786,886
53,640,470
48,202,850

Legal
Debt
Margin
57,612,401
47,760,300
42,264,634
20,664,282
21,059,891
26,151,717
24,699,649
24,014,985
29,954,374
32,067,525
39,558,270

Per Wisconsin State Statutes, municipalities are limited to 5% of the total equalized value.
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Net Debt
as a % of
Limit
24.46%
33.56%
40.44%
68.22%
68.35%
63.47%
67.02%
69.36%
63.35%
62.59%
54.93%

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
COMPUTATION OF DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES DEBT
As of December 31, 2019

Governmental Unit
Village of Shorewood

General Obligation
Bonded Debt
Outstanding
$

Milwaukee Area Technical College
Milwaukee County
Shorewood School District
Whitefish Bay School District
Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewage District
Total Overlapping
Total Direct and Overlapping Debt

38,721,709
101,965,000
532,500,000
50,145,000
9,190,000
815,624,000
1,509,424,000

$

1,548,145,709

Percentage
Applicable
to Village

Amount
Applicable
to Village

100%

$ 38,721,709

2.01%
2.53%
100.0%
0.03%
2.57%

2,049,497
13,472,250
50,145,000
2,757
20,961,537
86,631,040
$ 125,352,749

Source: Outstanding debt obtained from each taxing unit. Percentage applicable is from the
DOR report used for apportionment of county levies.
Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic
boundaries of the Village. This table estimates the portion of the outstanding debt of these
overlapping governments that is borne by the taxpayers of the Village through the taxes
levied by these government agencies.
General obligation debt of the Village's business-type activities are not included above as those
are anticipated to the repaid through user fees, rather than property taxes.
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Year

Population

2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

13,360
13,350
13,177
13,170
13,174
13,180
13,178
13,134
13,228
13,315
13,350

Adjusted
Gross
Income
484,198,620
500,840,658
496,471,390
451,006,230
466,673,290
473,322,660
540,231,149
541,122,800
546,186,776
602,872,805
600,000,000

Per Capita
Adjusted Gross Income
Village of Milwaukee
State of
Shorewood
County
Wisconsin
36,242
37,516
37,677
34,245
35,424
35,912
40,995
41,200
41,290
45,278
44,944

20,195
20,486
20,681
21,433
22,406
22,507
23,939
24,327
24,269
25,780
25,789

23,211
24,218
24,942
26,271
26,963
27,671
29,145
29,711
30,182
31,962
31,760

Unemployment Rates
Milwaukee
State of
County
Wisconsin
9.70%
8.70%
7.90%
8.00%
7.90%
6.00%
5.10%
4.40%
3.10%
3.50%
3.60%

Sources: Adjusted Gross Income for the Village, County and State from the Wisconsin Dept of Revenue
Population from the Wisconsin Department of Administration.
Unemployment rates from the Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development

(1) Unemployment data specific to the Village of Shorewood is not available.
(2) Current year Adjusted Gross Income (AGI) and population data is estimated.
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8.80%
7.40%
6.70%
6.60%
6.30%
4.50%
4.20%
3.70%
2.70%
2.60%
3.50%

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS
Ten Years Ago and Current Year
(continued)

2019

Employer
Metro Market
School District of Shorewood
Village of Shorewood
St. Roberts Parish
Walgreens
Corner Bakery
Ladea Medical Aestetics-Laseer
Shorewood Animal Hospital
Culver's
City Market

Type of Business
Retail/Grocery
Education
Municipal government
Education
Retail/Pharmacy
Restaurant
Medical
Veterinary Care
Restaurant
Restaurant

Total

Number
of
Employees (1) Rank
400
1
300
2
105
3
60
4
40
5
33
6
25
7
22
8
20
9
20
10
1,025

Total employment Milwaukee County

% of Total
County
Employment
0.09%
0.07%
0.02%
0.01%
0.01%
0.01%
0.01%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.22%
461,154

Sources include:
Prior year's Village Official Statements
Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS
Ten Years Ago and Current Year
(concluded)

2009

Employer
School District of Shorewood
Village of Shorewood
Culvers
Ab Data LTD
Catholic Family Life Insurance
Baker's Square
North Shore Bank

Type of Business
Education
Government
Restaurant
Data Services
Insurance
Restaurant
Financial Institution

Total

Number
% of Total
of
County
Employees (1) Rank Employment
348
1
0.08%
104
2
0.02%
54
3
0.01%
50
4
0.01%
45
5
0.01%
33
6
0.01%
23
7
0.01%

657

Total employment Milwaukee County

0.15%
424,919

Sources include:
Prior year's Village Official Statements, limited data prior to 2010
Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
VILLAGE EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM
Last Ten Fiscal Years

2010
Village Employees (1)
General Government
Village manager
Clerk/Customer Service
Finance
Planning and development
Municipal court
Public safety - police
Health (2)
Public works
Culture and Recreation
Library
Senior resource center
Total

2011

2012

2013

Fiscal Year
2014
2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

1.50
5.00
1.94
4.50
1.00
32.00
2.59
22.39

1.80
5.00
2.00
5.50
1.00
31.90
2.81
22.39

2.00
5.00
2.00
5.00
1.00
31.90
21.85

2.00
5.00
2.00
5.00
1.00
31.80
21.85

2.00
5.00
2.00
5.00
1.00
31.80
21.95

2.00
5.00
2.00
5.00
1.00
31.80
21.95

3.00
4.00
2.00
5.00
1.00
30.00
21.95

3.00
4.00
2.00
5.00
1.00
30.00
21.95

3.00
4.00
2.00
5.00
0.75
30.00
21.95

3.00
4.00
2.00
4.00
0.75
30.00
21.95

11.50
0.90
83.32

13.46
0.90
86.76

13.46
0.90
83.11

13.25
1.10
83.00

13.25
1.10
83.10

13.25
1.10
83.10

13.25
1.20
81.40

13.40
1.35
81.70

13.40
1.35
81.45

13.40
1.35
80.45

(1) Information from Village Budget documents
(2) In 2012, the Village consolidated its health department with North Shore Health Department.
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM
Last Ten Fiscal Years

2010

2011

2012

Fiscal Year
2014
2015

2013

2016

2017

2018

2019

Public Safety
Police stations
Patrol vehicles
Fire stations

1
5
1

1
5
1

1
5
1

1
5
1

1
5
1

1
6
1

1
6
1

1
6
1

1
6
1

1
6
1

Public Works
Streets (sq feet)
Streets (miles length)

-

4,676,027

4,676,027

4,676,027

4,676,027

4,676,027

4,726,808

4,726,808

4,726,808

4,726,808

28.04

28.04

28.04

28.04

28.04

28.46

28.46

28.46

28.46

5
63

5
63

5
63

5
63

5
63

5
63

5
63

5
63

5
63

5
63

169,746
291
5
245,383

169,746
308
5
256,609

169,746
310
5
268,763

169,746
310
5
268,763

169,746
310
5
268,763

169,746
310
5
268,763

169,746
312
5
268,763

169,746
312
5
268,763

169,746
312
5
268,763

169,746
312
5
268,763

Culture and recreation
Number of parks
Acreage of parkland
Water, Sewer, and Parking
Feet of water main
Number of hydrants
Municipal owned parking lots
Feet of sewer pipe
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION / PROGRAM
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year
2018
2019
General Government
Building permits issued
Valuation of building permits

575
$

10,890,713

Public Safety - Police
Homicides
Forcible rape
Robbery
Assault
Total crimes against persons
Burglary
Theft
Motor vehicle thefts
Total crimes against property
Total Crimes Reported

-

526
$

20,535,350

-

6
15
21
12
331
31
374
395

1
7
23
31
28
188
10
226
257

2,937
1,039

2,930
1,224

Library
Visitors to the library
Items added
Items owned
Items checked out
Registered borrowers
Reference questions
Computer users
Electronic Media uses
Program attendance

192,037
10,047
315,805
309,427
7,431
20,032
40,122
5,001
22,915

183,508
5,862
316,733
299,789
7,362
18,553
35,883
8,455
9,420

Water Utility
Meters in service
Gallons sold (1,000's)

3,520
313,204

3,535
305,699

DPW
Tons of refuse
Tons of recycling

(1) Various Village departments provided the information shown above.
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO VILLAGE BOARD
Agenda Item: Consider Ordinance 3011 - Amending Section 10, “Smoking Prohibited in Certain Places,” OF Article II,
“General Regulations,” of Chapter 319, “Health and Sanitation,” of the Shorewood Municipal Code and
associated communications plan.

Date: May 18, 2020
Presenter: Rebecca Ewald, Village Manager
Department: Village Manager’s Office
History – Please include a timeline of historical relevant events related to this agenda item. This may include previous

Village Board action, policies, planning documents, etc. If able, hyperlink to previous agenda packets (include page
number) to reference information. If there is no relevant history, N/A should be entered in this space.

1. April 3, 2019 – resident Rod DePue emailed members of the Village Board requesting the Board review
legislation to limit the sale and use of vaping devices and accessories for minors, see attachment.
2. April 5, 2019 – Tr. McKaig responded to Mr. DePue and requested the Village Manager to list this item under
Future Items of Consideration on 4/15.
3. April 5, 2019 – Village Manager Ewald reached out to the North Shore Health Department and requested their
assistance on providing information to the Village Board on e-cigarettes and vaping to give the Board a sense of
the scope of the issue. In addition, they have provided some action steps taken by other municipalities in the
Wisconsin, see the FAQ sheet attached.
4. April 15, 2019 – the Village Board referred to the matter to the Public Safety Committee for review. It was the
recommendation of the Committee to
a. Have the Village Attorney update/change the ordinance that was presented in the June 3 packet to
include the following under 319-10 (E)(c), “All municipal premises and village owned parkland including
Atwater Beach.”
b. Park Board was requested to review and provide a recommendation; PSC did not desire to review after
the Park Board and it should go to the full board for approval.
5. July 9, 2019 – the Parks Commission reviewed the proposed language in regards to vaping and smoking on
municipal premises. They determined to keep the language as is, excluding parkland. The Commission
recommended clarifying the meaning of parkland in the ordinance language if possible (i.e. Beach, Hubbard Park
Lodge, etc.). The Commission would have interest in discussing this topic at a future date to allow more public
input.
6. July 15, 2019 – the Village Board approved an ordinance prohibiting e-cigarettes in all places the State bans
smoking, on all municipal premises, excluding parking land and directed staff to return with a discussion of both
cigarette and e-cigarette smoking at parks and Atwater Beach after obtaining additional public input on the
specific matter of prohibiting e-cigarettes and smoking in public parks and the beach prior to bringing the item
back for Village Board consideration. The following efforts were performed to solicit public input on this subject.
- July 2019 NSHD conducted a survey of beach patrons that reflected 81% of respondents reported that
smoking and vaping should not be allowed at parks within Shorewood, while 90% responded it should not
be allowed at beaches.
- 7/18/19 Update the community and request to receive public input via the Village Manager’s Memo
- 8/1/19 Update on the public comment received via the Village Manager’s Memo
- Letter sent to the BID, Shorewood School District, Russ Davis (Hubbard Park Lodge Leaseholder), Eric Geitzen
(contracted for lifeguard services) and request a response of their views on the subject.
- 8/25/19 Partnered with NSHD for an article in North Shore Now Shorewood could become the first
community in the state to ban smoking at public beaches.
- 10/8/19 Partnered with NSDH for an article in the Ripples Ban on smoking and vaping.
7. Attached is the public input received. Of note is Russ Davis’s request to not ban smoking and e-cigarettes on the
leased premise of Hubbard Park due to the operation of the beer garden and lodge venue which hosts a number
of large events and weddings. Mr. Davis currently has specific locations on his leased premise for smoking

8.

9.
10.
11.

12.

13.
14.

located outside the front door of Hubbard Lodge and the River Club. There is no smoking in the beer garden,
similar to Estabrook beer garden, but in these two designated locations outside each building.
The Village’s current Ordinance 319-10E states the following:
E. Prohibition against smoking. No person shall smoke in any of the following:
a. Any place prohibited by § 101.123, Wis Stats., which are expressly adopted and incorporated herein.
b. Any enclosed indoor area in any place prohibited by § 101.123, Wis Stats.
c. All municipal premises, excluding parkland.
The Village Code suggests that the beach is part of “Atwater Park.” (e.g., 400-2, “…the beach area of Atwater
Park or any of its facilities…”) However, it would be helpful to specify the beach area if it were included in the
ban.
January 14, 2020 – the Parks Commission reviewed the public comment and recommended prohibiting ecigarette and smoking in Village Parks and Atwater Beach, with the exception of the leased premise at Hubbard
Park (River Club, beer garden and Hubbard Lodge).
January 21, 2020 – the Community & Business Relations Committee requested the policy matter come back to
the Committee for further review of the fine amount from Chief Nimmer and reviewing an
educational/communication plan outlined by Director Christensen, see pg.35 of the packet.
February 17, 2020 – the Community & Business Relations Committee reviewed a communication plan to
educate residents and visitors about changes in smoke-free policies and some additional options for
consideration provided by Director Christiansen – NSHD, see pg. 14 of the packet. In conclusion, the Community
& Business Relations Committee recommended staff to identify designated smoking area(s) for Atwater Beach
and consider this change as a beach rule. Proposed education and outreach should be included as well as any
necessary ordinance changes. Motion passed by 3-0 vote.
March 2, 2020 – the Village Board considered approving an implementation of an Atwater Beach rule prohibiting
smoking and e-cigarettes on the beach, except in designated location(s) and for North Shore Health Department
implementation of communications plan with a re-examination of such rule prior to Summer of 2021. The
motion failed 3-3.
March 16, 2020 – two residents requested the Village Board consider prohibiting smoking and e-cigarettes on
the beach. At the same meeting, this item was approved to be listed on a future agenda.
May 4, 2020 – the Village Board approved implementation of a smoke free park policy with the exception of the
leased premises such as Hubbard Park Lodge and the River Club and ask Village staff to return with a proposed
ordinance, communication plan and any other administrative actions regarding the ordinance including a revised
fee and fine schedule prior to implementation of the ordinance.

Agenda Item Discussion – Please provide a summary of the agenda item along with bullet points highlighting the main
items and key issues to be discussed.
Ordinance #3011- Section 10 (“Smoking Prohibited in certain places”) of Chapter 319 of the Shorewood Village Code
(“Health and Sanitation”) already prohibits smoking and the use of electronic smoking devices in public places, in
conjunction with Wis. Stat. Sec. 101.123. Section 319-10 F of the Village Code also currently prohibits smoking on “all
municipal premises, excluding parkland.” (emphasis added) The attached ordinance changes this to “include
parkland.” The definitions section of the existing Village Code is also amended to define “parkland” as “All areas of
Atwater Park, inclusive of the beach, bluff and upper park, Hubbard Park, River Park, Triangle Park, the Village Nature
Preserve, and Humble Park, but excluding the areas of Hubbard Park that are subject to private lease.” These areas are
all the municipal parkland areas defined in Sections 400-2 and 400-3 of the Village Code. The exclusion relates to the
leased premises on which the Hubbard Park Lode, River Lodge, and the adjoining beer garden are situated.
Communication Plan – see attached please provided and to be executed by NSHD.
Enforcement - As previously discussed by the Police Department at the 2/17/20 meeting, the Police Department
understands that tobacco-free outdoor spaces have great social and health benefits. Compliance with the ordinance
would be the goal. Should the police be contacted to enforce the ordinance, they would do so by requesting compliance

with the ordinance; however, the Village needs to have a forfeiture for the violation of the ordinance for those rare
circumstances when compliance cannot be obtained. For your reference, the Village cannot recall the last time a ticket
has been issued for smoking in a prohibited location. Citations as a means of enforcement will remain a last resort to
ensure health equity is taken into consideration.
For the first year of this new ordinance, it is understood that enforcement would be in the manner of requesting
compliance. The police department does not, nor will in the future, be specifically patrolling with the intent to issue
citations for enforcement of the ordinance.
Forfeiture - no amendment needs to be made to the Village “Ordinance Violation Deposit Schedule,” unless the Board
wishes to impose a different amount for smoking in the park than the amount currently imposed for violating the
smoking ban in other places such as bars, restaurants, or municipal properties such as the library or Village Hall.
The ban on smoking in all parks is accomplished by amending Village Code Section 319-10, and changing the language
therein to include parks in the smoking ban where they were previously excluded. This same section previously set a
forfeiture for smoking in any other prohibited place, such as in indoor enclosed spaces such as restaurants, bars,
etc. The Code already says that the penalty for violating the smoking ban in these areas is between $100 and $250. One
could rationalize the fine for smoking in a bar, restaurant, or Village Hall should be the same as smoking in a park.
The only reason staff would need current action from the Board is if it sees fit to set a different fine for smoking in the
park than the current fine for smoking in other prohibited places. If there is a decision to modify the forfeiture, an
amendment would be brought forth at the June 1 meeting.

Community and Business Outreach – If applicable, did you notify the community groups and businesses that
are directly impacted by this agenda item. Please specify in attached communication plan how community
groups and businesses will be informed of action after Village Board consideration.
____ Yes

__X__ No

If Yes, identify how and what community groups and businesses were notified.
Memo and attachments were provided to the BID district and Shorewood School District on Thursday, May 30th prior to consideration by the Public
Safety Committee on June 3.
Memo and attachment were provided again to the BID district and Shorewood School District on Thursday, July 11th prior to consideration by the
Village Board on July 15.
Memo and attachment were provided again to the BID district, Shorewood School District and Russ Davis-Hubbard Lodge on January 15 prior to
consideration by the Community & Business Relations Committee.

Action Required / Recommended – Please include the recommended motion or possible actions for this agenda item.
Possible suggestion: “I moved to approve Ordinance #3011 and associated communications plan.”

Attachments – Please list the following attachments and supporting documents for this agenda item. Some

attachments may be hyperlinked. Include Fiscal notes, if applicable, as the first attachment following this memorandum.
Attachments may include: agreements/contracts, presentation materials, letters, service proposals, etc.
1. Ordinance
2. Communication Plan to Educate Residents and Visitors about Changes in Smoke-Free Policies in the Village
of Shorewood, Wisconsin

STATE OF WISCONSIN

MILWAUKEE COUNTY

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

ORDINANCE NO. 3011
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 10, “SMOKING PROHIBITED IN CERTAIN PLACES,” OF
ARTICLE II, “GENERAL REGULATIONS,” OF CHAPTER 319, “HEALTH AND SANITATION,” OF
THE SHOREWOOD MUNICIPAL CODE
WHEREAS, The health hazards associated with both smoking (including the use of electronic smoking devices)
and second hand smoke are well documented, and the state legislature has already banned smoking in public
spaces and prohibited the sale of cigarettes to those under 18 years of age pursuant to § 101.123, § 134.66, and
§ 254.92, Wis. Stats; and
WHEREAS, the Village wishes to create a smoke free environment in its parks to enhance the health, safety, and
enjoyment of all that utilize these spaces;
NOW THEREFORE, at a regular meeting of the Village Board of the Village of Shorewood, Milwaukee
County, Wisconsin, held on the 18th day of May, 2020, by a favorable vote of the members being present and
therefore, said Board does ordain as follows:
SECTION 1
Subsection “A.,” Definitions,” of Section 10, “Smoking prohibited in certain places,” of Article II, “General
Regulations,” of Chapter 319, “Health and Sanitation,” of the Shorewood Municipal Code is hereby
AMENDED by adding the following definition:
PARKLAND
All areas of Atwater Park, inclusive of the beach, bluff and upper park, Hubbard Park,
River Park, Triangle Park, the Village Nature Preserve, and Humble Park, but excluding
the areas of Hubbard Park that are subject to private lease.
SECTION 2
Subpart “(3),” of Subsection “F.,” of Section 10, “Smoking prohibited in certain places,” of Article II,
“General Regulations,” of Chapter 319, “Health and Sanitation,” of the Shorewood Municipal Code is hereby
AMENDED by replacing the existing language with the following:
(3) All municipal land, including parkland.
SECTION 3
That all Ordinances or parts of Ordinances conflicting with the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby to
such extent repealed.

SECTION 4
That this Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage and posting.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Village Board of the Village of Shorewood, Milwaukee County,
Wisconsin, this 18th day of May, 2020.

Allison Rozek, Village President
Countersigned:

Sara Bruckman, CMC/WCMC, Village Clerk

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO VILLAGE BOARD
Agenda Item: Consider next steps for Milwaukee County Public Health Officers Local Health
Plan guidelines, gating criteria and phased re-opening plan.
Date: May 18, 2020
Presenter: Rebecca Ewald, Village Manager
Department: VMO
History – Please include a timeline of historical relevant events related to this agenda item. This may

include previous Village Board action, policies, planning documents, etc. If able, hyperlink to previous
agenda packets (include page number) to reference information. If there is no relevant history, N/A
should be entered in this space.

1. Wisconsin Statutes – Chapter 251 Local Health Officers
2. Wisconsin State Statutes – Communicable Diseases 252.03 Duties of local health officers.
(1) Every local health officer, upon the appearance of any communicable disease in his or her
territory, shall immediately investigate all the circumstances and make a full report to the
appropriate governing body and also to the department. The local health officer shall promptly
take all measures necessary to prevent, suppress and control communicable diseases, and shall
report to the appropriate governing body the progress of the communicable diseases and the
measures used against them, as needed to keep the appropriate governing body fully informed,
or at such intervals as the secretary may direct. The local health officer may inspect schools and
other public buildings within his or her jurisdiction as needed to determine whether the
buildings are kept in a sanitary condition.
(2) Local health officers may do what is reasonable and necessary for the prevention and
suppression of disease; may forbid public gatherings when deemed necessary to control
outbreaks or epidemics and shall advise the department of measures taken.
(3) If the local authorities fail to enforce the communicable disease statutes and rules, the
department shall take charge, and expenses thus incurred shall be paid by the county or
municipality.
(4) No person may interfere with the investigation under this chapter of any place or its
occupants by local health officers or their assistants.
3. The Intergovernmental Cooperation Council (ICC) for Milwaukee County was formed pursuant
to two Wisconsin Statutes 59.794 and 66.0317. The Chief Elected Official for each municipality
and the County represent their respective community in monthly ICC meetings. The ICC does
not make policy; however, the ICC develops means of cooperation, collaboration, sharing of
services, and best practices that can be implemented across the county. The ICC offers guidance
to the County Executive, receive reports from County departments that serve municipal
constituents and lobbies the state legislature collectively for items that are in the best interest
of Milwaukee County and our various municipalities. The ICC also endorses and recommends
Intergovernmental Agreements back to each respective councils and boards.
4. The ICC members have received weekly debriefs regarding COVID-19 and direct update from the
Unified Emergency Operations Center (UEOC). The UEOC was formed with the support and
guidance from the ICC.

5. May 13, 2020 – the Wisconsin Supreme Court overturned the Governor’s Stay at Home Order.
The same evening the 11 Public Health Officials signed an Order that identified a public health
plan in effect until midnight, May 21, 2020.
6. May 14, 2020 – the North Shore EOC discussed with legal counsel of the North Shore Health
Department steps moving forward.

Agenda Item Discussion – Please provide a summary of the agenda item along with bullet points
highlighting the main items and key issues to be discussed.
Prior to the Wisconsin Supreme Court decision, the 11 Milwaukee County public health officers
completed a proposal for local communities to adopt should the Governor’s order be overturned and
local municipalities be asked to provide re-entry direction. The proposal was brought before the ICC
with a request for the ICC’s endorsement to align Milwaukee County stakeholders. The Plan was
endorsed by a vote of 18-1-1.
Following the Wisconsin Supreme Court decision, the North Shore Health Department is recommending
communities utilize the gating criteria and phased plans as guidelines following expiration of the Order
#1 on May 21, 2020. NSHD will not be issuing additional orders at this time. With the exception of the
City of Milwaukee, the other 18 municipalities will not be issuing orders following expiration of Order
#1. At the time of writing this memo, we are not aware of any other local municipalities passing
additional requirements at this time.
Should the Village Board desire to take additional action, one mechanism could be adoption of a
resolution encouraging use of the guidelines in Shorewood. A third option could be the Village Board
passing an order requiring Shorewood and its businesses to operate in accordance with the gating
criteria and phased re-entry plan with enforcement.
In addition to these documents, the Wisconsin Economic Development Cooperation has provided
guidance for all business to reopen and public facilities. The Department of Public Instruction has been
and will be advising library systems as well.

Community and Business Outreach – If applicable, did you notify the community groups and
businesses that are directly impacted by this agenda item. Please specify in attached
communication plan how community groups and businesses will be informed of action after
Village Board consideration.
____ Yes

__X__ No

If Yes, identify how and what community groups and businesses were notified.
Action Required / Recommended – Please include the recommended motion or possible actions for

this agenda item.

Option 1 (recommendation of NSHD) – utilize the gating criteria and phased re-entry plan as a guideline
upon expiration of Order #1.
Option 2 (municipal option) – pass a resolution encouraging Shorewood and its business to operate in
accordance with the gating criteria and phased re-entry plan upon expiration of Order #1.
Option 3 (municipal option) – pass an order requiring Shorewood and its businesses to operate in
accordance with the gating criteria and phased re-entry plan upon expiration of Order #1 and enforce
the ordinance based upon direction by the Village Board.

Attachments – Please list the following attachments and supporting documents for this agenda item.

Some attachments may be hyperlinked. Include Fiscal notes, if applicable, as the first attachment
following this memorandum. Attachments may include: agreements/contracts, presentation materials,
letters, service proposals, etc.
1. Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County – Order #1 passed 5/13 – Phase A of the Re-Opening
Plan
2. Gating Criteria Guidelines
3. Phased Re-Opening Plan Guidelines

Order #1
COVID-19 Public Health Plan for Suburban Milwaukee County
In December, 2019, a novel strain of the coronavirus was detected, now named COVID-19, and it has
spread throughout the world. COVID-19 was declared a Public Health Emergency of International
Concern on January 30, 2020 and was ultimately declared a pandemic on March 11, 2020.
In Wisconsin, Governor Tony Evers declared a public health emergency on March 12, 2020 and directed
all agencies to support efforts to respond to and contain COVID-19 in Wisconsin. At a national level,
President Donald Trump proclaimed a National Emergency concerning COVID-19 on March 13, 2020.
While we work to slow COVID-19 across those jurisdictions overseen by the undersigned local health
officers (referred to herein collectively as “Milwaukee County”), we are guided by the federal Guidelines
for Opening Up America Again plan and the Wisconsin Badger Bounce Back Plan that both provide
guidance and metrics that are designed to slowly and cautiously reopen businesses and activities in our
communities. The COVID-19 Public Health Plan for Suburban Milwaukee County is based on the
foundations of federal and state guidance to slow the spread of COVID-19 and bring back our economy.
The foundation for most public health and executive guidance has been based on "flattening the curve" to
ensure healthcare capacity is not severely strained.
The prior Wisconsin Safer at Home Order worked to flatten the curve of infections of COVID-19 in
Wisconsin, and Wisconsin saw meaningful gains from this proactive step. Milwaukee County data
demonstrated that there was an initial peak of COVID-19 cases in early April, but COVID-19 cases have
been trending upward in recent weeks and have surpassed the previous peak. With increasing testing
capacity, we anticipate increased detection of new COVID-19 cases in the coming weeks that will
correspond with identifying significant community transmission. This is a crucial time for Milwaukee
County to maintain the momentum in containing COVID-19 in our community and halt further
dissemination of the disease.
We know that the fight to contain COVID-19 is dynamic and ultimately is dependent long-term on the
widespread availability of a vaccine and/or treatment. When deciding what action is necessary given
current law, local health officers within Milwaukee County meticulously considered various criteria
including: the rate of spread of COVID-19 in Wisconsin; the health care capacity to meet the needs of the
state; the testing, contact tracing, and isolation capacity in the state; the availability of personal protective
equipment (“PPE”) for healthcare workers, first responders, and other public servants that are required to
perform face-to-face services; and the economic needs of Wisconsin and Wisconsinites.
COVID-19 Public Local Health Plan for Suburban Milwaukee County. Based on the Wisconsin
Supreme Court decision today, May 13, 2020, the local health departments in suburban Milwaukee
County are issuing this order to continue controlling COVID-19 disease transmission throughout
Milwaukee County. This plan outlines the measures needed now in Milwaukee County based on the
above factors. Recognizing that Milwaukee County has made great progress in flattening the curve, we
focus on the importance of continuation and resumption of businesses and activities for sectors of our
economy that are able to operate with Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements and Safe
Business Practices in place. Future decisions will be based on the COVID-19 data for the county and
upcoming orders will necessarily remain fluid and will be based on the above factors as well as emerging
data and research.
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Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 252.03(1)&(2), the undersigned local health officers from the undersigned
municipal health departments of Cudahy; Franklin; Greendale; Greenfield; Hales Corners; Oak Creek;
North Shore (Bayside, Brown Deer, Fox Point, Glendale, River Hills, Shorewood, and Whitefish Bay);
South Milwaukee/St. Francis; Wauwatosa; and West Allis/West Milwaukee in Milwaukee County order
the following within their respective jurisdictions:
1. Definitions. The following definitions apply to this order.
a. Child Care Setting. "Child Care Setting" means all licensed and certified child care
providers caring for any age or ages of children up to 18 years of age.
b. Essential Government Functions. “Essential Government Functions” include all
services provided by the State, Tribal, or local governments needed to ensure the
continuing operation of the government body and provide and support the health, safety,
and welfare of the public. Each government body shall determine its Essential
Government Functions, if any, and identify employees and contractors necessary to the
performance of those functions.
c. Minimum Basic Operations. All for-profit and not for profit businesses shall be allowed
to operate in order to perform the following minimum basic operations provided they
comply with Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements and Safe
Business Practices:
i. Basic functions. The minimum necessary activities to maintain the value of the
business's inventory, preserve the condition of the business's physical plant and
equipment, ensure security, process payroll and employee benefits, or for related
functions, including where these functions are outsourced to other entities.
ii. Facilitating remote work. The minimum necessary activities to facilitate
employees of the business being able to continue to work remotely from their
residences.
iii. Delivery and mailings. Minimum Basic Operations may include fulfilling
nonessential deliveries, mailing parcels, or receiving parcels. Delivery or parcel
services may not require a signature by the recipient.
d. Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements. For purposes of this order
and to the extent possible under applicable laws including but not limited to the
Americans with Disabilities Act, “Physical Distancing and Protective Measure
Requirements” means:
i. Maintaining physical distancing of six (6) feet between people not residing in a
single living unit or household;
ii. Washing hands with soap and water for at least 20 seconds as frequently as
possible or using hand sanitizer;
iii. Covering coughs or sneezes (into the sleeve or elbow, not hands);
iv. Regularly cleaning high-touch surfaces;
v. Not shaking hands;
vi. Use of a mask or cloth face covering. Note: the use of masks or cloth face
coverings is strongly recommended but shall not be required due to equity
concerns regarding the challenges that either may cause for individuals because
of disabilities and/or shortages of PPE; and
2

vii. Following all other public health recommendations issued by State of Wisconsin
Department of Health Services, Milwaukee County Department of Health &
Human Services and the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
e. Safe Business Practices. For purposes of this order and to the extent possible under
applicable laws including but not limited to the Americans with Disabilities Act, “Safe
Business Practices” means:
i. Establishing, to the extent possible, curbside pick-up to reduce in-store traffic
and mitigate outdoor lines;
ii. Establishing entry lines outside of the store with markings for patrons to enable
them to stand at least six (6) feet apart from one another while waiting to enter a
store. Stores are encouraged to also use alternatives to lines, including allowing
customers to wait in their vehicles for a text message or phone call and
scheduling pick-ups or entries to the store;
iii. Ensuring one way traffic in shopping aisles;
iv. Increasing standards of facility cleaning and disinfection to limit worker and
patron exposure to COVID-19, as well as adopt protocols to clean and disinfect
in the event of a positive COVID-19 case in the workplace;
v. Adopting policies to prevent workers from entering the premises if they display
respiratory symptoms or have had contact with a person with a confirmed
diagnosis of COVID-19; and
vi. Complying with Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements.
2. Continuation and Resumption of Businesses and Activities. The following businesses and
activities are allowed to continue operations in accordance with the conditions contained herein:
a. Essential Government Functions. Essential government functions may continue to
operate at the level determined by each local municipality.
i. All employees shall comply with Physical Distancing and Protective Measure
Requirements.
ii. Government bodies should continue to follow the Wisconsin Department of
Justice's Office of Open Government guidance regarding holding government
meetings and should consult directly with that office regarding specific open
meetings questions. i Government bodies with additional questions about open
meetings requirements should consult with the Wisconsin Department of
Justice's Office of Open Government.
b. Healthcare & Public Health Operations. All healthcare and public health operations
may operate. Healthcare and Public Health Operations shall be broadly construed to
avoid any impediments to the delivery of healthcare, broadly defined. Such
establishments shall:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
c. Human Service Operations. For purposes of this order, individuals may leave their
residence to work for or obtain services at any state, institutional, or community-based
setting providing human services to the public.
Human Service Operations includes, but is not limited to: long-term care and assisted
living facilities, as long as the facility follows all current DHS Recommendations for
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Prevention of COVID-19 in Long-Term Facilities and Assisted Living Facilities and all
applicable U.S. Centers for Disease Control Recommendations; residential settings and
shelters for adults, seniors, children, victims of domestic abuse, people with disabilities,
people with substance use disorders, or mental illness; transitional facilities; home-based
settings to provide services to individuals with physical, intellectual, or developmental
disabilities, seniors, adults, or children; adult day care, adult day services, and supportive
home care; field offices that provide and help to determine eligibility for basic needs
including food, cash assistance, medical coverage, vocational services, or rehabilitation
services; developmental centers; adoption agencies; businesses that provide food, shelter,
social services, or other necessities of life for economically disadvantaged individuals,
individuals with physical, intellectual, or developmental disabilities, or otherwise needy
individuals.
Human Services Operations shall be construed broadly to avoid any impacts to the
delivery of human services, broadly defined.
d. Essential Infrastructure. For purposes of this Order, individuals may leave their
residence to provide any services or perform any work necessary to offer, provide,
operate, maintain, and repair Essential Infrastructure.
Essential Infrastructure includes, but is not limited to: food production, distribution,
fulfillment centers, storage facilities, marinas, and sales; construction (including, but not
limited to, construction required in response to this public health emergency, hospital
construction, construction of long-term care and assisted living facilities, public works
construction, school construction, Essential Business and Operations construction,
construction necessary for Essential Governmental Functions, and housing construction,
except that optional or aesthetic construction should be avoided except as permitted as a
Minimum Basic Operation); building management and maintenance; airport operations;
operation and maintenance of utilities, including water, sewer, gas, and electric
(including power generation, distribution, production of raw materials, and Wisconsin
Department of Natural Resources-certified and registered drinking water and wastewater
testing laboratories); Wisconsin Home Energy Assistance, Low Income Home Energy
Assistance Program, and Public Benefits Energy Assistance Program offices, customer
service centers, and public intake centers; distribution centers; oil and biofuel refining;
roads, highways, railroads, and public transportation; ports; cybersecurity operations;
flood control; solid waste and recycling collection and removal; and internet, video, and
telecommunications systems (including the provision of essential global, national, and
local infrastructure for computing services, business infrastructure, communications, and
web-based services).
Essential Infrastructure shall be construed broadly to avoid any impacts to essential
infrastructure, broadly defined.
e. Stores that sell groceries and medicine. Grocery stores, bakeries, pharmacies, farm and
produce stands, supermarkets, food banks and food pantries, convenience stores, and
other establishments engaged in the retail sale of groceries, canned food, dry goods,
frozen foods, fresh fruits and vegetables, pet supply, fresh meats, fish, poultry, prepared
food, alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages, and any other household consumer products
(such as cleaning and personal care products). Such establishments shall:
i. Close all seating intended for consuming food;
ii. Cease any self-service operations of salad bars, beverage stations, and buffets;
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iii. Except for grocery stores, prohibit customers from self-dispensing all
unpackaged food;
iv. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
v. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
This section should not be interpreted to provide an exemption for businesses engaged in
the sale of food or beverage ancillary to their primary purpose, such as those businesses
required to close under Section 5 of this order who also may engage in some food or
beverage sales.
f.

Food and beverage production, transport, and agriculture. Food and beverage
manufacturing, production, processing, transportation, and cultivation; farming,
livestock, fishing, baking, and other production agriculture, including cultivation,
marketing, production, and distribution of animals and goods for consumption;
businesses that provide food, shelter, and other necessities of life for animals, including
animal shelters, boarding, rescues, kennels, and adopting facilities; farm and agriculture
equipment, supplies, and repair services may operate.

g. Retail Establishments. Retail establishments, including indoor shopping malls, may
remain open. Such establishments shall:
i. Limiting the number of individuals in a location to either 25% of the total
occupancy limits established by the local municipality or four (4) individuals per
1,000 square feet of customer floor space;
ii. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
iii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
h. Restaurants. Restaurants may remain open only if they remain in compliance with the
following:
i. Restaurants may remain open for food take-out or delivery service only;
ii. Alcohol sales shall comply with Section 2(g) below;
iii. Customers may enter the above establishments only for the purpose of ordering,
pick-up, and paying for food or beverages or both;
iv. No seating may be provided;
v. Food and drink may not be consumed on premises, either indoors or outdoors;
vi. Establishments shall meet Physical Distancing and Protective Measure
Requirements among all individuals on the premises to the extent possible;
vii. Restaurants shall cease any self-service operations of salad bars, beverage
stations, and buffets; and
viii. Customers are prohibited from self-dispensing any unpackaged food or beverage.
i.

Bars. This includes breweries, brewpubs, wineries, distilleries, and alcohol beverage
retailers. Such establishments may remain open only if they remain in compliance with
the following:
i. Carryout sales of alcohol beverages and food are allowed if permitted by state
law and municipal ordinance;
ii. Delivery of alcohol beverages to retail customers is prohibited;
iii. Wineries holding direct wine shippers’ permits may make deliveries of wine in
accordance with their permit;
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iv. Breweries, wineries, and distilleries may continue manufacturing functions with
Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements in place;
v. Customers may enter the above establishments only for the purpose of ordering,
pick up, and paying for food or beverage or both;
vi. No seating may be provided;
vii. Food and drink may not be consumed on premises, either indoors or outdoors;
and
viii. Establishments shall meet Physical Distancing and Protective Measure
Requirements among all individuals on the premises to the extent possible.
j.

Salons and Spas: Hair salons, barber shops, nail salons, day spas, electrolysis providers,
waxing salons, eyebrow-care establishments, tattoo parlors, body art establishments, and
tanning facilities may open with Physical Distancing and Protective Measure
Requirements and the following precautions in place:
i. All workstations shall be at least six (6) feet apart;
ii. Only one client per individual providing services to clients is allowed in the
business or facility at a time. No individuals should congregate in a common
waiting area before or after their appointment;
iii. Staff shall wear a mask or cloth face covering while in the business or facility.
Clients shall wear a mask or cloth face covering to the extent feasible while in
the business or facility;
iv. Staff and clients shall be screened for COVID-19 symptoms upon entering the
business or facility.
v. Chairs and workstations shall be sanitized after each client per the U.S. Centers
for Disease Control and Prevention ii; and
vi. All appointments shall be scheduled by phone or online. No walk-in clients are
allowed.

k. Car washes. Entirely automatic car washes and self-service car washes may open for
service and must comply with Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements.
l.

Aesthetic or optional exterior work. Aesthetic or optional exterior residential
construction and lawn care may resume. All individuals must abide by Physical
Distancing and Protective Measures to the extent possible.

m. Recreation Activities. Recreation activities in which Physical Distancing and Protective
Measure Requirements can be achieved will be allowed with the following restrictions in
place:
i. Team and contact sports and recreation activities are prohibited;
ii. All reservations and payments for activities must be made online or by phone.
No cash payments shall be accepted; and
iii. All rental equipment must be sanitized after each use.
n. Outdoor Playground Equipment. Outdoor playground equipment may be opened with
individuals practicing Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements to the
extent possible.
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o. Public beaches. Public beaches will be open for moving through while walking, running,
or biking with individuals and pets practicing Physical Distancing and Protective
Measure Requirements. Swimming as well as team and contact sports on public beaches
remain prohibited.
p. Driving ranges. Driving ranges may open with individuals practicing Physical
Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements and the following precautions in place:
i. Bays in use must be at least six (6) feet apart; and
ii. All appointments shall be scheduled, and payments shall be made online or by
phone.
q. Outdoor recreational rentals. Recreational equipment rentals, including but not limited
to boats, kayaks, canoes, paddle boats, golf carts, snowmobiles, and ATVs, may be open
with the following precautions in place:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements;
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices;
iii. Business must schedule pick-up and drop-off times; and
iv. Rented equipment must be cleaned after each use.
r.

Manufacture, distribution, and supply chain for critical products and industries.
Manufacturing companies, distributors, and supply chain companies producing and
supplying essential products and services in and for industries such as pharmaceutical,
technology, biotechnology, healthcare, chemicals and sanitation, waste pickup and
disposal, agriculture, food and beverage, transportation, energy, steel and steel products,
petroleum and fuel, mining, construction, national defense, communications, and products
used by other Essential Governmental Functions and Essential Businesses and Operations.

s. Organizations that Provide Charitable and Social Services. Businesses and religious
and secular nonprofit organizations, including prevocational group supportive
employment, food banks and food pantries may be open with the following precautions in
place:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
t.

Media. Newspapers, television, radio, and other media services may operate. Such
establishments shall:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.

u. Gas Stations and Businesses Needed for Transportation. Gas stations; auto and
motorcycle supply, repair and sales; boat supply, repair, and sales; and bicycle supply,
repair, and sales may operate. Such establishment shall:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
v. Financial Institutions and Services. Banks, credit unions, and other depository or
lending institutions; licensed financial service providers; insurance services; personnel
necessary to perform essential functions at broker dealers and investment advisor offices
may operate. Such establishments shall:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
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ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
w. Hardware and Supply Stores. Hardware stores and businesses that sell electrical,
plumbing, heating, and construction material may operate. Such businesses shall:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
x. Critical Trades. Building and Construction Tradesmen and Tradeswomen, and other
trades including but not limited to plumbers, electricians, carpenters, laborers, sheet
metal, iron workers, masonry, pipe trades, fabricators, finishers, exterminators, pesticide
application, cleaning and janitorial staff for commercial and governmental properties,
security staff, operating engineers, HVAC, painting, moving and relocation services,
forestry and arborists, and other service providers who provide services that are necessary
to maintaining the safety, sanitation, and operation of residences may operate. Such
establishments shall:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices
y. Mail, Post, Shipping, Logistics, Delivery, and Pick-up Services. Post offices and other
businesses that provide shipping and delivery services, and businesses that ship or deliver
groceries, food, beverages, goods or services to end users or through commercial
channels may operate. Such establishments shall:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
z. Laundry Services. Laundromats, dry cleaners, industrial laundry services, and laundry
service providers may operate. Such establishments shall:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
aa. Supplies to work from home. Businesses that sell, manufacture, or supply products
needed for people to work from home.
bb. Transportation. Airlines, taxis, transportation network providers (such as Uber and
Lyft), vehicle rental services, paratransit, and other private, public, and commercial
transportation and logistics may operate. Such establishments shall:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
cc. Home-based Care and Services. Home-based care for seniors, adults, children, or
people with disabilities, substance use disorders, or mental illness, including caregivers or
nannies who may travel to the child's home to provide care, and other in-home services
including meal delivery may operate. To the extent feasible, such services shall:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
dd. Professional Services. Professional services, such as legal or accounting services,
insurance services, real estate services (including appraisal, home inspection, and title
services). These services should, to the greatest extent possible, use technology to avoid
meeting in person, including virtual meetings, teleconference, and remote work (i.e. work
from home). Such establishments shall
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i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
ee. Critical Labor Union Functions. Activities include the administration of health and
welfare funds and personnel checking on the well-being and safety of members providing
services, provided the checks are done by telephone or remotely where possible. Such
activities shall:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
ff. Hotels and Motels. Hotels and motels, except that such establishments shall:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements;
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices;
iii. Close swimming pools, hot tubs, and exercise facilities; and
iv. Prohibit guests from congregating in lobbies or other common areas, including
providing adequate space to adhere to Social Distancing Requirements while
queuing for front desk services.
gg. Child Care Settings. Child Care Settings will be allowed with the following restrictions:
i. Child Care Settings may not operate at more than 50 children and 10 staff or
25% of the total occupancy limits established by the local municipality present at
a time unless otherwise provided for by order of the Wisconsin Department of
Health Services;
ii. To the extent possible, adults shall practice Physical Distancing and Protective
Measure Requirements and follow all other Department of Health Services
public health guidance while picking up and dropping off children at the Child
Care Setting;
iii. Child Care Settings operating under this order shall follow the Department of
Children and Families Guidance Order #2, or any order superseding that order iii;
and
iv. Child Care Settings are encouraged to prioritize access to their services as
follows
1. Tier 1: employees, independent contractors, and other support staff
working in health care.
2. Tier 2: employees, independent contractors, and other staff in vital areas
including but not limited to military; long term care; residential care;
pharmacies; child care; child welfare; government operations; public
safety and critical infrastructure such as sanitation, transportation,
utilities, telecommunications; grocery and food services; supply chain
operations; and other sectors as determined by the undersigned health
officers.
3. Tier 3: all other individuals.
hh. Other. All other for-profit and not for profit businesses and activities within Milwaukee
County may remain open. Such establishments shall:
i. Abide by Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements; and
ii. Abide by Safe Business Practices.
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4. Gatherings. For all public and private gatherings, the following COVID-19 mitigation strategies
shall be considered and implemented to the extent possible:
a. Comply with Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements;
b. Comply with mass gathering size limits determined by the U.S. Centers for Disease
Control and Preventionv. The gathering size limit for this Order is fewer than 10
individuals.
c. Minimize sharing of frequently touched objects consistent with the community or
individual’s traditions and in consultation with local health officials as needed;
d. Food or beverage offerings should be provided in, pre-packaged boxes or bags for each
attendee to avoid possible COVID-19 transmittal from sharing common dishes at a buffet
or family-style meal; and
e. Postpone or cancel mass gatherings if it is not possible to significantly reduce the number
of attendees within a confined area; and
f. Nothing in this order prohibits the gathering of members of a single household or living
unit.
5. Closures. All of the following facilities shall be closed except for the purposes and under the
conditions expressly stated herein.
a. Schools: Public and private K-12 schools shall remain closed for pupil instruction and
extracurricular activities for the remainder of the 2019-2020 school year, which ends on
6/30/2020. Schools may continue to facilitate distance or virtual learning. School
buildings and property may continue to be used for Essential Government Functions and
food distribution. Food distribution shall comply with Physical Distancing and Protective
Measure Requirements.
b. Places of Public Amusement and Activity: Whether indoors or outdoors, places of
public amusement and activity shall remain closed, including but not limited to the
following: amusement parks, conference centers, stadiums, dance clubs, escape rooms,
carnivals, water parks, licensed public or private swimming pools, splash pads,
aquariums, zoos, museums, arcades, fairs, children’s play centers, funplexes, theme
parks, bowling alleys, movie and other theaters, concert and concert halls, country clubs,
social clubs, miniature golf, and gyms and fitness centers.
c. Auctions. All in-person auctions shall be closed. This includes agricultural equipment
auctions; animal auctions for competition; consignment sales; antiques and collectibles;
art; autos and motorcycles; boats and personal watercraft; cars; coins and currency;
collector cars and vintage equipment; government surplus property and seizures; heavy
equipment and construction machinery; household goods; industrial and manufacturing
equipment; intellectual property; jewelry; off-road and recreational vehicles; restaurant
equipment; tools; and trucks, trailers, and transportation-related equipment.
i. Auctions may continue as virtual auctions or online auctions.
ii. All auction preparations, meetings, inventory review, and consumer preview of
goods shall occur virtually.
iii. After a virtual or online auction, the auctioneer or auction company may deliver,
mail, or provide curb-side pick-up of goods if it can be done by one person in a
room or confined space, including a vehicle.
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iv. Delivery, curb-side pick-up, or parcel services cannot require a signature by the
recipient.
d. Residential Cleaning Services. Residential cleaning service providers shall remain
closed.
e. Chartered Fishing Excursions. Chartered fishing excursion providers shall remain
closed.
f.

Garage Sales, Rummage Sales, and Yard Sales. Garage sales, rummage sales, and yard
sales shall remain closed. Individual person to person sales of items, such as on Facebook
Marketplace or Craigslist, shall occur while complying with Physical Distancing and
Protective Measure Requirements and Safe Business Practices. Measures should be taken
to avoid using cash in these transactions, and electronic means of payment should be used
whenever possible. Individuals shall comply with Physical Distancing and Protective
Measure Requirements during any such exchange.

g. Photographers. Photography studios shall remain closed except for the following:
i. Photographers may photograph outdoors while practicing Physical Distancing
and Protective Measure Requirements.
ii. Photographers may photograph gatherings that are being held in accordance with
Section four (4) of this order. Photographers shall comply with Physical
Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements and follow all other public
health recommendations issued by the Wisconsin Department of Health Services
and U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
h. Libraries. Libraries shall remain closed for services except for the following:
i. Online services and programming; and
ii. Curb-side pick-up of books and other library materials, if all operations are
performed in compliance with Physical Distancing and Protective Measure
Requirements to the extent possible. Materials shall be requested online or by
phone before pick-up. The library may not require a signature from the patron.
The library shall schedule pick-ups and ensure compliance with Physical
Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements.
i.

Institutions of Higher Education. Public and private higher educational institutions
shall remain closed for pupil instruction and for extracurricular activities for the
remainder of the 2019-2020 school year. Institutions may continue to facilitate distance
or virtual learning and perform critical research and essential functions as determined by
the institution. Facilities may continue to be used for Essential Government Functions.

6. Long-Term Care Facilities and Congregate Facilities. No outside visitors are permitted in longterm care facilities or congregate facilities.
7. Shared Spaces. Unless otherwise provided for herein, all individuals present in Milwaukee County
using shared or outdoor spaces or any place other than their home or residence shall, to the extent
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possible, comply with Physical Distancing and Protective Measure Requirements. This requirement
shall not apply to individuals experiencing homelessness.
8. Local Orders. This order does not preclude any undersigned local health officer from addressing
localized outbreaks with a localized order. Such order may include instituting tailored restrictions
based on the needs of a particular location or municipality. Municipalities, businesses, and other
entities may implement policies that are more restrictive than this order for protection of the public
health.
9. DHS and CDC Guidelines. All individuals, organizations, government bodies, and any other
permitted group of individuals shall, to the extent possible, follow all applicable guidelines that are
more restrictive than this order when taking any action permitted under this order.
10. Enforcement. This order is enforceable by any local law enforcement officials including county
sheriffs or by the local public health officer within the relevant jurisdiction. Violation or obstruction
of this order is punishable under Wis. Stat. § 252.25 or any local ordinance in conformity therewith.
11. Duration. This order shall become effective immediately. This order shall remain in effect until
11:59pm on Thursday, May 21st, 2020.
12. Severability. If any provision of this order or its application to any person or circumstance is held to
be invalid, then the remainder of this order, including the application of such part or provision to
other persons or circumstances, shall not be affected and shall continue in full force and effect. To
this end, the provisions of this order are severable.
13. ADA Notice. Please note: Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of
disabled individuals through sign language interpreters or other auxiliary aids. For additional
information, or to request this service, contact the local health department in your jurisdiction via the
contact information provided in that local health department’s signature block.

IT IS SO ORDERED BY THE PUBLIC HEALTH OFFICERS OF THE FOLLOWING
MUNICIPALITIES OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY.

_________________________________
Cudahy Health Officer, Katie Lepak, MS

Courtney Day, RN, BSN
_________________________________
Franklin Health Officer, Courtney Day, RN, BSN
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_________________________________
Greendale Public Health Officer, Sue Shepeard

_________________________________
Greenfield Health Officer, Darren Rausch, MS, CPH

_________________________________
Hales Corners Health Officer, Kathy Radloff, RN

_________________________________
North Shore Health Officer, Ann Christianson, MPH

_________________________________
Oak Creek Health Officer, Darcy DuBois, MPH

_________________________________
South Milwaukee/St. Francis Public Health Officer, Jacqueline Ove, MS, BSN, RN
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_________________________________
Wauwatosa Health Director, Laura Conklin, MPH

Robert Leischow
_________________________________
West Allis Health Commissioner, Robert Leischow, MPH

i

As of the date of this order the most recent guidance is available at: https://www.doj.state.wi.us/sites/default/files/newsmedia/3.20.20_OOG_Final.pdf
ii As of the date of this order the “Cleaning and Disinfecting Your Facility” guidelines are available at:
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/disinfecting-building-facility.html
iiiAs of the date of this order the most recent guidance is available at: https://dcf.wisconsin.gov/files/press/2020/dcf-order-2covid-19.pdf
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Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County
Phased Re-Opening Plan for Milwaukee County
Action

Assessment Timeline to
move to Next Phase

SAFER AT HOME
Governor’s
Emergency Order
#28

Gating Criteria
Established in Badger
Bounce back

LOCAL HEALTH PLAN
PHASE A

PHASE B
When all Gating
Criteria are met

PHASE C
PHASE D
Based on
Based on
re-evaluation of Gating re-evaluation of
Criteria
Gating Criteria

 Assess at a minimum of 14 days after implementation, one incubation
cycle for COVID-19.
 If all Gating Criteria are at least yellow, move to next Phase.
 If any Gating Criteria are red during Phase, continue to reassess every 7
days.

If any Gating Criteria
have changed to red
during Phase, move
back to Phase 2 and
continue to reassess
every 7 days until
widespread
protections are
available, i.e.
vaccine and/or
treatment.

CONTINUATION AND RESUMPTION OF BUSINESSES AND ACTIVITIES

Open Essential Government
Functions

Assure safe business
practices are in place

Healthcare and Public Health
Operations

Assure safe business
practices are in place

Page 1 of 9

Yes, when recommended
Yes, when recommended Yes, when recommended
physical distancing
physical distancing,
physical distancing,
guidelines, protective
protective measures and protective measures and
measures and safe
safe business practices are safe business practices are
business practices are in
in place
in place
place
Yes, when recommended Yes, when recommended Yes, when recommended
physical distancing,
physical distancing,
physical distancing,
protective measures and protective measures and protective measures and
safe business practices safe business practices are safe business practices are
are in place
in place
in place

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Revised 5.10.2020

*The plan displays guidelines and a road map of the future phases for the Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County. Progression into the specific phases will be based on the
Gating Criteria. The plan is subject to modification based on careful analysis of available data, public health intelligence and evaluation of status before transitioning to
subsequent phases.

Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County
Phased Re-Opening Plan for Milwaukee County
Action

SAFER AT HOME
Governor’s
Emergency Order
#28

LOCAL HEALTH PLAN
PHASE A

PHASE B
When all Gating
Criteria are met

PHASE C
PHASE D
Based on
Based on
re-evaluation of Gating re-evaluation of
Criteria
Gating Criteria

CONTINUATION AND RESUMPTION OF BUSINESSES AND ACTIVITIES, continued
Stores that Sell Groceries and
Medicine

Food Production, Transport,
and Agriculture

Retail Establishments

Restaurants

Bars
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Yes, when recommended Yes, when recommended Yes, when recommended
physical distancing,
physical distancing,
physical distancing,
Minimum operations protective measures and protective measures and protective measures and
safe business practices safe business practices are safe business practices are
are in place
in place
in place
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)
Yes, with limits on
Yes, with limits on capacity Yes, with limits on capacity
Only essential, with capacity of 25% and safe
of 50% and safe business of 75% and safe business
curbside
business practices are in
practices are in place
practices are in place
place
Yes, with limits on capacity
Yes, with limits on capacity
of 50% when
75% when recommended
No, but allow take-out, No, but allow take-out, recommended physical
physical distancing,
delivery, and curbside delivery, and curbside
distancing, protective
protective measures and
food take-out.
food take-out.
measures and safe
safe business practices are
business practices are in
in place
place
Yes, with limits on capacity Yes, with limits on capacity
of 25% when
of 50% when
recommended physical
recommended physical
No, but allow take-out No, but allow take-out
distancing, protective
distancing, protective
and delivery.
and delivery.
measures and safe
measures and safe
business practices are in business practices are in
place
place

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Yes
Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)
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Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County
Phased Re-Opening Plan for Milwaukee County
Action

SAFER AT HOME
Governor’s
Emergency Order
#28

LOCAL HEALTH PLAN
PHASE A

PHASE B
When all Gating
Criteria are met

PHASE C
PHASE D
Based on
Based on
re-evaluation of Gating re-evaluation of
Criteria
Gating Criteria

CONTINUATION AND RESUMPTION OF BUSINESSES AND ACTIVITIES, continued
Yes, with limits on capacity
Yes, with limits on capacity
Yes, one client per service
of 50% with
of 75% with
provider and compliance recommended protective
recommended protective
with other listed
measures and safe
measures and safe
precautions.
business practices in
business practices in place
place.

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Salons and Spas

No

Car Washes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Exterior Work

Yes

Yes

Yes with protective
measures

Yes with protective
measures

Yes

Closed, with exceptions

Open, limited to group
sizes and protective
measures

Auctions

No

Closed, with exceptions

Residential Cleaning Services

No

No

Photographers

No

Limited

Organizations that Provide
Charitable and Social Services
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Yes, with protective
Yes, with protective
measures and safe
measures and safe
business practices in place business practices in place
Limited to group sizes

Limited to group sizes

Yes, when recommended Yes, when recommended Yes, when recommended
physical distancing,
physical distancing,
physical distancing,
Yes, with safe business
protective measures and protective measures and protective measures and
practices in place
safe business practices safe business practices are safe business practices are
are in place
in place
in place

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Yes
Yes
Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)
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Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County
Phased Re-Opening Plan for Milwaukee County
SAFER AT HOME
PHASE B
Governor’s
Action
When all Gating
LOCAL HEALTH PLAN
Emergency Order
Criteria are met
PHASE A
#28
CONTINUATION AND RESUMPTION OF BUSINESSES AND ACTIVITIES, continued
Media

Yes, with safe business
practices in place

Gas Stations and Businesses
Needed for Transportation

Yes, with safe business
practices in place

Financial Institutions and
Services

Yes, with safe business
practices in place

Hardware and Supply Stores

Yes, with safe business
practices in place
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PHASE C
Based on
re-evaluation of
Gating Criteria

Yes, when recommended Yes, when recommended Yes, when recommended
physical distancing,
physical distancing and
physical distancing and
protective measures and protective measures and protective measures and
safe business practices safe business practices are safe business practices are
are in place
in place
in place
Yes, with recommended
Yes, recommended
Yes, recommended
protective measures and protective measures and protective measures and
safe business practices in safe business practices in safe business practices in
place
place
place
Yes, when recommended Yes, when recommended Yes, when recommended
physical distancing,
physical distancing,
physical distancing,
protective measures and protective measures and protective measures and
safe business practices safe business practices are safe business practices are
are in place
in place
in place
Yes, when recommended Yes, when recommended Yes, when recommended
physical distancing,
physical distancing,
physical distancing,
protective measures and protective measures and protective measures and
safe business practices safe business practices are safe business practices are
are in place
in place
in place

PHASE D
Based on
re-evaluation of
Gating Criteria
Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Yes

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)
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Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County
Phased Re-Opening Plan for Milwaukee County
SAFER AT HOME
PHASE B
LOCAL HEALTH PLAN
Governor’s
Action
When all Gating
Emergency Order
PHASE A
Criteria are met
#28
CONTINUATION AND RESUMPTION OF BUSINESSES AND ACTIVITIES, continued
Critical Trades

Mail, Post, Shipping, Logistics,
Delivery, and Pick-Up Services

Laundry Services

Transportation

Yes, with physical
distancing and protective
Yes, with safe business
measures and safe
practices in place
business practices in
place
Yes, with physical
distancing and protective
Yes, with safe business
measures and safe
practices in place
business practices in
place
Yes, with physical
distancing and protective
Yes, with safe business
measures and safe
practices in place
business practices in
place

PHASE C
Based on
re-evaluation of
Gating Criteria

Yes, with physical
Yes, with physical
distancing and
distancing and protective
protective measures and
measures and safe
safe business practices
business practices in place
in place
Yes, with physical
Yes, with physical
distancing and
distancing and protective
protective measures and
measures and safe
safe business practices
business practices in place
in place
Yes, with physical
Yes, with physical
distancing and
distancing and protective
protective measures and
measures and safe
safe business practices
business practices in place
in place

Yes, with physical
Yes, with physical
Yes, with physical
distancing and protective
distancing and
Yes, with safe business
distancing and protective
measures and safe
protective measures and
practices in place
measures and safe
business practices in
safe business practices
business practices in place
place
in place

Yes, with physical
Yes, with physical
Yes, with physical
distancing and protective
distancing and
Yes, with safe business
distancing and protective
Home-Based Care and Services
measures and safe
protective measures and
practices in place
measures and safe
business practices in
safe business practices
business practices in place
place
in place
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PHASE D
Based on
re-evaluation of
Gating Criteria
Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)
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Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County
Phased Re-Opening Plan for Milwaukee County
Action

SAFER AT HOME
Governor’s
Emergency Order
#28

LOCAL HEALTH PLAN
PHASE A

PHASE B
When all Gating
Criteria are met

PHASE C
Based on
re-evaluation of
Gating Criteria

PHASE D
Based on
re-evaluation of
Gating Criteria

CONTINUATION AND RESUMPTION OF BUSINESSES AND ACTIVITIES, continued

Professional Services

Critical Labor Union Functions

Hotel and Motels

Yes, with physical
Yes, with physical
Yes, with physical
distancing and protective
distancing and
Yes, with safe business
distancing and protective
measures and safe
protective measures and
practices in place
measures and safe
business practices in
safe business practices
business practices in place
place
in place
Yes, with physical
Yes, with physical
Yes, with physical
distancing and protective
distancing and
Yes, with safe business
distancing and protective
measures and safe
protective measures and
practices in place
measures and safe
business practices in
safe business practices
business practices in place
place
in place
Yes, except pools, hot Yes, except pools, hot
Yes, with limits on
tubs, and exercise
tubs, and exercise
Yes, with limits on capacity
capacity in pools, hot
facilities. Prohibit
facilities. Prohibit guests in pools, hot tubs and
tubs and exercise
guests from
from congregating in
exercise facilities and
facilities and common
congregating in lobbies lobbies or other common
common areas.
areas.
or other common areas
areas

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

Yes
(Subject to reevaluation)

LONG-TERM, CONGREGATE LIVING, AND HOSPITALS

Visits to Long-term Care
Facilities, Congregate
Facilities, and Hospitals
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No outside visitors,
essential services only

No outside visitors

No outside visitors

Yes, limited number of
adult family members,
No limits, but
and screening visitors screening visitors for
for signs and symptoms; signs and symptoms
with physical distancing
and personal
and personal protective protective measures.
measures
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Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County
Phased Re-Opening Plan for Milwaukee County
Action

SAFER AT HOME
Governor’s
Emergency Order
#28

LOCAL HEALTH PLAN
PHASE A

PHASE B
When all Gating
Criteria are met

PHASE C
Based on
re-evaluation of
Gating Criteria

PHASE D
Based on
re-evaluation of
Gating Criteria

LIMITS ON MASS GATHERINGS
Fewer than 10 people Fewer than 25 people and Fewer than 100 people Yes, maximum size of
Gatherings in homes or public No, but allow religious
and personal protective
personal protective
and personal protective
gatherings to be
venues
gatherings below 10.
measures
measures
measures
determined

PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SCHOOLS, DAY CARES, AND INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER EDUCATION
No

Yes, if able to meet
gathering size limits with
protective measures

Yes

No

No

Consider reopening with
protective measures

Yes

Yes, with limits on
capacity of 50
children/10 staff or 25%
capacity. with protective
measures

Yes, with limits on
capacity of 50% with
protective measures

Yes, with limits on
capacity of 75% with
protective measures

Yes

Public and Private K-12
schools

No

No

Institutions of Higher
Education

No

Yes, with limits on
capacity

Child Care Settings

Library
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Curbside pickup

Curbside pickup

Yes, with limits on capacity Yes, with limits on
of 25% with physical
capacity of 50% with
distancing and protective physical distancing and
measures
protective measures

Yes
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Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County
Phased Re-Opening Plan for Milwaukee County
Action

SAFER AT HOME
Governor’s Emergency
Order #28

LOCAL HEALTH PLAN
PHASE A

PHASE B
When all Gating
Criteria are met

PHASE C
Based on
re-evaluation of
Gating Criteria

PHASE D
Based on
re-evaluation of
Gating Criteria

RECREATIONAL ACTIVITIES
Low Risk Recreational
Activities
Outdoor playground

Beaches

Yes, with physical
Yes, with physical
distancing and
distancing and protective
protective measures
measures
Yes, but practice physical
No
distancing and protective
measures
Yes, only for moving
through while walking or
No
running with practice
physical distancing and
protective measures

Driving Ranges

No

Outdoor Recreational Rentals

Yes

Places of Public Amusement

No

Chartered Fishing Excursions

No
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Yes, with physical
Yes, with physical
distancing and protective
distancing requirements
measures
Yes, but practice physical
Yes, but practice
distancing and protective physical distancing and
measures
protective measures
Yes – small group
gatherings only and
Yes, but practice
practice physical
physical distancing and
distancing and protective protective measures
measures

Yes, but practice physical
distancing and protective
measures
Yes, with safe business
Yes, with safe business
practices and physical
practices and physical
distancing and protective distancing and protective
measures
measures
Yes, with limits on capacity
of 25% with physical
No
distancing and protective
measures
Yes, with capacity limits
No
and safe business
practices in place
Yes, with compliance
with listed measures

Yes, but practice
physical distancing and
protective measures
Yes, with safe business
practices and physical
distancing and
protective measures
Yes, with limits on
capacity of 50% with
physical distancing and
protective measures
Yes, with capacity limits
and safe business
practices in place

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes
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Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County
Phased Re-Opening Plan for Milwaukee County
Action

Travel
Garage Sales, Rummage and
Yard sales

SAFER AT HOME
Governor’s
Emergency Order
#28
Essential travel only
No

LOCAL HEALTH PLAN
PHASE A

PHASE B
When all Gating
Criteria are met

PHASE C
Based on
re-evaluation of
Gating Criteria

PHASE D
Based on
re-evaluation of
Gating Criteria

Travel with precautions

Travel with precautions

Travel with precautions

Yes

No

Yes, with physical
distancing requirements
and protective measures

Yes

No

RECOMMENDED PHYSICAL DISTANCING AND PROTECTIVE MEASURES (PDPM)
Wash hands often

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Cover coughs

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Don’t go out if ill, contact
provider about being tested
for COVID-19
Use of mask or cloth face
covering recommended
Surface and object cleaning
Isolation of positive cases
Quarantine of contacts of
positive cases
Voluntary quarantine of
travelers from high-risk areas
Physical distancing to 6 feet
when possible
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Yes
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Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County
Gating Criteria for Implementing Phased Plan for Milwaukee County
Overview: A key component of the Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County is the ability to monitor key
criteria to determine the burden of COVID-19 in Milwaukee County and to assist health officials in
determining when Milwaukee County is ready to move to our next phase. The Gating Criteria outlined in
the Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County were developed as part of the Key Health and Safety
Indicator Dashboard. These Gating Criteria and the Dashboard were originally developed by Medical
College of Wisconsin, and updated in collaboration with local public health, Milwaukee County, and with
input from other national and regional public health experts. The Gating Criteria builds upon the Badger
Bounce Back program and the federal government’s Guidelines for Opening Up America Again. The
metrics included in this plan reflect currently available county-level data.
Gating Criteria. Gating Criteria will be assessed daily with re-evaluation intervals based on increasing
level of risk of transmission due to progression through the phases of the Local Health Plan for
Milwaukee County. If thresholds are maintained, the undersigned local health officers will assess the
ability to move to the next phase as defined in the Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County.
The following measures serve as the Gating Criteria:
a. Cases: COVID-positive ratio trajectory
b. Testing: Testing availability for all residents with COVID-19 symptoms
c. Care: Hospitals’ ability to treat all patients requiring hospitalization without resorting to
crisis standards^
d. Personal Protective Equipment (PPE): Adequate PPE available for healthcare personnel
and first responders
e. Tracing: Ability to count, trace, and monitor COVID-19 cases and outbreaks in real time
Gating Criteria Phase Re-evaluation Intervals
a. Phase A – Assess Gating Criteria after 14 days, which is the COVID-19 incubation period,
to move to Phase B. If Gating Criteria are at least yellow in all categories of Cases,
Testing, Care, PPE, and Tracing, Milwaukee County municipalities will review underlying
data and plan to move to Phase B.
b. Phase B – Milwaukee County municipalities will remain in Phase B for a minimum of 14
days, which is one incubation cycle of COVID-19. This will allow public health officers to
assess the impact of the increased activity on the spread of the disease in Milwaukee
county. If Gating Criteria continue to be at least yellow in all categories, Milwaukee
County municipalities will move to Phase C. If any Gating Criteria have changed to red
during Phase B, local health officers will continue to reassess Gating Criteria every 7
days. After each seven-day assessment, if all Gating Criteria are at least yellow,
Milwaukee County municipalities will move to Phase C.
c. Phase C – Milwaukee County municipalities will remain in Phase C for a minimum of 14
days, which is one incubation cycle of COVID-19. This will allow public health officers to
assess the impact of the increased activity on the spread of the disease in Milwaukee
Draft May 10th, 2020

County. If Gating Criteria continue to be at least yellow in all categories, Milwaukee
County municipalities will move to Phase D. If any Gating Criteria have changed to red
during Phase C, local health officers will continue to reassess Gating Criteria every 7
days. After each seven-day assessment, if all Gating Criteria are at least yellow,
Milwaukee County municipalities will move to Phase D.
d. Phase D – If any Gating Criteria have changed to red during Phase, Milwaukee County
municipalities will move back to Phase C and local health officers will continue to
reassess every 7 days until widespread population protections (i.e. vaccine) are
available. It is likely there may need to be the need to cycle through Phases C and D
until widespread population protections are available.
High Level Description of the Local Health Plan for Milwaukee County Gating Criteria:
INDICATOR

LOGIC FOR SELECTION OF MEASURE

MEASURE SOURCE

CASES

Measure to describe transmission of the
disease in the community

Trajectory measure in alignment with Badger
Bounce Back and national standards

TESTING

Testing is critical to ensure care for
residents, reducing transmission, and
understanding of the disease

Number of test goal in alignment with Badger
Bounce Back and national experts’ standards

CARE

PPE

TRACING

Hospitals are critical to COVID 19
treatment for patients; in particular,
crisis measures and capacity is a key
indicator of whether the system will be
overwhelmed
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) is
critical for safety of healthcare workers
and for first responders interacting with
residents who may be COVID-19 positive
Capacity to swiftly trace contacts of
residents who are COVID-19 positive is
critical to reducing transmission
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Measure and thresholds based on the US
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, and
World Health Organization standards
Measure on crisis care is in alignment with
Badger Bounce Back^
Measures on bed utilization developed, and
local measure with input from local healthcare
organizations
Measure developed in collaboration with local
healthcare organizations
(local measure of PPE for first responders not
available yet)
Measures in alignment with Badger Bounce
Back, and developed in partnership with local
health officers

DETAILED Overall Milwaukee-Area Dashboard, as of 5/10/20:

Green = Excellent, Yellow = Proceed with caution, Red = Measure is concern; Blank = To be determined

* Badger Bounce Back measure; other measures are local additional measures
INDICATOR KEY METRIC

THRESHOLD METRICS for Milwaukee Area

CASES

Downward
trajectory of positive
cases of COVID-19 as
a percentage of total
tests*

Trajectory of positive cases as percentage*
(using linear regression across 14 days of data to assess trend)*

Testing availability
for all residents with
COVID-like
symptoms, with
priority toward
vulnerable
populations
(OR logic)

Total Tests/day*
(rolling average over last 7
days)
Green 4,000+ tests/day
Yellow: 2,000-4,000 tests/day
Red: <2,000 tests/day

TESTING

Draft May 10th, 2020

5/10
UPDATE
Positive
trajectory

Green: Negative trajectory for 14 days, or % positive <5%
Yellow: Negative trajectory for 7 days
Red: Does not meet green/yellow criteria
Positive Tests as % of All Tests
(rolling average over last 7 days)
Green <5% positive
Yellow: 5-10% positive
Red: 10%+ positive

~500/d,
~15%

CARE

Hospitals have
ability to treat all
patients requiring
hospitalization
without resorting to
crisis standards^*
(AND logic)

PPE

Adequate PPE
available to health
care personnel*

TRACING

Every resident who
tests positive for
COVID-19 is
interviewed within
24 hours of test
results*, COVID
positive contacts are
interviewed within
48 hours of test
results*
(AND logic)

Using “AND” logic
% of MKE area
Hospitals indicating
they are NOT in crisis
care*^
Green 100%
Yellow: 95%
Red: <95%

“% of MKE area Hospital beds utilized for
COVID+ patients”
(# of Hospitalized COVID-19 Positive Patients)
/ (Total ICU Bed Usage + Total Floor Bed
Usage)
Green: <10% of hospital patients are COVID+
Yellow: 10-20% of hospital patients are
COVID+
Red: 20% of hospital patients are COVID+
PPE for Healthcare Personnel*
(Measure of PPE avail for Milwaukee-area hospital systems; PPE
measured includes N95, masks, gowns, sanitizer)
Green: 29+ days of all PPE supply for majority of hospital systems
Yellow: 8-28 days of all PPE supply for majority of hospital systems
Red: 0-7 days of all PPE supply for majority of hospital systems
Interview within 24 hrs*:
(% of all positive cases interviewed
within 24 hours of test result)
Weighted average of local Public
Health Officers’ report on ability to
reach positive cases within 24 hours of
receiving notice of the case
Green: ~100% of positive cases
interviewed within 24 hours
Yellow: >50% of positive cases
interviewed within 24 hours
Red: Less than majority of positive
cases interviewed within 24 hours

Contacts within 48 hrs*
(% of all tracing contacts that
were interviewed within 48
hours of test result)
Weighted average of local
Public Health Officers’ report
on ability to reach positive
cases within 24 hours that
day

Green: ~100% of positive
contacts notified within 48
hours
Yellow: >50% of positive
contacts notified within 48
hours
Red: Less than majority of
positive contacts notified
within 48 hours
^ “Crisis standards of care” is characterized by the Institute of Medicine as "extreme operating
conditions”, that may be indicated by the questions: (a) the facility is damaged/unsafe or non-patient
care areas are being used by the facility for patient care, (b) Trained staff are unavailable or unable to
adequately care for the volume of patients even with extension techniques, (c) Critical supplies are
lacking, resulting in reallocation of life-sustaining resources and/or other extreme operating conditions
(based on Badger Bounce Back description)
Note: Measures and thresholds may be modified as COVID 19 response evolves
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100%
9%

8-28 days
for 3/5
systems

Majority

Supporting Measures Considered:
While the above measures are utilized as Gating Criteria, public health officers will consider a range of
other measures to support decision-making.
Such measures might include trajectory of flu-like and COVID-like symptoms in Emergency Rooms, the
trajectory of the number of COVID-19 positive cases, COVID-19 positive reproductive factor, number of
COVID-19 positive hospitalizations, number of COVID-19 positive deaths, and other appropriate
measures. Supporting measures also will be considered with a split by race/ethnicity, geography.
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Village Attorney’s Office
Nathan J. Bayer
William P. Dineen

MEMORANDUM
TO:

Village Manager, Shorewood Police Chief

FROM:

Nathan Bayer, Village Attorney

CC:

Village Board,

DATE:

May 15, 2020

RE:

Wisconsin Supreme Court’s decision invalidating DHS Order 28 and potential
impact on North Shore Health Department’s new “Order #1”

On May 13, the Wisconsin supreme court issued its decision in The Wisconsin Legislature v.
Palm, 2020 WI 42. The purpose of this memo is to 1) address the decision’s impact on Order 29,
which was issued by the Wisconsin Department of Health Services (DHS) in response to the
coronavirus pandemic; 2) address the decision’s potential impact on the validity of the new Order
of the North Shore Health Department, which was issued in response to the supreme court’s
decision (“Order #1”); and 3) address whether the Village Board, at its May 18 meeting, could
enact its own “stay at home” order, which would close businesses and restrict gatherings beyond
the expiration of the North Shore Health Department “Order #1”, which expires on May 21st.
DHS Order 29 has been invalidated by the Wisconsin Supreme Court
On April 16, 2020, DHS Director Andrea Palm issued Emergency Order 28, also titled the "Safer
at Home Order." The Order 28 commanded all individuals in Wisconsin to “stay at home or at
their place of residence" with certain limited exceptions through May 26, 2020, and noted violators
could be subject to criminal prosecution. The Order also imposed the following restrictions
through May 26:
• Prohibited "all forms of travel" except what DHS identified as “essential.”
• Ordered "all for-profit and non-profit businesses" to "cease all activities" except for
minimum operations that DHS identified as basic.
• Prohibited "all public and private gatherings of any number" "not part of a single
household."
• Declared that all public and private K-12 schools "shall remain closed" for the remainder
of the year.
• Declared that libraries shall remain closed for "all in-person services."

•
•
•
•
•

Declared all "public amusement and activity" places closed regardless of whether "indoors
or outdoors" except golf courses (with restrictions).
Ordered closure of all salons and spas.
Ordered closure of every restaurant and bar except for take-out or delivery service.
Orders religious groups to limit gatherings to "fewer than 10 people in a room" including
weddings and funerals.
Imposed a six-foot social distancing requirement for any person not "residing in a single
living unit or household."

These state wide restrictions imposed by DHS Order 28 were invalidated, immediately upon
release of the state supreme court’s decision on Wednesday.
Possible Impact of the Supreme Court’s Decision on the North Shore Health Department’s
“Order #1”
In response to the void created by the Wisconsin supreme court’s decision, the individual local
health departments in the municipalities that make up Milwaukee County, with the exception of
the City of Milwaukee, have come together to agree on a uniform “Order #1” (attached to the
Board meeting packet), which imposes a number of restrictions that were previously contained in
the now invalidated DHS Order 28, through May 21, 2020. (My understanding is that thereafter,
the orders will be converted into suggested guidelines.) The Order notes that violators may be
subject to criminal penalties.
Because these local health department orders impose similar restrictions that the Supreme Court
just struck down from the DHS Order, the natural question is whether the local health department
Orders are enforceable. My opinion is that there is nothing specifically in the Supreme Court’s
decision that would invalidate local orders, as long as violators were only subject to civil forfeitures
as opposed to criminal penalties. However, given the legal maneuvering that the court undertook
to invalidate the DHS order, which included addressing legal issues not presented to the court,
there remains the possibility that the court would find a way to invalidate a patchwork of local
rules that imposed the same exact restrictions that it just invalidated in a state level. A more detailed
explanation of the decision follows.
The Wisconsin Supreme Court’s decision, inclusive of concurrences and dissents, is over 160 pages
long. As a result, my analysis does not address every single aspect of the decision. The important
aspects that relate to viability of the local health department Order #1 concern the statutory
framework under which the DHS Order was issued. It was issued under the authority provided
by Wis. Stat. Sec. 252.02. The court underwent a convoluted analysis to conclude that DHS’s
directive under this statute was not really an “Order,” but rather a “rule.” This was outcome
determinative to the overall decision, because a “rule” is then subject to the process dictated by
Chapter 227 of the Wisconsin statutes, which includes legislative participation and oversight.
In what appears to be a separate rationale for invalidating the DHS Order, the court noted that
imposing a criminal penalty for violation of a “rule” that had not been vetted through the process
under Chapter 227 would also be facially invalid.

The court’s decision does not directly invalidate the new “Order #1,” which the North Shore
Health Department signed on to. The power to issue that Order is derived from Wis. Stat. Sec.
252.03 .as opposed to 252.02, and the language in the statues is different. Most significantly,
because these local health department orders are not being made by a state agency, they are not
subject to the process required by Chapter 227 that the Supreme Court primarily based its decision
on.
I note that Order #1 contains a section indicating that violators may face criminal penalties under
Wis. Stat. Sec. 252.25, or alternatively civil forfeitures under the local municipal code. Based upon
the Supreme Court’s decision, my recommendation would be that no offender is charged
criminally if a violation occurs. This may be a moot point in Milwaukee County, as my
understanding is that the DA’s office has indicated it will not prosecute criminal violations of Order
#1. Alternatively, I would recommend imposition of civil forfeitures if warranted.
As discussed above, because the statutory authority under which the local health departments have
enacted Order #1 differs from the authority under which DHS acted, my opinion is that the
Supreme Court’s decision does not directly invalidate Order #1. However, we should keep in
mind that there are individuals and entities that will undoubtedly rise to challenge local health
department orders that essentially mimic, on a patchwork basis across the state, orders of the DHS
that were just struck down. Whether the Wisconsin Supreme Court would strike down those local
health department orders on different grounds than it used to invalidate the DHS order remains to
be seen. What we do know is that the court has looked unfavorably upon similar restrictions that
were previously contained in the DHS Order.
At the May 18 Board meeting, could the Village issue its own “stay at home” order that would
close businesses and restrict gatherings beyond the May 21 expiration of the North Shore
Health Department Order #1?
You have inquired whether, at the May 18 Board meeting, the Village Board could consider and
issue its own “stay at home” order, which would close businesses and restrict gatherings beyond
the expiration of the North Shore Health Department “Order #1”, which expires on May 21st. For
the reasons discussed below, my opinion is “no.”
The threshold question is whether, in the absence of a county or local health department order,
does a municipality have authority to impose restrictions similar to “Safer at Home,” such as
prohibiting public gatherings of a certain size and closing businesses? The applicable state statutes
are unclear as to whether this power is exclusively reserved to the health department or not.
However, even if such an order were theoretically possible, any Board action would have to be
based upon evidence and a record that offers a rational basis in support of the Order. Consider the
current situation the Village is in. The North Shore Health Department has its own Order in place
(Order #1), which includes restrictions that expire on May 21. So any action of the Board to extend
restrictions beyond that date would be in direct contradiction of its own health department. The
Village would have to retain its own experts, or obtain some specific evidence upon which the
Village Order could be based, that would justify going beyond the restrictions placed by its own
Health Department. Without that, the Order would not be defendable. The Village could

theoretically conduct the necessary research (likely at substantial cost), but certainly not before
Monday evening’s meeting.
If the Village did decide to engage outside experts or compile outside research upon which to base
an order, that would satisfy one prerequisite for the order. However, we could almost certainly
expect legal challenges due to disparity of restrictions in relation to our neighboring municipalities,
even if enacted. Challenges would likely also be made based upon the ambiguity discussed in the
League email below. Because the health dept. in Milwaukee has decided to go it alone, I do
anticipate direct challenges to that action that will most likely go directly to the Supreme Court. I
anticipate we may get further clarity on these issues in the coming days. For now, I do not see any
evidentiary basis on which the Village Board could create an Order between now and Monday.

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO VILLAGE BOARD
Agenda Item: Voucher Report
Presenter: Mark Emanuelson

Department: Finance

Overview – Consistent with the Village’s Policy #21, Purchasing and Accounts Payable, the attached
reports have been prepared by the Finance Department for presentation to the Village Board.
In addition to providing the information required for the Village Board to maintain the general oversight of
expenditures, these reports also serve to enhance the transparency of the Village’s expenditures of public
funds by making these reports part of the public record.
Please feel free to contact me if there are any questions on specific items.

Vision 2025 Plan – Financial Responsibility
Sustainability – N/A
Recommended motion – Move to accept the attached presentation of accounts reports.

Fiscal Note / Budget Impact – To the best of our knowledge, these items have been processed in
accordance with the Village’s purchasing policies as administered by the applicable department heads.

Attachments: - Accounts Payable and Payroll Vouchers Summary
Detailed Presentation of Accounts

Meeting Date 05/04/2020

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD, WISCONSIN
CLERK-TREASURER'S OFFICE
MEMO
DATE:

May 4, 2020

TO:

Budget and Finance Committee

FROM:

Finance Office

COPY TO:

Village Board

RE:

Accounts Payable and Payroll Vouchers for Presentation and Approval

Presented for your approval are the following accounts payable vouchers: 04/30-05/13
100 - General Fund

325,188.44

200 - Library

5,227.80

210 - Senior Services

52.74

230 - Shorewood Today Magazine

-

300 - Debt Service Fund

141,295.00

400 - Capital Projects Fund

658,542.23

410 - TIF #1

705,422.00

430 - TIF #3

64,729.25

440 - TIF #4

780.00

450 - TIF #5

780.00

600 - Parking Utility Fund

841.86

610 - Water Utility Fund

68,840.20

620 - Sewer Utility Fund

145,822.15

700 - CDA

22,194.80

800 - Property Tax Fund
900 - Cash Fund
Subtotal:

$

PLUS: Payroll vouchers per check register
dated
5/8/20

197,668.42

Grand Total
Begin Ck #

Accounts Payable Checks:
Accounts Payable Electronic Checks:
Payroll Checks:
Payroll Direct Deposits:
Payroll Electronic Check Remittances:

2,748,703.52
4,888,419.99

$

5,086,088.41
End Chk #

34765
2412

34842
2413

2811

2811

DD19921

DD20017

EFT1294

EFT1299

05/13/2020 08:58 AM
User: LPrentki
DB: Village Of Shorewood

GL Number
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INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
INVOICE DUE DATES 04/30/2020 - 05/13/2020
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED
PAID

Inv. Line Desc

Fund 100 General Fund
Dept 0000
100-0000-15220
Prepaid Postage - Hassler
100-0000-21520
GENERAL CLASS
100-0000-21520
PROTECTIVE SERVICE
100-0000-21520
ADDITIONAL CONTRIBUTIONS
100-0000-21530
Health Insurance Payable
100-0000-21531
DENTAL VILLAGE PORTION
100-0000-21580
Garnishments Payable
100-0000-23400
CUSTOMER CONV. FEES
100-0000-24213
Sales Tax Due State

Vendor

Invoice Desc.

Invoice

(meter)
QUADIENT LEASING USA, INC.
POSTAGE REPLENISH FOR MACHINE-APRIL
WI DEPT OF EMPLOYEE TRUST
MONTHLY
FUNDSRETIREMENT PREMIUMS - MARCH
WI DEPT OF EMPLOYEE TRUST
MONTHLY
FUNDSRETIREMENT PREMIUMS - MARCH
WI DEPT OF EMPLOYEE TRUST
MONTHLY
FUNDSRETIREMENT PREMIUMS - MARCH
WCA GROUP HEALTH TRUST-UMR
HEATH INSURANCE PREMIUMS - APR 2020
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF WI,
DENTAL
INC PREMIUMS - APRIL 2020
WI SCTF
CHILD SUPPORT 05/08/2020
PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT
MONTHLY PROCESSING FEES-APR 2020
WI DEPT OF REVENUE - SALES
SALESTAX
AND STADIUM TAX -MAR 2020

APRIL 2020
0049042
2020
0049042
2020
0049042
2020
04012020
1424315
05082020
DS0000006269
APRIL 2020

Due Date
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
04/30/20

Total For Dept 0000
Dept 1200 Court
100-1200-45120
100-1200-45120
100-1200-45190
100-1200-45190

Court
Court
Court
Court

Fines
Fines
Fines
Fines

-

Current
Current
Aging
Aging

MILW CNTY TREASURER
STATE OF WISCONSIN
MILW CNTY TREASURER
STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT

FINES
FINES
FINES
FINES

&
&
&
&

FEES
FEES
FEES
FEES

Computer/Printer Equip

BAYSIDE, VILLAGE OF

TO
TO
TO
TO

THE
THE
THE
THE

COUNTY
STATE
COUNTY
STATE

APR2020CO
APR2020ST
APR2020CO
APR2020ST

05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

PURCHASE OF 5 LAPTOPS

4088

04/30/20

2404
2410
2410
2410
2406
2399
34839
34815
2411

607.28
1,606.91
498.00
1,314.00

34810
34826
34810
34826

CURRAN, JOHN CALVIN
APRIL ELECTION INSPECTOR PAY
2020-04-11
POINT N PAY
CREDIT CARD FEES-MAR 2020
5823-2020-3-V.1
WI DEPT OF JUSTICE
16 BACKGROUND CHECKS - JAN -MAR 20201
MARCH 2020
WI DEPT OF JUSTICE
BACKGROUND CHECKS - APRIL 2020
2020-04
HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES
SUPPLIES FOR DPW AND VOTING
1043623
KROGER COMPANY, THE
WATER FOR ELECTIONS
028839
KROGER COMPANY, THE
WATER FOR VOTING
066469

Miscellaneous Revenue
WI DEPT OF REVENUE - SALES
SALESTAX
AND STADIUM TAX -MAR 2020
APRIL 2020
Professional Fees Financial
US BANK
ADMINISTRATIVE FEES 1/1/20-3/31/20 12105704
Professional Fees Financial
SIKICH LLP
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES THROUGH 4/30/20
441302

05/05/20
04/30/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

Total For Dept 1900 Other General Admin

34765

66.00
464.24
112.00
28.00
56.13
8.07
8.07

34767
2403
34838
34838
34796
34802
34802

742.51
04/30/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

Total For Dept 1510 Finance
Dept 1900 Other General Admin
100-1900-52190
Professional Fees - Insurance
R & R INSURANCE SERVICES
JUNE SERVICE FEE 2020
2257519
100-1900-52200.55-00
Electric - Village Hall
WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
APRIL 2020
100-1900-52200.77-00
Electric - Village Center WE ENERGIES - LIBRARY LIBRARY ELECTRIC USAGE 3/6/20-4/6/2004062020
100-1900-52210.55-00
Gas - Village Hall
WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
APRIL 2020
100-1900-52210.77-00
Gas - Village Center
WE ENERGIES - LIBRARY LIBRARY GAS USAGE 3/4/20-4/2/20
0403202
100-1900-52230.55-00
Phone / Internet - Village TIME
Hall WARNER ENTERTAINMENT
PRI COMPANY
SERVICE ACCT 5701-9001,4/18-5/17706845701041920
100-1900-52230.77-00
Phone / Internet - Village TIME
Center
WARNER ENTERTAINMENT
PRI COMPANY
SERVICE ACCT 5701-9001,4/18-5/17706845701041920
100-1900-52330
Health Department - Abatement
AMERICAN ANIMAL CONTROLABATEMENT SERVICES-APR 2020
32512
100-1900-52900.55-00
Cleaning and Pest Control GIBB
VH BUILDING MAINTENANCE
MONTHLY
CO INC
JANITORIAL SERVICE-MAY 2020 15544
100-1900-52900.77-00
Cleaning and Pest Control GIBB
VC BUILDING MAINTENANCE
MONTHLY
CO INC
JANITORIAL SERVICE-MAY 2020 15544
100-1900-53100.55-00
Building Supplies - Village
GIBB
Hall
BUILDING MAINTENANCE
SUPPLIES
CO INC- APRIL 2020
15550
100-1900-53100.77-00
Building Supplies - Village
GIBB
Center
BUILDING MAINTENANCE
SUPPLIES
CO INC- APRIL 2020
15550
100-1900-53120
Copier Costs - Village Hall
JAMES IMAGING SYSTEMS INC
COPIER LEASE AND CHARGES
26975857

4,999.95
4,999.95

Total For Dept 1420 Clerk / Customer Service
Dept 1510 Finance
100-1510-48900
100-1510-52130
100-1510-52130

7,040.00
30,646.23
31,299.46
500.00
134,627.48
5,295.93
1,806.08
507.50
458.04

4,026.19

Total For Dept 1410 Manager
Dept 1420 Clerk / Customer Service
100-1420-51120
Poll Worker Stipends
100-1420-52930
Credit Card Fees
100-1420-53100
Office Supplies
100-1420-53100
Office Supplies
100-1420-53500
Voting Supplies
100-1420-53500
Voting Supplies
100-1420-53500
Voting Supplies

Amount
Check #

212,180.72

Total For Dept 1200 Court
Dept 1410 Manager
100-1410-56110

1/11

(12.22)
1,250.00
1,810.00

2411
34768
34821

3,047.78
05/13/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

2,083.33
888.11
688.97
675.66
292.72
196.60
49.15
200.00
1,142.08
527.72
187.00
37.70
585.47
7,554.51

34816
2407
2408
2407
2408
34830
34830
34771
34786
34786
34786
34786
34799

05/13/2020 08:58 AM
User: LPrentki
DB: Village Of Shorewood

GL Number

Inv. Line Desc
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INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
INVOICE DUE DATES 04/30/2020 - 05/13/2020
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED
PAID

Vendor

Invoice Desc.

Invoice

Due Date

Fund 100 General Fund
Dept 2100 Police
100-2100-51355
Other Benefits
WI DEPT OF EMPLOYEE TRUST
MONTHLY
FUNDSRETIREMENT PREMIUMS - MARCH 0049042
2020
04/30/20
100-2100-51900
Professional Education
WAUKESHA CNTY TECHNICALINCOLLEGE
SERVICE TRAINING FOR KUDRYNSKYY, S0713475
SCHAAL, & TARABOI05/13/20
100-2100-52200
WILSON DRIVE
WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
APRIL 2020
04/30/20
100-2100-52210
WILSON GAS
WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
APRIL 2020
04/30/20
100-2100-52230
Phone and Internet
TIME WARNER
TV AND VOICE CHARGES FOR 5/10/20-5/31/20
715431401050220 05/13/20
100-2100-52230
Phone and Internet
TIME WARNER
INTERNET, DATA & VOICE CHARGES FOR 5/1/20-5/31/20
706760302050220 05/13/20
100-2100-52230
Phone and Internet
VERIZON WIRELESS
MOBILE CHARGES FOR 4/2/2020 TO 5/01/2020
9853686999
05/13/20
100-2100-52900
Cleaning and Pest Control GIBB BUILDING MAINTENANCE
MONTHLY
CO INC
JANITORIAL SERVICE-MAY 2020 15544
05/13/20
100-2100-52910
Software Purch/Maint
DIGICORP, INC
RETRIEVE MESSAGES FROM MAIN PHONE LINES
2020-04-15
OFFSITE
05/13/20
100-2100-52910
Software Purch/Maint
FIRE DETECTION GROUP ANNUAL FIRE ALARM INSPECTION
144575
05/13/20
100-2100-52990
AUTO CITATIONS
PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT
MONTHLY PROCESSING FEES-APR 2020
DS0000006269
05/13/20
100-2100-52990
MANUAL CITATIONS
PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT
MONTHLY PROCESSING FEES-APR 2020
DS0000006269
05/13/20
100-2100-52990
1ST NOTICES
PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT
MONTHLY PROCESSING FEES-APR 2020
DS0000006269
05/13/20
100-2100-52990
2ND NOTICES
PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT
MONTHLY PROCESSING FEES-APR 2020
DS0000006269
05/13/20
100-2100-52990
NOTICE POSTAGE
PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT
MONTHLY PROCESSING FEES-APR 2020
DS0000006269
05/13/20
100-2100-53100
Office Supplies
GIBB BUILDING MAINTENANCE
SUPPLIES
CO INC- APRIL 2020
15550
05/13/20
100-2100-53100
Office Supplies
POLICE & SHERIFFS PRESSSCHAAL
INC REPLACEMENT ID
133283
05/13/20
100-2100-53120
Copy & Print Costs
JAMES IMAGING SYSTEMS INC
COPY AND PRINT USAGE FOR 3/19/20-4/18/20
26886859
05/13/20
Total For Dept 2100 Police
Dept 2400 Planning and Development
100-2400-52230
Phone and Internet
100-2400-52930
Credit Card Fees
100-2400-53100
Office Supplies

US CELLULAR
POINT N PAY
BART GRIEPENTROG

WIRELESS DATA CHARGES KOEPP
CREDIT CARD FEES-MAR 2020
OFFICE SUPPLIES DISINFECT

0370938582
5823-2020-3-V.1
032320

05/13/20
04/30/20
05/13/20

WI DEPT OF EMPLOYEE TRUST
MONTHLY
FUNDSRETIREMENT PREMIUMS - MARCH 0049042
2020
BROWN DEER, VILLAGE OF CONTRIBUTION HEALTH DEPT. 2Q20
20-0000882
COASTLINE SERVICES LLC INSURANCE/MGNT FEE
04112020

04/30/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

BAILEY, CONNIE
REFUND RECYCLE KART
2019-12-05
HEYEN, DAN
UNIFORM REIMBURSEMENT
05 11 20
TIME WARNER ENTERTAINMENT
PRI COMPANY
SERVICE ACCT 5701-9001,4/18-5/17706845701041920
GREATAMERICA FINANCIAL DPW
SVCSCOPIER LEASE
26975858
OFFICE COPYING EQUIPMENT
B&W,
LTDCOLOR COPIES
AR112633
CONCENTRA
DRUG SCREEN
14035825
HOPPE TREE SERVICE, LLCPURCHASE OF TREE FOR VILLAGE
74799

BATZNER PEST, INC.
EXTERMINATING AT V. HALL
GRAINGER W W INC
PUMP FOR BLDG MAINT
HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES
SUPPLIES FOR DPW AND VOTING
HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES
SUPPLIES FOR DPW
HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES
SUPPLIES FOR BLDG MAINT
HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES
SUPPLIES FOR DPW
HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES
SUPPLIES FOR DPW
HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES
LIGHTS FOR V. MANAGERS OFFICE
STANLEY CONVERGENT SECURITY
MONITORING
SOLUTIO
CHARGES DPW
Total For Dept 3230 Bldg Maint -

2410
34837
2407
2407
34828
34829
34832
34786
34780
34783
34815
34815
34815
34815
34815
34786
34814
34799

2900130
9520088536
1043623
6023623
24117
7044797
5034040
4903264
17446980
Public Works

27.99
69.18
10.54

34831
2403
34775

2,255.08
32,260.00
9,084.00

2410
34777
34778

43,599.08
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

Total For Dept 3100 Public Works Admin.
Dept 3230 Bldg Maint - Public Works
100-3230-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
100-3230-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
100-3230-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
100-3230-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
100-3230-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
100-3230-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
100-3230-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
100-3230-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
100-3230-53500
Dept/Program Supplies

503.09
286.20
1,910.96
1,010.86
119.70
606.35
376.25
1,148.73
71.50
500.00
9.98
29.94
81.00
159.00
406.08
133.65
47.92
350.79

107.71

Total For Dept 2900 Other Public Safety
Dept 3100 Public Works Admin.
100-3100-46433
Kart Sales
100-3100-51330
Uniform Expense
100-3100-52230
PHONE
100-3100-53120
Copy & Print Costs
100-3100-53120
Copy & Print Costs
100-3100-54150
Safety Expenses
100-3100-56130
Small Equipment/Furniture

Amount
Check #

7,752.00

Total For Dept 2400 Planning and Development
Dept 2900 Other Public Safety
100-2900-51355
Other Benefits
100-2900-52330
Health Department
100-2900-52990
Crossing Guards

2/11

61.55
62.22
122.87
43.00
4.26
60.00
700.00

34766
34795
34830
34788
34813
34779
34797

1,053.90
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

48.00
26.44
153.62
282.78
60.50
179.81
250.29
45.00
376.32
1,422.76

34776
34787
34796
34796
34796
34796
34796
34796
34824

05/13/2020 08:58 AM
User: LPrentki
DB: Village Of Shorewood

GL Number

Inv. Line Desc

Fund 100 General Fund
Dept 3300 Municipal Garage
100-3300-52200
DPW GARGAGE
100-3300-52200
COMPACTOR
100-3300-52210
DPW GAS
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
100-3300-53410
Fuel and Oil
100-3300-53410
Fuel and Oil
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INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
INVOICE DUE DATES 04/30/2020 - 05/13/2020
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED
PAID

Vendor

Invoice Desc.

WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
ADVANCE AUTO PARTS
STOCK FOR MECHANICS SHOP
ADVANCE AUTO PARTS
PARTS FOR #73 REFUSE TRUCK
BADGER TRUCK CENTER INCPARTS FOR #73 REFUSE TRUCK
ELLIOTT AUTO SUPPLY CO,STOCK
INC. FOR MECHANICS
ELLIOTT AUTO SUPPLY CO,PARTS
INC. FOR #72 REFUSE TRUCK
ELLIOTT AUTO SUPPLY CO,STOCK
INC. FOR MECHANICS
ELLIOTT AUTO SUPPLY CO,PARTS
INC. FOR #73 REFUSE TRUCK
ELLIOTT AUTO SUPPLY CO,STOCK
INC. FOR MECHANICS
ELLIOTT AUTO SUPPLY CO,STOCK
INC. FOR MECHANICS
ELLIOTT AUTO SUPPLY CO,STOCK
INC. MECHANICS
ELLIOTT AUTO SUPPLY CO,MECHANICS-STOCK
INC.
ELLIOTT AUTO SUPPLY CO,MECHANICS-STOCK
INC.
ELLIOTT AUTO SUPPLY CO,MECHANICS-STOCK
INC.
GAULKE, TODD
MECHANICS TOOL REPAIR
HARTLAND LUBRICANTS ANDANTI
CHEMICALS
FREEZE DRUM FOR MECHANICS
HARTLAND LUBRICANTS ANDOIL
CHEMICALS
DRUM MECHANICS
HEISER FORD INC
PARTS - SQ#3
INTERSTATE BATTERY
STOCK-MECHANICS
KRIETE LEASING & RENTALPARTS
LLC FOR #71 REFUSE TRUCK
KRIETE LEASING & RENTALPARTS
LLC FOR #71 REFUSE TRUCK
LINCOLN CONTRACTORS SUPPLY
AIR FILTERS
INC
MATHESON TRI GAS INC WELDING GAS RENTAL MECHANICS
VIKING COMMUNICATIONS MOUNTING BRACKET #90 JCB RADIO
WASTEBUILT ENVIRONMENTAL
PARTS
SOLUTIONS
71 &72 REFUSE TRUCKS
ZARNOTH BRUSH WORKS INCWAFER BROOM #88MT
HERBST OIL INC
UNLEADED FUEL
HERBST OIL INC
DIESEL FUEL

Invoice
APRIL 2020
APRIL 2020
APRIL 2020
2514-674319
2514-673532
777453
160-059115
316244M
316446M
316347M
50-2826610
50-2845886
13-1560453
1-6354036
1-6354140
50-2835724
04282045621
SI191413
SI191155
90384
110162548
316419M
316415M
M76698
51618899
109136
3458180
0180063-IN
74593
73615

Due Date
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

Total For Dept 3300 Municipal Garage
Dept 3410 Street and Alley
100-3410-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
100-3410-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
100-3410-53510
Supplies - Signage

LOCATORS AND SUPPLIES INC
MARKING PAINT
SHERWIN INDUSTRIES INC COLD PATCH
TAPCO
SIGN POSTS

0283713-IN
SC044712
1651543

APRIL 2020
APRIL 2020
APRIL 2020
APRIL 2020
2514-674312
9511878465
0283713-IN

05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

Dept/Program Supplies

WITTE SUPPLY COMPANY LLC
GRASS SEED
Total For Dept 3460 Winter

Dept 3510 Refuse Disposal

184.98
1,383.15
738.34
160.98
7.90
289.86
3.26
55.50
221.72
126.13
31.00
30.19
6.98
9.78
23.25
5.77
237.14
350.25
126.15
167.36
393.85
5.20
72.49
62.01
120.00
28.46
285.90
394.50
788.24
743.42

2407
2407
2407
34769
34769
34774
34782
34782
34782
34782
34782
34782
34782
34782
34782
34782
34784
34789
34789
34793
34798
34801
34801
34804
34807
34833
34836
34841
34794
34794

17.28
1,618.13
384.00

34805
34818
34827

2,019.41
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

Total For Dept 3430 Street Lights
Dept 3460 Winter
100-3460-53500

Amount
Check #

7,053.76

Total For Dept 3410 Street and Alley
Dept 3430 Street Lights
100-3430-52200.01-00
Electric - Street Lighting WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
100-3430-52200.01-00
ALLEY LIGHTING
WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
100-3430-52200.02-00
Electric - Traffic Devices WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
100-3430-52200.02-00
FLASHERS
WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
100-3430-53500
Supplies - Street Lighting ADVANCE AUTO PARTS
PARTS FOR STREET LIGHTING
100-3430-53500
Supplies - Street Lighting GRAINGER W W INC
WIRE FOR STREET LIGHTING
100-3430-53500
Supplies - Street Lighting LOCATORS AND SUPPLIES INC
MARKING PAINT

3/11

5,715.61
1,171.94
1,222.59
6.00
46.14
111.04
389.90

2407
2407
2407
2407
34769
34787
34805

8,663.22
91114

05/13/20

270.66
270.66

34840

05/13/2020 08:58 AM
User: LPrentki
DB: Village Of Shorewood

GL Number

Inv. Line Desc
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INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
INVOICE DUE DATES 04/30/2020 - 05/13/2020
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED
PAID

Vendor

Invoice Desc.

Fund 100 General Fund
Dept 3510 Refuse Disposal
100-3510-52950.03-00
Disposal Contracts - Refuse
WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WI-MN
4-1-20
100-3510-52950.04-00
Disposal Contracts - Recycling
WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WI-MN
4-1-20
100-3510-52950.04-00
Disposal Contracts - Recycling
WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WI-MN
4-1-20

TO 4-30-20
TO 4-30-20
TO
4-30-20

Invoice
6499892-2275-1
6499892-2275-1
6499060-2275-5

Due Date
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

Total For Dept 3510 Refuse Disposal
Dept 3610 Forestry
100-3610-52940
100-3610-52940
100-3610-53500

Landscaping Contracts - Medians
VILLANI LANDSHAPERS LAWN,
LANDSCAPE
INC. MAINT JUNE
Landscaping Contracts - Medians
VILLANI LANDSHAPERS LAWN,
LANDSCAPE
INC. MAINT. MAY
Dept/Program Supplies
HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES
GRAVEL FOR IRRIGATION

200045-0003
200045-0002
4300844

05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

APRIL 2020
APRIL 2020
APRIL 2020
APRIL 2020
APRIL 2020
INV209899
91114

04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

WI DEPT OF REVENUE - SALES
SALESTAX
AND STADIUM TAX -MAR 2020

APRIL 2020

ELECTRIC EXPENSE
WE ENERGIES - LIBRARY LIBRARY ELECTRIC USAGE 3/6/20-4/6/2004062020
GAS AND HEAT EXPENSE
WE ENERGIES - LIBRARY LIBRARY GAS USAGE 3/4/20-4/2/20
0403202
LIBRARY 24 HOUR MONITORING AT&T
LIBRARY ALARM LINES 3/23/20-4/22/20APRIL 2020
PHONE
TIME WARNER ENTERTAINMENT
PRI COMPANY
SERVICE ACCT 5701-9001,4/18-5/17706845701041920
Cleaning and Pest Control GIBB BUILDING MAINTENANCE
MONTHLY
CO INC
JANITORIAL SERVICE-MAY 2020 15544
Cleaning and Pest Control GIBB BUILDING MAINTENANCE
MONTHLY
CO INC
JANITORIAL SERVICE-MAY 2020 15544
Other Service Contracts & Fees
OFFICE COPYING EQUIPMENT
SHARP
LTD MAINTEN.
AR112459
Building supplies
GIBB BUILDING MAINTENANCE
SUPPLIES
CO INC- APRIL 2020
15550
Copy & Print Costs
SHOREWOOD PRESS
PHOTO MONTAGES
29047
Copy & Print Costs
SHOREWOOD PRESS
POSTER
29050

Fund 210 Senior Services
Dept 4650 SRC Benjamin Services
210-4650-53100
Office Supplies

Fund 300 Debt Service Fund
Dept 8000 Debt Service
300-8000-58100
PRINCIPAL
300-8000-58100
Principal

JERRY WEBER

JP MORGAN CHASE
JP MORGAN CHASE

2,922.12
2,922.12
28.78

34834
34834
34796

118.25
25.52
289.13
226.66
14.51
548.80
270.67

2407
2407
2407
2407
2407
34809
34840

325,188.44

04/30/20

Total For Dept 0000
Dept 5110 Library
200-5110-52200
200-5110-52210
200-5110-52230
200-5110-52230
200-5110-52900
200-5110-52900
200-5110-52990
200-5110-53101
200-5110-53120
200-5110-53120

34835
34835
34835

1,493.54

Total For Fund 100 General Fund

Sales Tax Due State

1,003.53
592.99
11,731.20

5,873.02

Total For Dept 3620 Parks and Beautification

Fund 200 Library
Dept 0000
200-0000-24213

Amount
Check #

13,327.72

Total For Dept 3610 Forestry
Dept 3620 Parks and Beautification
100-3620-52200
HUBBARD PARK
WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
100-3620-52200
HUMBOLDT PARK
WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
100-3620-52200
ATWATER BEACH
WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
100-3620-52200
GHOST TRAIN
WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
100-3620-52210
RIVER CLUB GAS
WE ENERGIES - CONSOLIDATED
GAS/ELECTRIC USAGE 3/5/20-4/3/20
100-3620-52940
Landscaping Contracts - Turf
MILORGANITE
FERTILIZER FOR VILLAGE
100-3620-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
WITTE SUPPLY COMPANY LLC
GRASS SEED

4/11

29.99
29.99

04/30/20
04/30/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

2,066.91
878.17
47.18
122.87
280.00
1,583.15
11.42
113.11
54.00
41.00

Total For Dept 5110 Library

5,197.81

Total For Fund 200 Library

5,227.80

POWERLINE ADAPTOR FOR REMOTE INT CONN.
41-023877
REIMBURSEMENT 05/13/20

52.74

Total For Dept 4650 SRC Benjamin Services

52.74

Total For Fund 210 Senior Services

52.74

2013 BONDS JP MORGAN CHASE - 4/28/20JP APRIL 2020
2013 BONDS JP MORGAN CHASE - 4/28/20JP APRIL 2020

2411

04/30/20
04/30/20

683,016.00
61,984.00

2408
2408
34773
34830
34786
34786
34813
34786
34819
34819

34800

2412
2412

05/13/2020 08:58 AM
User: LPrentki
DB: Village Of Shorewood
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INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
INVOICE DUE DATES 04/30/2020 - 05/13/2020
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED
PAID

Inv. Line Desc

Vendor

Fund 300 Debt Service Fund
Dept 8000 Debt Service
300-8000-58100
Principal
300-8000-58200
Interest
300-8000-58200
Interest
300-8000-58200
Interest
300-8000-58900
Other Finance Charges

Invoice Desc.

Invoice

Due Date

WELLS FARGO
2010B BONDS, WELLS FARGO, 4-30-20
WELLS FARGO 4/20
JP MORGAN CHASE
2013 BONDS JP MORGAN CHASE - 4/28/20JP APRIL 2020
JP MORGAN CHASE
2013 BONDS JP MORGAN CHASE - 4/28/20JP APRIL 2020
WELLS FARGO
2010B BONDS, WELLS FARGO, 4-30-20
WELLS FARGO 4/20
EHLERS BOND TRUST SERVICES
PAYING AGENT FEE-2012B
56693

04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
05/13/20

Total For Dept 8000 Debt Service
Dept 9000 Other Financing Sources/Uses
300-9000-49401
Transfers from TID
300-9000-49401
Transfers from TID
300-9000-49403
Transfers from TID
300-9000-49403
Transfers from TID

#1
#1
#3
#3

JP
JP
JP
JP

MORGAN
MORGAN
MORGAN
MORGAN

CHASE
CHASE
CHASE
CHASE

2013
2013
2013
2013

BONDS
BONDS
BONDS
BONDS

JP
JP
JP
JP

MORGAN
MORGAN
MORGAN
MORGAN

CHASE
CHASE
CHASE
CHASE

-

4/28/20JP
4/28/20JP
4/28/20JP
4/28/20JP

APRIL
APRIL
APRIL
APRIL

2020
2020
2020
2020

04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20

RILEY CONSTRUCTION CO POLICE RENNOVATION PHASE 2B THRU 4/30/2020
619530-5
GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS NEW VEHICLE SETUP FOR SQUAD10
282135

2020 ROAD RECON PROJECT

05/13/20
05/13/20

SITEONE LANDSCAPE SUPPLY
ARBORJET
HOLDINGPLUGS

PAYMENT #1-2020

05/13/20

99333873-001

05/13/20

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES THROUGH 4/30/20
441302

05/13/20

2013 BONDS JP MORGAN CHASE - 4/28/20JP APRIL 2020
2013 BONDS JP MORGAN CHASE - 4/28/20JP APRIL 2020

502,494.19

712.97

750.00

04/30/20
04/30/20

21,656.00
683,016.00

Total For Dept 9000 Other Financing Sources/Uses

704,672.00

Total For Fund 410 TID No. 1 Capital

705,422.00

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES THROUGH 4/30/20
441302

2013 BONDS JP MORGAN CHASE - 4/28/20JP APRIL 2020
2013 BONDS JP MORGAN CHASE - 4/28/20JP APRIL 2020
Total For Dept 9000 Other Financing Sources/Uses

34825

34822

34821

750.00

05/13/20

Total For Dept 6600 TID Administration
Dept 9000 Other Financing Sources/Uses
430-9000-59300
Transfers to Debt Service JP MORGAN CHASE
430-9000-59300
Transfers to Debt Service JP MORGAN CHASE

34817
34785

658,542.23

Total For Dept 6600 TID Administration

Fund 430 TID No. 3 Capital
Dept 6600 TID Administration
430-6600-52130
Professional Fees Financial
SIKICH LLP

154,824.57
510.50

712.97

Total For Fund 400 General Capital Projects

Dept 9000 Other Financing Sources/Uses
410-9000-59300
Transfers to Debt Service JP MORGAN CHASE
410-9000-59300
Transfers to Debt Service JP MORGAN CHASE

2412
2412
2412
2412

502,494.19

Total For Dept 3620 Parks and Beautification

Fund 410 TID No. 1 Capital
Dept 6600 TID Administration
410-6600-52130
Professional Fees Financial
SIKICH LLP

(21,656.00)
(683,016.00)
(61,984.00)
(1,965.25)

155,335.07

Total For Dept 3410 Street and Alley
Dept 3620 Parks and Beautification
400-3620-56500
Land Improvements

2413
2412
2412
2413
34781

141,295.00

Total For Dept 2100 Police
STARK PAVEMENT CORP

119,754.00
21,656.00
1,965.25
21,141.00
400.00

(768,621.25)

Total For Fund 300 Debt Service Fund

Dept 3410 Street and Alley
400-3410-56320.20-01
2020 Local Road program

Amount
Check #

909,916.25

Total For Dept 9000 Other Financing Sources/Uses

Fund 400 General Capital Projects
Dept 2100 Police
400-2100-56200
Building Improvements
400-2100-56400
Vehicles

5/11

780.00

2412
2412

34821

780.00
04/30/20
04/30/20

61,984.00
1,965.25
63,949.25

2412
2412

05/13/2020 08:58 AM
User: LPrentki
DB: Village Of Shorewood

GL Number

Inv. Line Desc

Vendor

Fund 430 TID No. 3 Capital

Invoice Desc.

Invoice

Due Date

Total For Fund 430 TID No. 3 Capital

Fund 440 TID No. 4 Capital
Dept 6600 TID Administration
440-6600-52130
Professional Fees Financial
SIKICH LLP

Fund 450 TID No. 5 Capital
Dept 6600 TID Administration
450-6600-52130
Professional Fees Financial
SIKICH LLP

Fund 600 Parking Utility
Dept 0000
600-0000-24213
Sales Tax Due State
600-0000-24213
Sales Tax Due State
600-0000-24213
Sales Tax Due State

Page:

INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
INVOICE DUE DATES 04/30/2020 - 05/13/2020
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED
PAID

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES THROUGH 4/30/20
441302

05/13/20

780.00

Total For Fund 440 TID No. 4 Capital

780.00

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES THROUGH 4/30/20
441302

05/13/20

780.00

Total For Dept 6600 TID Administration

780.00

Total For Fund 450 TID No. 5 Capital

780.00

WI DEPT OF REVENUE - SALES
SALESTAX
AND STADIUM TAX -MAR 2020
APRIL 2020
04/30/20
BAILEY, CONNIE
REFUND RECYCLE KART
2019-12-05
05/13/20
ZIARKO, MICHELLE
REFUND APRIL/MAY 2020, MOVED TO ON-STREET
2020-04-29
W/EASTMORE 05/13/20

ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
WELLS FARGO

780.00

Total For Dept 6600 TID Administration

571.21
3.45
5.32

94.68
120.00
47.20

Total For Dept 3900 Parking

261.88

Total For Fund 600 Parking Utility

841.86

UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
2010B BONDS, WELLS FARGO, 4-30-20
WELLS FARGO 4/20

05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
04/30/20

Total For Dept 0000
Dept 3710 Water Administration
610-3710-52130
Professional Fees Financial
SIKICH LLP
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES THROUGH 4/30/20
441302
610-3710-52300
WATER SERVICE CHARGE
MILW WATER WORKS
WATER CHARGES - 40,296 CCF-APR 2020 APRIL 2020
610-3710-52300
WATER USAGE CHARGE CCF
MILW WATER WORKS
WATER CHARGES - 40,296 CCF-APR 2020 APRIL 2020
610-3710-52300
SHOREWOOD FIRE PROTECTION MILW WATER WORKS
WATER CHARGES - 40,296 CCF-APR 2020 APRIL 2020
610-3710-52930
CREDIT CARD EXPENSE
POINT N PAY
CREDIT CARD FEES-MAR 2020
5823-2020-3-V.1
610-3710-53120
Copy & Print Costs
GREATAMERICA FINANCIAL DPW
SVCSCOPIER LEASE
26975858
610-3710-53120
Copy & Print Costs
OFFICE COPYING EQUIPMENT
B&W,
LTDCOLOR COPIES
AR112633

34821

34821

2411
34766
34842

579.98

METRO parking lot
ZIARKO, MICHELLE
REFUND APRIL/MAY 2020, MOVED TO ON-STREET
2020-04-29
W/EASTMORE 05/13/20
Professional Fees Financial
SIKICH LLP
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES THROUGH 4/30/20
441302
05/13/20
ONLINE PAID PARKING
PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT
MONTHLY PROCESSING FEES-APR 2020
DS0000006269
05/13/20

Fund 610 Water Utility
Dept 0000
610-0000-13110
WATER RES USAGE
610-0000-13110
WATER RES USAGE
610-0000-13110
WATER RES USAGE
610-0000-13110
WATER RES USAGE
610-0000-13110
WATER RES USAGE
610-0000-13110
WATER RES USAGE
610-0000-13110
WATER RES USAGE
610-0000-13110
WATER RES MTR CHARGE
610-0000-13110
WATER RES MTR CHARGE
610-0000-13110
WATER RES MTR CHARGE
610-0000-13110
WATER RES MTR CHARGE
610-0000-13110
WATER RES MTR CHARGE
610-0000-28100
General Obligation Debt

Amount
Check #
64,729.25

Total For Dept 0000
Dept 3900 Parking
600-3900-46321
600-3900-52130
600-3900-52990

6/11

471.00
400.00
12.73
12.60
7.89
7.89
7.89
0.92
0.92
0.69
0.69
0.69
5,056.00

34842
34821
34815

34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
2413

5,979.91
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
04/30/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

240.00
50,370.00
1,096.23
5,741.09
1,151.51
43.00
4.26

34821
34811
34811
34811
2403
34788
34813

05/13/2020 08:58 AM
User: LPrentki
DB: Village Of Shorewood

GL Number

Inv. Line Desc
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INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
INVOICE DUE DATES 04/30/2020 - 05/13/2020
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED
PAID

Vendor

Invoice Desc.

Invoice

Due Date

7/11

Amount
Check #

Fund 610 Water Utility
Dept 3710 Water Administration
Total For Dept 3710 Water Administration
Dept 3730 Maint Mains
610-3730-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
610-3730-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
610-3730-53500
Dept/Program Supplies

LANNON STONE PRODUCTS INC
STONE FOR WATER DEPT
LINCOLN CONTRACTORS SUPPLY
CONCRETE
INC BLADE FOR WATER DEPT
SIEVERT TRUCKING INC. STONE FOR WATER DEPT

1248401
M76683
97569

58,646.09
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

Total For Dept 3730 Maint Mains
Dept 3740 Maint Services
610-3740-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
610-3740-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
610-3740-53500
Dept/Program Supplies

HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES
MATERIALS FOR WATER DEPT
LOCATORS AND SUPPLIES INC
MARKING PAINT
WITTE SUPPLY COMPANY LLC
GRASS SEED

ALSCO

SHOP TOWELS FOR MECHANICS

4013872
0283713-IN
91114

05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

Fund 620 Sewer Utility
Dept 0000
620-0000-13110
SEWER RES USAGE
620-0000-13110
SEWER RES USAGE
620-0000-13110
SEWER RES USAGE
620-0000-13110
SEWER RES USAGE
620-0000-13110
SEWER RES USAGE
620-0000-13110
SWR RES CONNECT FEE
620-0000-13110
SWR RES CONNECT FEE
620-0000-13110
SWR RES CONNECT FEE
620-0000-13110
SWR RES CONNECT FEE
620-0000-13110
SWR RES CONNECT FEE
620-0000-13110
SEWER RES USAGE
620-0000-13110
SEWER RES USAGE
620-0000-13110
SEWER RES USAGE
620-0000-28100
General Obligation Debt
620-0000-28100
General Obligation Debt

WELLS FARGO

ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
ARANDA, JON/LISA
WELLS FARGO
WELLS FARGO

2010B BONDS, WELLS FARGO, 4-30-20

IMIL1561966

05/13/20

30.65

WELLS FARGO 4/20 04/30/20

893.00

Total For Dept 8000 Debt Service

893.00

Total For Fund 610 Water Utility

68,840.20

UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
UB refund for account: 01-00017041-00
05/08/2020
2010B BONDS, WELLS FARGO, 4-30-20
WELLS FARGO 4/20
2016B BOND PAYMENT SEWER REV BONDS SEWER2016
4/30/20
4/20

05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20
04/30/20
04/30/20

Total For Dept 0000

34770

105.00
23.00
20.00
19.87
19.67
0.44
0.44
0.33
0.33
0.33
12.33
12.21
12.09
5,190.00
100,000.00

2413

34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
34772
2413
2413

105,416.04
05/13/20
04/30/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

Total For Dept 3810 Sewer Administration
ADVANCE AUTO PARTS
PARTS FOR #63 SWEEPER
MACQUEEN EQUIPMENT, LLCPARTS FOR NEW VAC TRUCK
NAPA AUTO PARTS
PARTS FOR #63 SWEEPER

34796
34805
34840

30.65

Dept 3810 Sewer Administration
620-3810-52130
Professional Fees Financial
SIKICH LLP
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES THROUGH 4/30/20
441302
620-3810-52930
CREDIT CARD EXPENSE
POINT N PAY
CREDIT CARD FEES-MAR 2020
5823-2020-3-V.1
620-3810-53120
Copy & Print Costs
GREATAMERICA FINANCIAL DPW
SVCSCOPIER LEASE
26975858
620-3810-53120
Copy & Print Costs
OFFICE COPYING EQUIPMENT
B&W,
LTDCOLOR COPIES
AR112633
Dept 3820 Sewer Maintenance
620-3820-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
620-3820-53400
Vehicle Maintenance
620-3820-53400
Vehicle Maintenance

68.89
923.72
270.67
1,263.28

Total For Dept 3770 Maint Misc Plan
Dept 8000 Debt Service
610-8000-58200
Interest

34803
34804
34820

2,027.27

Total For Dept 3740 Maint Services
Dept 3770 Maint Misc Plan
610-3770-53400
Vehicle Maintenance

966.27
519.00
542.00

2514-674044
P15117
5268-646505

240.00
1,151.51
43.00
4.25

34821
2403
34788
34813

1,438.76
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

12.00
324.76
35.52

34769
34806
34812
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INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
INVOICE DUE DATES 04/30/2020 - 05/13/2020
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED
PAID

Inv. Line Desc

Fund 620 Sewer Utility
Dept 3820 Sewer Maintenance
620-3820-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
620-3820-53500
Dept/Program Supplies
620-3820-53500
Dept/Program Supplies

Vendor

Invoice Desc.

HEIDER AND BOTT CO INC SEWER PIPE
HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES
MATERIALS FOR SEWER DEPT
LOCATORS AND SUPPLIES INC
MARKING PAINT

Invoice
845966-000
5522683
0283713-IN

Due Date
05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

Total For Dept 3820 Sewer Maintenance
05/13/20
05/13/20

Total For Dept 3890 Other Sewer

Fund 700 Community Development Authority
Dept 6800 CDA Activities
700-6800-54620
Loan Program Expenses
700-6800-54630
Façade Program Grants
700-6800-54630
Façade Program Grants

Fund 800 Tax Agency Fund
Dept 0000
800-0000-24300
Due
800-0000-24510
Due
800-0000-24520
Due
800-0000-24600
Due
800-0000-24610
Due

to
to
to
to
to

WELLS FARGO
WELLS FARGO

2010B BONDS, WELLS FARGO, 4-30-20
2016B BOND PAYMENT SEWER REV BONDS

Amount
Check #
252.00
15.92
329.90

2,750.00
5,500.00

WELLS FARGO 4/20 04/30/20
SEWER2016
4/30/20
4/20
04/30/20

916.00
28,831.25
29,747.25

Total For Fund 620 Sewer Utility

145,822.15

31265
04302020
043020

05/13/20
05/13/20
05/13/20

384.00
10,905.40
10,905.40

Total For Dept 6800 CDA Activities

22,194.80

Total For Fund 700 Community Development Authority

22,194.80

Milwaukee County
MILW CNTY TREASURER
TAX SETTLEMENT
MATC
MILW AREA TECHNICAL COLLEGE
TAX SETTLEMENT
MMSD
MILW METRO SEWERAGE DIST
TAX SETTLEMENT
Shorewood School
SCHOOL DISTRICT OF SHOREWOOD
TAX SETTLEMENT
Whitefish Bay School
WHITEFISH BAY SCHOOL DISTRICT
TAX SETTLEMENT

34808
34808

8,250.00

Total For Dept 8000 Debt Service

SOUTHEASTERN WISCONSIN LOAN
REGIONAL
PROGRAM SWRPC
HAYEK DOWNER, LLC
FACADE GRANT REIMB, 4001 N. DOWNER
HAYEK DOWNER, LLC
FACADE GRANT REIMB, 4005 N. DOWNER

34792
34796
34805

970.10

Dept 3890 Other Sewer
620-3890-56600.20-08
Bluff Manhole - Lake Drive MILLER ENGINEERS & SCIENTISTS
TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY 4480 N LAKE DR. STORM
12877 SEWER
620-3890-56600.20-08
Bluff Manhole - Lake Drive MILLER ENGINEERS & SCIENTISTS
SOIL EXPLORATION 4480 N LAKE DR. STORM
12878
SEWER
Dept 8000 Debt Service
620-8000-58200
Interest
620-8000-58200
Interest

8/11

APRIL
APRIL
APRIL
APRIL
APRIL

2020
2020
2020
2020
2020

04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20
04/30/20

606,699.44
150,001.59
208,638.92
1,782,844.13
519.44

Total For Dept 0000

2,748,703.52

Total For Fund 800 Tax Agency Fund

2,748,703.52

2413
2413

34823
34790
34791

2401
2400
2402
2405
2409
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INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
INVOICE DUE DATES 04/30/2020 - 05/13/2020
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED
PAID

Vendor

Invoice Desc.
Fund Totals:

Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund

100
200
210
300
400
410
430
440
450
600
610
620
700
800

General Fund
Library
Senior Services
Debt Service Fund
General Capital Projects
TID No. 1 Capital
TID No. 3 Capital
TID No. 4 Capital
TID No. 5 Capital
Parking Utility
Water Utility
Sewer Utility
Community Development Authority
Tax Agency Fund

Total For All Funds:

--- TOTALS BY GL DISTRIBUTION --100-0000-15220
100-0000-21520
100-0000-21530
100-0000-21531
100-0000-21580
100-0000-23400
100-0000-24213
100-1200-45120
100-1200-45190
100-1410-56110
100-1420-51120
100-1420-52930
100-1420-53100
100-1420-53500
100-1510-48900
100-1510-52130
100-1900-52190
100-1900-52200.55-00
100-1900-52200.77-00
100-1900-52210.55-00
100-1900-52210.77-00
100-1900-52230.55-00
100-1900-52230.77-00
100-1900-52330
100-1900-52900.55-00
100-1900-52900.77-00
100-1900-53100.55-00
100-1900-53100.77-00
100-1900-53120
100-2100-51355
100-2100-51900
100-2100-52200
100-2100-52210
100-2100-52230
100-2100-52900
100-2100-52910
100-2100-52990
100-2100-53100
100-2100-53120
100-2400-52230

Invoice

Prepaid Postage - Hassler (meter)
GENERAL CLASS
Health Insurance Payable
DENTAL VILLAGE PORTION
Garnishments Payable
CUSTOMER CONV. FEES
Sales Tax Due State
Court Fines - Current
Court Fines - Aging
Computer/Printer Equip
Poll Worker Stipends
Credit Card Fees
Office Supplies
Voting Supplies
Miscellaneous Revenue
Professional Fees Financial
Professional Fees - Insurance
Electric - Village Hall
Electric - Village Center
Gas - Village Hall
Gas - Village Center
Phone / Internet - Village Hall
Phone / Internet - Village Center
Health Department - Abatement
Cleaning and Pest Control - VH
Cleaning and Pest Control - VC
Building Supplies - Village Hall
Building Supplies - Village Center
Copier Costs - Village Hall
Other Benefits
Professional Education
WILSON DRIVE
WILSON GAS
Phone and Internet
Cleaning and Pest Control
Software Purch/Maint
AUTO CITATIONS
Office Supplies
Copy & Print Costs
Phone and Internet

Due Date

9/11

Amount
Check #
325,188.44
5,227.80
52.74
141,295.00
658,542.23
705,422.00
64,729.25
780.00
780.00
841.86
68,840.20
145,822.15
22,194.80
2,748,703.52
4,888,419.99
7,040.00
62,445.69
134,627.48
5,295.93
1,806.08
507.50
458.04
2,214.19
1,812.00
4,999.95
66.00
464.24
140.00
72.27
(12.22)
3,060.00
2,083.33
888.11
688.97
675.66
292.72
196.60
49.15
200.00
1,142.08
527.72
187.00
37.70
585.47
503.09
286.20
1,910.96
1,010.86
1,102.30
1,148.73
571.50
686.00
181.57
350.79
27.99
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INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
INVOICE DUE DATES 04/30/2020 - 05/13/2020
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED
PAID

Vendor

Invoice Desc.

100-2400-52930
100-2400-53100
100-2900-51355
100-2900-52330
100-2900-52990
100-3100-46433
100-3100-51330
100-3100-52230
100-3100-53120
100-3100-54150
100-3100-56130
100-3230-53500
100-3300-52200
100-3300-52210
100-3300-53400
100-3300-53410
100-3410-53500
100-3410-53510
100-3430-52200.01-00
100-3430-52200.02-00
100-3430-53500
100-3460-53500
100-3510-52950.03-00
100-3510-52950.04-00
100-3610-52940
100-3610-53500
100-3620-52200
100-3620-52210
100-3620-52940
100-3620-53500
200-0000-24213
200-5110-52200
200-5110-52210
200-5110-52230
200-5110-52900
200-5110-52990
200-5110-53101
200-5110-53120
210-4650-53100
300-8000-58100
300-8000-58200
300-8000-58900
300-9000-49401
300-9000-49403
400-2100-56200
400-2100-56400
400-3410-56320.20-01
400-3620-56500
410-6600-52130
410-9000-59300
430-6600-52130
430-9000-59300
440-6600-52130
450-6600-52130
600-0000-24213
600-3900-46321
600-3900-52130
600-3900-52990
610-0000-13110

Credit Card Fees
Office Supplies
Other Benefits
Health Department
Crossing Guards
Kart Sales
Uniform Expense
PHONE
Copy & Print Costs
Safety Expenses
Small Equipment/Furniture
Dept/Program Supplies
DPW GARGAGE
DPW GAS
Vehicle Maintenance
Fuel and Oil
Dept/Program Supplies
Supplies - Signage
Electric - Street Lighting
Electric - Traffic Devices
Supplies - Street Lighting
Dept/Program Supplies
Disposal Contracts - Refuse
Disposal Contracts - Recycling
Landscaping Contracts - Medians
Dept/Program Supplies
HUBBARD PARK
RIVER CLUB GAS
Landscaping Contracts - Turf
Dept/Program Supplies
Sales Tax Due State
ELECTRIC EXPENSE
GAS AND HEAT EXPENSE
LIBRARY 24 HOUR MONITORING
Cleaning and Pest Control
Other Service Contracts & Fees
Building supplies
Copy & Print Costs
Office Supplies
PRINCIPAL
Interest
Other Finance Charges
Transfers from TID #1
Transfers from TID #3
Building Improvements
Vehicles
2020 Local Road program
Land Improvements
Professional Fees Financial
Transfers to Debt Service
Professional Fees Financial
Transfers to Debt Service
Professional Fees Financial
Professional Fees Financial
Sales Tax Due State
METRO parking lot
Professional Fees Financial
ONLINE PAID PARKING
WATER RES USAGE

Invoice

Due Date

10/11

Amount
Check #
69.18
10.54
2,255.08
32,260.00
9,084.00
61.55
62.22
122.87
47.26
60.00
700.00
1,422.76
1,568.13
738.34
3,215.63
1,531.66
1,635.41
384.00
6,887.55
1,228.59
547.08
270.66
1,003.53
12,324.19
5,844.24
28.78
659.56
14.51
548.80
270.67
29.99
2,066.91
878.17
170.05
1,863.15
11.42
113.11
95.00
52.74
864,754.00
44,762.25
400.00
(704,672.00)
(63,949.25)
154,824.57
510.50
502,494.19
712.97
750.00
704,672.00
780.00
63,949.25
780.00
780.00
579.98
94.68
120.00
47.20
923.91
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INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
INVOICE DUE DATES 04/30/2020 - 05/13/2020
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED
PAID

Vendor

Invoice Desc.

610-0000-28100
610-3710-52130
610-3710-52300
610-3710-52930
610-3710-53120
610-3730-53500
610-3740-53500
610-3770-53400
610-8000-58200
620-0000-13110
620-0000-28100
620-3810-52130
620-3810-52930
620-3810-53120
620-3820-53400
620-3820-53500
620-3890-56600.20-08
620-8000-58200
700-6800-54620
700-6800-54630
800-0000-24300
800-0000-24510
800-0000-24520
800-0000-24600
800-0000-24610

General Obligation Debt
Professional Fees Financial
WATER SERVICE CHARGE
CREDIT CARD EXPENSE
Copy & Print Costs
Dept/Program Supplies
Dept/Program Supplies
Vehicle Maintenance
Interest
SEWER RES USAGE
General Obligation Debt
Professional Fees Financial
CREDIT CARD EXPENSE
Copy & Print Costs
Vehicle Maintenance
Dept/Program Supplies
Bluff Manhole - Lake Drive
Interest
Loan Program Expenses
Façade Program Grants
Due to Milwaukee County
Due to MATC
Due to MMSD
Due to Shorewood School
Due to Whitefish Bay School

Invoice

Due Date

11/11

Amount
Check #
5,056.00
240.00
57,207.32
1,151.51
47.26
2,027.27
1,263.28
30.65
893.00
226.04
105,190.00
240.00
1,151.51
47.25
372.28
597.82
8,250.00
29,747.25
384.00
21,810.80
606,699.44
150,001.59
208,638.92
1,782,844.13
519.44

DRAFT

MINUTES - SHOREWOOD BOARD OF TRUSTEES
Village Board Meeting
May 4, 2020
1. Call to Order
President Rozek called the meeting of the Village Board to order at 7:36 p.m.
2. Roll Call
President Rozek called the roll. Present over the phone: Trustees Davida Amenta, Tammy Bockhorst,
Jessica Carpenter, Arthur Ircink, Kathy Stokebrand, Wesley Warren.
Others Present: Village Manager Rebecca Ewald, Village Attorney Nathan Bayer, Assistant Village
Manager Tyler Burkart, Public Works Director Leeann Butschlick, Finance Director Mark Emanuelson,
Planning and Development Director Bart Griepentrog, Police Chief Peter Nimmer
3. Statement of Public Notice
Clerk Bruckman stated that the meeting had been posted and noticed according to law.
4. Special Order of Business
a. Consideration of 2021 alley reconstruction project scope of work - Sigma. (7:37 p.m.)
Director Butschlick explained prior to the 2019 alley project DPW brought a similar
presentation before the Village Board with the intent to review the scope of the following year’s
program prior to the beginning of engineering. Director Butschlick explained this year the
Village has the opportunity to use Great Solutions Fund from Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewer
District (MMSD) to implement green infrastructure features in some alleys in the Village. The
green infrastructure will assist the Village with TMDL compliance from a storm water
perspective. Ms. Butschlick explained staff and Sigma did a preliminary review on the alleys
that were identified in the Long Range Plan for reconstruction in 2021 and did a preliminary
evaluation to determine which alleys would be compatible with green infrastructure. Ms.
Butschlick explained the Village Board’s action tonight would be to direct staff and Sigma to
move forward with the engineering for the 2021 program utilizing the MMSD funds that would
be available with the intent to offset the cost of that green infrastructure construction. Ms.
Butschlick explained with the preliminary estimates, it does not appear that between the
$750,000 identified in the Long Range Plan for the alley program and the available green
solutions money that the Village may be able to construct all the alleys identified. This
decision does not need to be made this evening; the engineering contract covers all the alleys
to be engineered and when the engineer has the probable cost, the Village will structure the
bid with as much flexibility as possible allowing the Village to select the alleys the Village would
construct.
Tr. Stokebrand questioned in the Long Range Financial Plan alley plan there is an alley area
designation that’s on this plan for 2021 that is not listed in the LRFP for 2021. H1S. Ms.
Butschlick explained the H and G alleys are T alleys; the North/South portion of the alley runs
almost from Kensington Blvd. to Congress St. but just shy of Kensington Blvd. there is a
section that also runs East/West, for the purposes of this presentation H and G were divided to
have the North/South segment and an East/West in H and G. The North/South segment is
also further segmented. Sigma is recommending the green infrastructure occur in part of the
North/South section at a reasonable cost. Green infrastructure cannot be implemented in the
East/West section because of the sewer and water mains that run through and it would be cost
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prohibited to install green infrastructure. Looking at putting in a portion of the North/South
section of that alley but would not run the infrastructure the full length of the alley; H1S and
H1N is the south and north section of the alley. Tr. Stokebrand questioned the five-year alley
reconstruction plan H1S is not in the LRFP but it’s in the Sigma plan; with the Village being
short on money and to eliminate alley C, it’s important for the Village to do the alley
reconstruction on H1S. Ms. Butschlick explained staff reviewed that alley and felt it is
important while that alley is being reconstructed it’s completed in full rather than only doing a
portion of the work and finishing in a subsequent year. Ms. Butschlick explained the alley
program was setup a number of years ago; the village reviews the alleys every year prior to
the engineering work. Staff felt residents would question why the Village would do part of the
alley work in one year and finish in the next year. Tr. Stokebrand questioned what made alley
C the first choice to be cut from the proposal. Ms. Butschlick explained this is not a decision
for tonight; it’s a suggestion that Sigma made to staff. That decision will happen when the
Village has an engineer’s opinion of probable cost but one of the likely primary reasons is the
Village’s focus is using Green Solutions money particularly in areas where the money would
benefit the Village’s TMDL numbers.
Tr. Amenta questioned if there has been a decision by the state what the required TMDL
reductions are going to be. Ms. Butschlick explained we have a joint permit with the other
communities in the North Shore and as of June, the permit will be expired for two years. Ms.
Butschlick explained she has heard the DNR will be issuing that permit at any time but there is
no indication we are any closer than the last time we spoke about. The Village has a general
idea of what the TMDL requirements will be but will not have formally until the permit is issued.
President Rozek questioned how long is Sigma’s contract. Ms. Butschlick explained it is three
years but the Village only does alleys every other year, it was for the engineering of two
programs; the 2019 and 2021 programs. President Rozek inquired if it is correct the MMSD
program will fund 100%. Ms. Butschlick explained there are parameters on how that money
can be used; it will fund 100% of the green components of the alley not 100% of the cost of the
alley. President Rozek inquired if the 2019 program funded 100% of the green component.
Ms. Butschlick explained yes, 100% of the green component. President Rozek questioned if
2019 was the first year of implementing green alleys. Ms. Butschlick said the Village would
have liked more plowing events but for the few plowing events the Village had the alleys held
up and drain wonderfully.
Bob Peschl presented on alley program included in the packet.
Tr. Carpenter questioned when will the Village Board need to make a decision on alley C. Ms.
Butschlick explained there will be a review when the engineering work is complete and the
Village has an engineer’s opinion of probable cost but the final decision will be made after the
bids come in which will be structured with alternates to be as flexible as possible to get as
much done as possible with the available funds. There will be updates later in the year but the
actual decision will be in March of 2021. Ms. Butschlick explained the engineering requires
them to design all of the alleys listed, when the design work is complete we will get better cost
estimates, the Village will use those cost estimates to develop a base bid.
Tr. Warren explained he was comfortable moving forward at this point.
Tr. Amenta moved and Tr. Warren seconded approval of the outlined scope of work for the 2021 Alley
Reconstruction Project and direct staff and the consulting engineer to proceed with the design of green
features in the alleys identified as A, G-1N and H-1N on the Project Map with the intention that MMSD
Green Solutions funding be utilized to offset the cost of green-feature construction. Motion carried 7 –
0 by a roll call vote.
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b. Consider a smoke free beach (8:16 p.m.)
Director Ann Christenson explained that the Village Board packet outlined the history.
Some Village Board members inquired why this ordinance is only for the beach and not for the
parks. Ms. Ewald explained the request from the Village Board was specifically for the beach.
President Rozek expressed she thought there was a smoking regulation currently in the parks
and would be in favor of both. Director Christenson clarified Milwaukee does not have smokefree parks but other places in Wisconsin do.
Tr. Amenta expressed she is in favor of no smoking on the beach but is not sure if she
supports not smoking in the parks. She voiced concern about being too restrictive.
Tr. Bockhorst expressed it would be great being the first municipality in the state to have a
smoke free breach if it were not restricting a variety of things but does not want to make a
statement that is not respectful of the community. Racial disparity and socioeconomic disparity
that occurs when a municipality enacts legislation that is punitive with potentially up to a $200
fine for the first offense. It does disproportionately affect the disadvantaged in general. A
policy like this does have consequences even if it’s a great statement. Tr. Bockhorst does
think the Village Board should take the necessary steps to mitigate negative publicity and the
concept of a smoke free beach should be taken in steps. The fines should be minimal and
promote public health. Tr. Bockhorst shared the same would apply with parks, but hasn’t
thought about it as much as the beach.
Tr. Warren expressed he would support the motion as listed in the memo but does agree with
some of the concerns from Tr. Bockhorst but hopes that can be addressed in the drafting of
the ordinance process. Tr. Warren expressed concerns about being too punitive. Tr. Warren
is supportive of the concept of banning smoking in the parks but the Village Board needs to
think through about the areas that are exempted out such as Hubbard Park Lodge or the River
Club.
Tr. Ircink expressed he supports banning smoking at the beach and the parks but expressed
concern about enforcement. Tr. Ircink shared there are residents sitting in River Park
smoking, many are seniors who don’t have the funds to potentially pay the fines.
Tr. Carpenter expressed she is in favor of banning smoking at the beach and the parks but
does have concerns on how Hubbard Park would be handled. Tr. Carpenter expressed the
Village needs to be equitable when enforcing the ordinance. Health and air quality of the
residents in the Village is important.
Tr. Stokebrand expressed she supports banning smoking at the beach and the parks, but
would add the leased premise of Hubbard Park and the River Club.
President Rozek expressed she supports banning smoking on the beach and parks including
Hubbard Park. Would like recommendations on enforcement and signs when the draft
ordinance comes back to the Village Board to consider.
Tr. Amenta expressed she has concerns about implementing an ordinance for no smoking in
parks that the Village is not enforcing or may have difficulties enforcing.
Tr. Amenta moved, and President Rozek seconded to approve implementation of a smoke free beach
policy on Atwater Beach and ask Village staff to return with a proposed ordinance, communication plan
and any other administrative actions regarding the ordinance. Motion carried 7 – 0 by a roll call vote.
Tr. Bockhorst moved to amend President Rozek seconded prior to implementing adoption of a new
ordinance the Village revise the fee and fine schedule.
President Rozek clarified with Attorney Bayer if the motion as it stands addresses that staff is
going to come back with recommendations on fee schedule or any other necessary
components that would implement banning smoking on the beach. Attorney Bayer explained
when addressong the policy, you will need to make that decision.
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Vote on the amendment: prior to implementing adoption of a new ordinance the Village revise the fee
and fine schedule. Amendment carried 7 – 0 by a roll call vote.
Motion as amended: to approve implementation of a smoke free beach policy on Atwater Beach and
ask Village staff to return with a proposed ordinance, communication plan and any other administrative
actions regarding the ordinance including a revised fee and fine schedule prior to implementation of the
ordinance. Motion carried 7 – 0 by a roll call vote.
President Rozek moved and Tr. Ircink seconded to approve implementation of a smoke free park policy
and ask Village staff to return with a proposed ordinance, communication plan and any other
administrative actions regarding the ordinance including a revised fee and fine schedule prior to
implementation of the ordinance.
Tr. Warren moved to amend and Tr. Stokebrand seconded, by smoke free parks add “with the
exception of the leased premises such as Hubbard Park Lodge and the River Club.” Amendment
carried 6 – 1 by a roll call vote with President Rozek voting nay.
Motion as amended: to approve implementation of a smoke free park policy with the exception of the
leased premises such as Hubbard Park Lodge and the River Club and ask Village staff to return with a
proposed ordinance, communication plan and any other administrative actions regarding the ordinance
including a revised fee and fine schedule prior to implementation of the ordinance. Motion carried 6 – 1
with Tr. Amenta voting nay by a roll call vote.

c. Consider Resolution 2020-12 – Extending the Declaration of a Public Health Emergency in
Response to the COVID-19 Coronavirus. (8:53 p.m.)
Ms. Ewald explained on March 16 the Village Board passed a Declaration of Emergency;
which identified the declaration to be in effect for 60 days unless the declaration gets
extended. The proposed resolution extends the declaration indefinitely; the Village Board will
withdraw the declaration when it is no longer needed.
Tr. Amenta questioned if there are any practical implications of continuing the emergency. Ms.
Ewald explained the declaration does provide authority to defer to the Health Department for
advisement and to allow flexibility for administrative purposes and funding. Director
Christenson explained extending the emergency has more to do with funding assistance.

Tr. Carpenter moved, and Tr. Warren seconded to approve Resolution 2020-12 – Extending the
Declaration of a Public Health Emergency in Response to the COVID-19 Coronavirus. Motion carried 7
– 0 by a roll call vote.

5. Consent Agenda Items (8:56 p.m.)
a. Accept Presentation of Accounts – May 4, 2020
b. Consider Village Board minutes – April 20, 2020
c. Consider Board, Committee, and Commission Appointments
Tr. Warren moved and President Rozek seconded to approve the consent agenda. Tr.
Bockhorst requested to pull 5b and 5c. Motion carried 7 – 0 by a roll call vote with items 5b
and 5c pulled.
6. Items Removed from the Consent Agenda (8:57 p.m.)
#5b Consider Village Board Minutes April 20, 2020 –
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Tr. Bockhorst due to the pandemic and the electoral votes being processed she would like to
be more transparent to what elected officials are doing and to accurately reflect the amount of
time spent on the discussion of the March 2 minutes. During the April 20, 2020 Village Board
meeting she had requested to include the time spent on that discussion in the minutes.
President Rozek reminded Tr. Bockhorst it is not motioned to discuss what the Board should or
should not include in the minutes but if she could amend the current minutes.
Tr. Bockhorst moved, seconded by Tr. Warren to amend the current minutes to include the amount of
time spent on the discussion of 5c March 2, 2020 minutes. Motion fails 3 – 4 with Tr. Bockhorst, Tr.
Ircink and Tr. Warren voting aye.
Attorney Bayer questioned if Tr. Bockhorst had a time that should be reflected or if she is requesting
Clerk Bruckman to watch the video and time the discussion. Tr. Bockhorst clarified she is requesting
the Clerk Bruckman or a designee to watch the video and time the discussion.
Tr. Amenta commented since it was a waste of time discussing the minutes last time, why is
the Village Board wasting more time tonight. Tr. Bockhorst commented for public transparency
during this pandemic, the time should be included.
Motion: to amend the current minutes to include the amount of time spent on the discussion of 5c
March 2, 2020 minutes. Motion fails 3 – 4 with Tr. Bockhorst, Tr. Ircink and Tr. Warren voting aye.
Tr. Bockhorst moved to defer the April 20 minutes to the May 18 Village Board meeting. Motion failed
for lack of a second.
Tr. Bockhorst inquired if the two new Village Board members need to abstain from the vote.
Attorney Bayer clarified they did not, if they feel they can make a reasonable determination if
the minutes accurately reflect the actions of the body
Tr. Amenta moved and President Rozek seconded to approve the Village Board Minutes of April 20,
2020.
Tr. Ircink remarked after watching the video the minutes from March 2, 2020 do not accurately
reflect what was said on tape. If the minutes are going to have the detail, they should
accurately reflect what was said. Tr. Amenta explained the amendment made at the last
meeting reflected on behalf of the School Board, not representing the School Board.

Tr. Ircink moved, to amend the April 20, 2020 minutes to include the actual language “I want to speak
on behalf of, in support of Paul and what he is advocating and as a former School Board Member I’d
like to speak on behalf of another intergovernmental body of the March 2, 2020 meeting.
President Rozek questioned if the vote from the April 20 meeting to amend the March 2, 2020
minutes carried and if Clerk Bruckman quoted the language on the video. Clerk Bruckman
stated what was stated in the April 20 video was quoted but she did not watch and quote the
March 2 video.
Tr. Amenta made a point that the minutes Tr. Ircink is referencing are not the minutes that are
being discussed, she was not sure they were the correct part of the minutes.
Tr. Ircink withdrew his amendment.
Tr. Bockhorst moved to determine, at a future Village Board, how the Village Board will amend Village
Board minutes. Motion failed for lack of a second.
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Motion: approve the Village Board Minutes of April 20, 2020. The motion carried 6 – 1 with Tr.
Bockhorst voting nay by a roll call vote.
#5c - Consider Board, Committee, and Commission Appointments –
President Rozek explained she met with Tr. Carpenter and Clerk Bruckman to review the list
of Boards, Committees and Commissions with expiring terms and individuals who qualify for
reappointment. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the appointment process is behind schedule.
President Rozek and Tr. Carpenter have reached out to several applicants who have declined
filling positions due to health concerns and time commitments. President Rozek explained we
are moving forward with the confirmed reappointments that are in good standing and three
new confirmed appointments. Where there is an N/A on the list are the appointments and
reappointments that are not identified yet. Those will be brought to a future Village Board
meeting for approval.
Tr. Bockhorst requested to have more time for the Village Board to review and allow additional
applicants to apply with the current pandemic situation. By not taking any action tonight they
would still remain and serve on those committees and it would allow time for more applicants
to apply due to the unprecedented times. Tr. Bockhorst would like to defer this item to a later
date to allow more time for discussion. President Rozek reminded everyone nothing has
changed with the reappointment process.
Tr. Bockhorst moved to defer considering the Board, Committee and Commission appointments due to
the continuation of the declaration of public emergency to allow more time. Motion fails for lack of a
second.
Tr. Stokebrand moved, seconded by Tr. Carpenter to approve slated 2020 appointments and
reappointments, as provided, for Board of Appeals, Board of Review, Conservation Committee, Library
Board, Police Commission, and Human Relations Commission submitted by the Village President
Tr. Amenta commented the process is truncated compared to 2019 when the Judiciary,
Personnel and Licensing Committee reviewed applications. Tr. Amenta has not had the
opportunity to review all the applications on file for the open positions and inquired if the new
applicants have had an opportunity to attend one of the committee meetings that they are
interested in. Tr. Amenta inquired what is the urgency with making the new appointments
particularly if committees are not meeting.
President Rozek explained there was no rush to make appointments, but for the
reappointments if members are in good standing with the chair, want to seek reappointment
and can be appointed to a second term we would reappoint them. There were three
applicants that were outstanding; the Human Relations Commission needs someone who has
policy background the presented applicant has that background. President Rozek explained
Charles Carlson has been to some Police Commission meetings. If there any appointments
the Village President needs assistance with, she will send them to the JP&L Committee.
Tr. Amenta is in favor of the reappointments and inquired if the chairs of the committees have
been notified. Clerk Bruckman commented the chairs have not been notified.
Tr. Amenta moved to amend to approve the list under the reappointment column. Motion fails for lack
of a second.
President Rozek inquired if she puts an appointment before the Village Board and the Village
Board doesn’t confirm, do we have to nominate a new person. Attorney Bayer clarified the
existing individual continues to serve until they are replaced or another nomination could
come before the Village Board for confirmation. Tr. Amenta questioned if the Village Board
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does not take action tonight, those individuals would not qualify for appointment. Attorney
Bayer clarified his understanding of the intent of the motion was to approve the current list of
reappointments and to defer or not take action tonight on the new appointments, the new
applicants would be able to be brought forward at a different meeting.
Motion: to approve slated 2020 appointments and reappointments, as provided, for Board of Appeals,
Board of Review, Conservation Committee, Library Board, Police Commission, and Human Relations
Commission submitted by the Village President. Motion carried 5 – 2 with Tr. Amenta and Tr.
Bockhorst voting nay.

7. Public Hearing(s) (9:40 p.m.) - None
8. Citizens to be heard – This item is for matters not on the agenda. Discussion may follow comment on
non-agenda items or discussion and action may come at future meetings. (9:40 p.m.) - None

9. New Business
a. First quarter financial report. (9:41 p.m.)
Tr. Carpenter questioned absentee ballot mailing additional cost. Is there additional funding
for the next two elections to help offset some of those costs. Ms. Ewald explained nothing has
been specifically identified at this point. President Rozek questioned if the cost qualifies for
federal reimbursement aid. Ms. Ewald stated not at this time. Tr. Carpenter inquired if there
are roll up in total cost or is it just line by line to what the budgetary concerns are due to
COVID-19. Mr. Emanuelson explained the first quarter report does not.
Tr. Amenta questioned the Shorewood Today page 30, on revenues the 2020 budget for their
revenues is almost $80,000 for their advertising fees and they already received $47,735 as of
the end of March; is that for the first issue or how do they charge for advertising. Mr.
Emanuelson stated many advertisers will pay for the whole year up front and they get a
discount. The remaining is for those who didn’t want to pay for advertising up front. Tr.
Amenta voiced concern with the current conditions if businesses will have the funding to pay
for advertising and requested the committee discuss what the prospects are for actually
achieving that revenue or if there will be a revenue short fall at the next marketing meeting.
Tr. Stokebrand questioned with the situation of uncertainty what will happen with the lifeguard
contract payments if the beach is not open at all or for the full summer. Ms. Ewald stated the
NSHD advised Milwaukee County will likely open beaches in the next few weeks and we will
likely follow suit. Maybe parameters on how many people may be able to gather at one time.
President Rozek questioned if we still have to pay out if we do end up closing. Mr.
Emanuelson will look at the contract with the Village Manager and follow-up with the Village
Board. Ms. Ewald followed up later in the meeting that the contract has a 30-day cancelation
term. Mr. Burkart explained the contract states the lifeguard’s hours are itemized out.

b. 2020 budget outlook and review of fiscal impacts related to COVID-19. (9:56 p.m.)
Tr. Amenta remarked about people being able to park in the streets and the streets don’t seem
to be parked up. Maybe something to consider in the transportation study to consider not
charging for on street parking.
President Rozek questioned the on street parking fines $7,500 a month down and on street
parking is down $35,000 a month what is the difference between those two numbers. Mr.
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Emanuelson explained on street parking is in the Clerk/Customer Service budget and that is
for parking permit revenue. Parking fines is in the Police Department budget relating to
citations well in excess of the revenue is in overnight parking citations. President Rozek
questioned what are the Village’s options to make-up the lost revenue in parking permits. Tr.
Amenta stated she would like something that lays out each type of revenue; if the Village
continues to allow anyone to park overnight what would the revenue impact be, would we still
need two parking checkers, and if we charged a fee, what would that fee have to be to make
up the loss of revenue. We have a parking rule you can’t park overnight and we make money
by ticketing people who park overnight. This is an opportunity for the Village to know what it’s
like not having that parking restriction anymore. It would be helpful to bring back the fiscal
information to understand the impacts. Mr. Emanuelson will put that list together to discuss
those actions.
Tr. Warren confirmed the Village is $58,000 in the hole and we are assuming May 31 is the
cutoff point to return back to normal. Mr. Emanuelson explained the $58,000 is to the good,
not the bad. All the estimates have been predicated on the bigger items with returning back to
normal parking restrictions in May. President Rozek remarked the Village is down in the
parking area $85,000 in two months; it’s almost $500,000 to continue with the current parking
situation.
President Rozek questioned when is the legal labor attorney contract up in 2019; RFP in what
year. Ms. Ewald explained the RFP will be following the conclusion of the next negotiating
cycle at the end of 2020.

c. Consider professional services agreement for Atwater Beach Assessment. (10:15 p.m.)
Ms. Butschlick in early January 2020 winter storm event with easterly winds that caused
severe damage and erosion to Atwater Beach. Shorewood and Whitefish Bay have
collaborated with the Smith Group who have provided some temporary mitigation measures.
There was a federal disaster declaration for that storm event and FEMA guidelines will allow
the Village to request reimbursement for property restoration, typically FEMA will not fund
mitigation measures. The Village could spend money to repair the path, boardwalk and
replace some of the sand but could have the exact same type of storm to cause damage. This
would allow on a temporary basis to shore up the beach in the short term while working on
identifying longer term measures.
Tr. Stokebrand asked is Smith Group out of Chicago and who came up with the cost estimate.
Ms. Butschlick explained they were formally known as JJR and have offices out of Milwaukee
and Madison and the estimate is DPW staff based upon when it was built.
Tr. Carpenter questioned when will the work will be done during a short summer season. Ms.
Butschlick explained most of the work has already been done by DPW staff. Tr. Carpenter
clarified the work has already been done and have submitted the $45,000 and this is for the
engineer to give the Village potential mitigation for storms. Ms. Butschlick explained yes, this
would provide us with temporary mitigation measures until the next winter season until the
Board could potentially evaluate permanent mitigation features.
Tr. Amenta moved, seconded by Tr. Ircink to approve the proposal from Smith Group Inc. for the
Atwater Park assessment and temporary protection alternatives in the amount of $3,000 to be funded
through the Public Works general engineering budget. Motion carried 7 – 0 by a roll call vote.
d. Consider next steps for Bublr equipment (10:30 p.m.)
Mr. Griepentrog explained Bublr requested funding from the Village twice before. Bublr
requested funding from the Village this spring and the Board was not interested. Bublr issued

8

a letter they would cease operations in Shorewood. Not responsible for refunding the grant
fund.
Tr. Warren hard to say you must perform your end of the contract; would prefer removal of the
equipment then enforce their right under the contract.
Tr. Amenta is fine with them removing the equipment but if Bublr comes back in the future to
request operation out of Shorewood she would like to see some assurance the Village should
not have to pay again for the installation of the stations. Attorney Bayer explained that is not
something that could be done in the existing contract but it could if they came back in the
future with the request.
Tr. Stokebrand questioned if the concrete pad would be removed and replaced with sod or
grass. Mr. Griepentrog did not think they would, the concrete pad would remain unless the
Village chose to remove it and replace it. The concrete pads are not determined to be a part of
the equipment and would be a Village expense.
Tr. Ircink requested usership reports. Mr. Griepentrog will provide it to the Village Board.
Tr. Amenta moved, seconded by President Rozek to direct Bublr to take its equipment out of
Shorewood, at their sole expense. Motion carried 6 – 1 with Tr. Stokebrand voting nay by a roll call
vote

e. Explore alternatives to create safe outdoor spaces, including but not limited to, possible
closure of streets, sidewalks, and other areas of the municipality. (10:41 p.m.)
Ms. Ewald explained the Village has not heard back from Milwaukee County Parks on the pilot
program in Milwaukee County Parks.
Tr. Carpenter explained she is interested in the Village creating a loop for open space. Two
ideas she had was a loop around the elementary school and creating a smaller loop on the
east and west side in conjunction with an alley to provide space for residents to move.
President Rozek questioned if smaller blocks would pose a concern of gathering. Ms. Ewald
explained the North Shore Health Department did not recommend closure of local low volume
residential streets, closure of individual blocks create a block party environment and support
the message of moving through the Village parks while adhering to social distancing. Ms.
Ewald explained the North Shore Health Department advisement is that block parties are not
to proceed until groups 50 or larger are allowed to congregate. Ms. Ewald explained there will
be a road project occurring around the Lake Bluff Elementary school and Public Works is not
recommending exploring a circuit around that area. Ms. Ewald further explained the potential
safety concern with shutting down streets; there needs to be some place for vehicles to go
down blocks. This will still create a block party environment versus a circuit based on how
vehicles need to have access. The Village Board would need to decide if they would prohibit
parking on those streets and refuse and recycling still need to occur in those areas.
Tr. Ircink questioned what the response to Estrabrook Parkway has been. Ms. Ewald
explained the request has been brought to Milwaukee County. Estabrook was not in the
original pilot program. Ms. Ewald explained the Village inquired what information the
Milwaukee County’s pilot program could provide to the Village and the Village has not heard
back from them. Tr. Stokebrand suggested reaching out to Sheldon Wasserman.
Tr. Ircink questioned what the cost estimate would be to place concrete barriers down Lake
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Drive. Ms. Ewald explained the Village has not explored that option or cost.
Tr. Amenta suggested the Village could have hours on Saturday between 2:00 p.m. and 4:00
p.m. with designated areas on the west and east side taking advantage of alley ways to allow
car flow. There could be volunteers to manage traffic flow. It would be something to look
forward too and would like to continue to pursue the idea.
Tr. Warren would like to pursue the idea, but not sure what the immediate next step is.
Ms. Ewald explained the Village Board would need to provide direction on what areas to close
specifically. Tr. Carpenter suggested around the 4000 block of N. Stowell and N. Downer
Avenues and the 4100 block of E. Jarvis and E. Olive. Ms. Ewald questioned if the
expectation is to have barricades put up and down every weekend. Tr. Carpenter expressed
the idea of Public Works dropping off barricades on a Friday and pick them up Monday, similar
to a block party.
Tr. Ircink suggested that Public Works provide a list of streets the concept would work. Ms.
Ewald explained all the residential streets are low volume.
Tr. Stokebrand suggested taking the running model and turning it into a bike route model, this
could be something every family could do at their own leisure. She suggested volunteers can
map out different bike routes based on children’s ages and it could be placed online. Tr.
Stokebrand remarked by setting this concept up in an organized fashion, it is bringing people
together at the same time which is exactly what the order says not to do. People will naturally
congregate and talk. There is low density street traffic at this time which provides an
opportunity to explore the Village and not walk or bike in the same circle.
The Village Board directed staff to refer exploring alternatives to create safe outdoor spaces,
including but not limited to, possible closure of streets, sidewalks, and other areas of the
municipality to the Pedestrian and Bike Safety Committee and come back with an update to
the next Village Board meeting.
f.

Consider Fourth of July contingency plan (11:06 p.m.)
Mr. Burkart explained other communities are canceling their 4th of July celebrations due to
COVID-19. There’s two options being consider: postponing until Labor Day or to cancel the
celebration in its entirety.
Tr. Ircink suggested potentially combining the fireworks with the Feast in September.
Tr. Warren questioned if there is a monetary loss if we push it back and then decide to cancel.
Mr. Burkart explained no.
Tr. Stokebrand questioned if the Village owes Sarah DeNeve. Mr. Burkart explained no, if it’s
deferred to Labor Day a new agreement would be drafted with a different cost.
Tr. Amenta expressed she liked the idea of a celebration but, maybe not the 4th of July, on
Labor Day.
The Village Board discussed different options for postponing the 4th of July fireworksuntil
September.

Tr. Warren moved, seconded by President Rozek to cancel the Fourth of July celebration and fireworks
and authorize staff to draft an agreement with Sarah DeNeve to coordinate a celebration. Motion
carried 7 – 0 by a roll call vote
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g. Consider Resolution 2020-11 Reducing Class “B” and “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor and Malt
Beverage, “Class C” Wine License 2020 Renewal Fee and Waiving the Late Fee for
Restaurants and Bars in the Village of Shorewood who are closed or serving limited capacity
due to COVID-19. (11:24 p.m.)
Tr. Amenta moved, seconded by Tr. Warren to approve Resolution 2020-11 Reducing Class “B” and
“Class B” Intoxicating Liquor and Malt Beverage, “Class C” Wine License 2020 Renewal Fee and
Waiving the Late Fee for Restaurants and Bars in the Village of Shorewood who are closed or serving
limited capacity due to COVID-19. Motion carried 7 – 0 by a roll call vote
h. Consider Resolution 2020-14 – Suspending Loading Zone renewal application and annual fees
for businesses eligible for the CDA’s Emergency Business Assistance. (11:25 p.m.)
Tr. Ircink moved, seconded by President Rozek to approve Resolution 2020-14 – Suspending Loading
Zone renewal application and annual fees for businesses eligible for the CDA’s Emergency Business
Assistance. Motion carried 7 – 0 by a roll call vote
i.

Consider Resolution 2020-15 – Suspending Parklet monthly installation fees. (11:25 p.m.)

Tr. Warren moved, seconded by Tr. Carpenter to approve Resolution 2020-15 – Suspending Parklet
monthly installation fees. Motion carried 7 – 0 by a roll call vote
10. Reports of Village Officials (11:27 p.m.)
a. Village President –
Standing Committee and Committee Liaison Appointments

2020 Board Standing Committee Assignments
Board Standing Committee

Committee Chair

Trustee Members

Budget & Finance
Judiciary, Personnel, & Licensing
Community & Business Relations

Trustee Amenta
Trustee Carpenter
Trustee Ircink

Amenta, Ircink, Carpenter
Carpenter, Amenta, Ircink
Ircink, Carpenter, Amenta

Public Works

Trustee Warren

Warren, Stokebrand, Bockhorst

Public Safety

Trustee Stokebrand

Stokebrand, Bockhorst, Warren

Strategic Initiatives

Trustee Bockhorst

Bockhorst, Warren, Stokebrand
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2020 Trustee Appointments to Volunteer Committees
Volunteer Committees

Trustee Appointment

Plan Commission
CDA
School/Village Bi-Board
Business Improvement District
Human Relations Committee
Police Commission
Library Board
Conservation Committee
Park Commission
Ped & Bike Safety Committee
Historic Society
Public Art
Marketing Committee/Shorewood Today
Elder Services Advisory Committee

President Rozek and Trustee Stokebrand
Trustee Amenta and Trustee Stokebrand
Trustee Wareren & Trustee Carpenter
Trustee Ircink
Trustee Warren
Trustee Amenta
Trustee Amenta
Trustee Warren
Trustee Ircink
Trustee Bockhorst
Trustee Carpenter
Trustee Carpenter
Trustee Carpenter
Trustee Bockhorst

Tr. Bockhorst stated she is in her third term as the longest standing Village Board member with
all of her races being contested. She expressed she does not mind being given Strategic
Initiatives committee; the depth of knowledge and being on the least important committee,
which she considers to be a starter committee and other new Trustees being placed on more
important committees and would like the process to be redone. Tr. Bockhorst publicly stated
at previous meetings that she cannot make the Elder Services Advisory Committee meetings.
Tr. Amenta stated she has every confidence in the two new Trustees. She suggested maybe
the Village Board should look into reorganizing the committee structure we have.
President Rozek stated the Committee appointments will stand as noted.
Attorney Bayer reminded the Village Board this is listed as an update and not up for extensive
discussion; this should occur under Items for Future Consideration.
Next Steps for Standing Committee & Committee of the Whole Meetings
President Rozek explained the Committees haven’t been meeting because of the COVID-19,
the Committee of the Whole will be meeting so the Village Board can address some larger
topics that have been put on hold.
Read Clerk’s Week Proclamation
b. Village Trustees – None
c. Village Manager –
Update on next steps for the 2021 initiatives – No update given
Update on Mailing out Absentee Request (EL-121) and Voter Registration Forms (EL-131) –
No update given
11. Items for future consideration (11:52 p.m.)

12. Adjournment.
Tr. Amenta moved and Tr. Bockhorst seconded to adjourn at 11:53 p.m. Motion carried 7 - 0.
Respectfully submitted,
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Sara Bruckman, CMC/WCMC
Village Clerk
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO VILLAGE BOARD
Agenda Item: Consider human resource manual amendment for health insurance opt-out
payment.
Date: May 18, 2020
Presenter: Tyler Burkart, Assistant Village Manager
Department: Village Manager’s Office
History – Please include a timeline of historical relevant events related to this agenda item. This may

include previous Village Board action, policies, planning documents, etc. If able, hyperlink to previous
agenda packets (include page number) to reference information. If there is no relevant history, N/A
should be entered in this space.

1. The JP&L Committee reviewed the proposed changes to the 2020 HR Manual. The Committee
recommended by a 3-0 vote for the Village Board to approve the manual at the Board’s
December 16 meeting with the exception of the Sick Leave Donation Sharing Program which
shall remain in Committee and reviewed further (link).
2. The Village Board approved the 2020 Human Resources manual by a 7-0 vote at their December
16, 2019 meeting (link).

Agenda Item Discussion – Please provide a summary of the agenda item along with bullet points
highlighting the main items and key issues to be discussed.
The Village of Shorewood provides employees who qualify for family health coverage a $250 opt-out
payment. The purpose of the benefit is to encourage employees to elect their spouse’s coverage or
another eligible coverage and save on health insurance costs. This benefit saves the Village
approximately $24,600 every time a family eligible employee elects another coverage.
There is an added benefit for Police union officers that they can still receive the $250 opt-out payment if
they elect single coverage and are eligible for family coverage. There are few circumstances where this
applies to employees, but it still can save the Village $15,000 for every employee who elects this option.
During a benefit audit performed this winter, staff noted that the human resources manual doesn’t
award Police command staff (non-union) this benefit. Staff recommends to add this benefit to the HR
manual for Police command staff so that a $3,000 benefit doesn’t discourage a good performing patrol
officer from being promoted to Sergeant.
Since staff was informed of a future Police command staff vacancy, staff would like to make this
correction now versus waiting until the 2021 HR manual is proposed for the Village Board’s
consideration.

Community and Business Outreach – If applicable, did you notify the community groups and
businesses that are directly impacted by this agenda item. Please specify in attached
communication plan how community groups and businesses will be informed of action after
Village Board consideration.
____ Yes
__X__ No

Fiscal Note – Please include comments on the fiscal impact of this action.
Opt-out payments for Police employees are in line item Health Insurance: 100-2100-51300. If approved,
the Village doesn’t anticipate any impact on the 2020 budget. Only one command staff person would be
eligible for the benefit. This employee originally received the benefit as an officer. The Village
mistakenly continued allocating funds in the 2020 budget and providing the benefit after their
promotion. The recent benefit audit in winter caught the error, and the Village asked the employee to
reimburse the organization since they weren’t eligible for the benefit anymore. This action would
restore the opt-out payment for them. The employee may possibly elect family coverage in 2021 if not
awarded the opt-out payment benefit, which would have a financial impact of approximately $15,000.

Action Required / Recommended – Please include the recommended motion or possible actions for

this agenda item.

Recommend motion: “I move to amend the HR manual effective immediately allowing Police command
staff to receive a $250 opt-out payment when electing single coverage and qualifying for family
coverage.”

Attachments – Please list the following attachments and supporting documents for this agenda item.

Some attachments may be hyperlinked. Include Fiscal notes, if applicable, as the first attachment
following this memorandum. Attachments may include: agreements/contracts, presentation materials,
letters, service proposals, etc.
1. HR manual amendment track changes

Village of Shorewood
Human Resources Manual

starting employees who begin after June 15 will have the option of staying at the 12% level for one additional year
unless they would like to complete the Wellness Scorecard in order to contribute at the 10% level for the next
year. Employees internally promoted and were either a union employee or not eligible for health insurance will
be treated the same as a new employee when determining their health insurance contribution level. Union
employees shall contribute the level as indicated in the Police Union Contract.
The high deductible plan. Regular full‐time employees shall contribute ten percent (10%) of the health insurance
premium through payroll deduction, except as required by law. The Village will provide a contribution towards
an employee’s health savings account (HSA) in the amount of $400 to those employees on a single plan and $1,200
to those employees on a family plan for 2018. These amounts will be provided in quarterly increments to all
employees on the high deductible plan during the first payroll period of every quarter (January, April, July,
October). Employees who start mid‐year will receive their first HSA contribution when the next quarterly
increment occurs. Employees who are eligible and complete the Wellness Scorecard will receive an additional
$500 (single plan) or $900 (family plan) in their health savings account from the Village. Spouses that also
complete the wellness scorecard in addition to an employee’s completion will be awarded an additional $600 in
their health savings account. The wellness contributions to an employee’s HSA will be given to an employee in
biweekly increments (every pay period), and employees who resign mid‐year will only earn up to the amount
distributed in their accounts earlier in the year. The employee is able to contribute additional funds up to the
federal limit. Union employees shall contribute the level as indicated in the Police Union Contract.
o Regular part‐time employees who work more than 20 hours per week shall contribute a pro‐rated amount. The pro‐
rated amount is computed by taking the contribution dollar amount the Village contributes for a full‐time employee,
multiplying it by the number of hours per week the regular part‐time employee works and dividing it by 40 hours per
week. Those regular part‐time employees who successfully completed the Wellness Scorecard can pro‐rate their
contribution amounts based on the Wellness incentive identified in section 6.E.1.3. Health savings account
contributions will also be pro‐rated based on this formula.
o The Village shall have the right to select, from time to time, the insurance carriers or health plans to be included in the
Village's group health insurance program. The Village shall notify all employees of any such change within a reasonable
period of time thereafter.
o All employees shall be required to provide the Village with a verification of present coverage under any health
insurance policy other than that provided by the Village.
o

An opt‐out payment of two hundred and fifty dollars ($250) per month will be given to regular full‐time employees
who decline the Village health insurance coverage. Police command staff will also be eligible for the $250 opt‐out
payment if they elect single coverage when they qualify for family coverage. Employees who elect this option must
notify the Village by November 1 of the year preceding the change or by the end of the open enrollment cycle and
must retain this “opt‐out” option unless the employee becomes subject to a qualifying event as defined by the plan
document or applicable federal statutory or regulatory directive.

6.E.2. Health Insurance Retirement Benefit
o

Qualified retirement means the retirement meets the criteria to be considered a retirement under the provisions of
Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes related to public employee retirement.
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VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO VILLAGE BOARD
Agenda Item: Consider Approval of New Online Payment Provider
Date: May 18, 2020
Presenter: Mark Emanuelson

Department: Finance

History:
Upon occasion staff is contacted by prospective service providers who request an opportunity to present
their various products in the hopes of gaining new customers. Staff generally tries to accommodate those
requests for products or services that may have an opportunity to improve our operations or capabilities.
A few months ago a vendor named Invoice Cloud, who has recently joined with Payment Service Network, a
prominent online payment and credit card processing company, reached out to the village looking for an
opportunity to demonstrate their online payment solutions platform.
After viewing their demonstration, it was apparent that this platform was extremely customer friendly and
would also provide the village an opportunity to expand our online payment capabilities. There are a
number of enhancements to our current Point N Pay online payment provider, but one significant added
capability is that this platform allows the village to accept payments for non-invoiced services. Another
word, customers can make a payment to request a service, such as a special refuse pick-up, DPW yard
services, Senior Resource Center activities, or any other purchase upon request items. Then once the
payment is processed, the responsible department is emailed a notification of the request.
The other major improvement is that this platform would allow residents to manage their ebilling,
automatic payments, and other one-time online payments directly through this vendor’s customer friendly
platform. The automatic payment capabilities would also now offer automatic credit card payments and
the ability to process credit card payments by telephone, functionalities that are not currently available.
Their ebilling platform also facilitates the sending of reminder notices if invoices are not paid within a few
days of the due date, as well as the ability for customer to review their invoices online.
This solution would integrate with the village’s BS&A software platform. Invoice Cloud currently has over 80
BS&A customers using their platform. Tax payments would continue to be processed by Point N Pay as they
have an established integration with the GCS software system, the County wide tax processing software.

Agenda Item Discussion:
The online payment industry has many different service providers and is very competitive based on costs to
process transactions. The Village currently spends about $22,000 per year on online payment processing
fees, mostly for utility payments. This prospective new vendor would offer equivalent transaction
processing fees for about $500 less than our current provider.
However, the additional functionality to manager customer online payments, paperless ebilling, customer
reminders and online bill review capabilities, credit card and bank automatic payments, and the ability to
process credit card payments by for any billed service, is expected to cost an extra $2,000 per year.

Staff also expects that this platform would generate additional customer engagement over time. This would
then start to offset some of these costs through reduced postage and mailing costs, as well as decreased
manual transaction processing time.
If the village chose to change service providers to take advantage of the additional functionality of this new
platform, that contract would have a value in excess of $10,000. As such, this does require Village Board
approve under the purchasing policy.
The purchasing policy would also require the development of an RFP and solicitation of bids. However, due
to the fact that the primary cost for these services are the commodity in nature credit card transaction fees
that would pertain to any prospective vendor, staff seeks permission to consider this a professional service
contract with a value of less than $10,000 for the purposes of the competitive pricing purchasing
requirements.
Staff would also assert that in the interest of making additional online payment options available to our
residents as soon as possible, sole sourcing would be justified given the extensive time that would be
required to draft and approve a RFP for these services and then send that out for a full competitive bidding
and evaluation process.
If the Village Board agrees with this request, staff would negotiate a service agreement with this vendor
and begin the implementation processes immediately.

Fiscal Note / Budget Impact – There would be an annual fiscal impact of approximately $2,000 at current
service levels. Most of this impact would be within the water and sewer utility credit card fees.
Action Required / Recommended – Move to allow staff to negotiate a service agreement with Invoice
Cloud for online payment services and approve them as the Villages new online service provider for BS&A
related transactions and customer requested services.
Attachments: credit card fee comparison analysis.
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Automatic Payments

Paperless ebilling

iCloud manages auto pay functionality & transactions
Customers can set‐up autopay to their credit cards
customer banking info on Village servers
Includes reminder notices if requested
$0.45 per participating account
350 current accounts
$150 per quarter

iCloud manages ebilling functionality & transactions
Customers can set‐up ebilling online
adding new customers saves $.50 net per account
Includes reminder notices if requested
$0.35 per participating account
300 current accounts
$100 per quarter

Cloud Store

IVR Phone Payments (optional)

Allows to pay for non‐invoiced services
Special pick‐ups, SRC fees, Saturday permits
Separate data entry page per item requested
sends email notification to applicable departments
No additional cost

Provide ability to pay by phone
handeled by iCloud help desk
$0.95 per item

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO VILLAGE BOARD
Agenda Item: Consider Resolution #2020-16 – Requesting Estabrook Parkway to be added to
the Milwaukee Active Streets Program.
Date: May 18, 2020
Presenter: Tyler Burkart, Assistant Village Manager
Department: Village Manager’s Office
History – Please include a timeline of historical relevant events related to this agenda item. This may

include previous Village Board action, policies, planning documents, etc. If able, hyperlink to previous
agenda packets (include page number) to reference information. If there is no relevant history, N/A
should be entered in this space.

1. The Village Board on May 4, 2020 discussed potential pedestrian street closures as requested by
a number of community members (link). The Village Board deferred the issue to Pedestrian and
Bicycle Safety Committee to make a recommendation.
2. The Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Committee met on May 12, 2020 to discuss Shorewood’s
potential Active Streets program (link). The Committee passed a motion by a 6-0 vote to add
Estabrook Parkway to the Milwaukee Active Streets Program.

Agenda Item Discussion – Please provide a summary of the agenda item along with bullet points
highlighting the main items and key issues to be discussed.
The Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Committee spent several hours on May 12, 2020 discussing the best
way for Shorewood to implement Active Streets concepts. Active Streets provide additional open space
for community members to walk, bike, and run.
After the discussion, the Committee recommended to add Estabrook Parkway to the Milwaukee Active
Streets program. The Milwaukee Active Streets program is a cooperative effort between the City of
Milwaukee and the Milwaukee County Parks. The Committee believes Estabrook Parkway contains
several characteristics that makes it an appropriate addition to the program. In addition, Wilson Drive
would be able to take on additional traffic that would have traveled on Estabrook Parkway.
Representatives from Milwaukee County expressed support to add Estabrook Parkway to the program
as long as the Village of Shorewood supported the action through a resolution. The Committee didn’t
specify a time frame of how long Estabrook Parkway would be an active street, but this specification can
be determined by Milwaukee County Parks and be consistent with the other streets in the program.

Community and Business Outreach – If applicable, did you notify the community groups and
businesses that are directly impacted by this agenda item. Please specify in attached
communication plan how community groups and businesses will be informed of action after
Village Board consideration.
__X__ Yes
____ No
The proposal was included in the Village Manager’s Memo, social media posts, and the website prior to
tonight’s meeting.

Fiscal Note – Please include comments on the fiscal impact of this action.
There is no fiscal impact for this action.

Action Required / Recommended – Please include the recommended motion or possible actions for

this agenda item.

Recommend motion: “I move to adopt Resolution #2020-16 – Requesting Estabrook Parkway to be
added to the Milwaukee Active Streets Program.”

Attachments – Please list the following attachments and supporting documents for this agenda item.

Some attachments may be hyperlinked. Include Fiscal notes, if applicable, as the first attachment
following this memorandum. Attachments may include: agreements/contracts, presentation materials,
letters, service proposals, etc.
1. Resolution

STATE OF WISCONSIN : MILWAUKEE COUNTY : VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

RESOLUTION – 2020 – 16
A RESOLUTION REQUESTING ESTABROOK PARKWAY TO BE ADDED TO THE
MILWAUKEE ACTIVE STREETS PROGRAM
WHEREAS, the North Shore Health Department and the Centers of Disease Control and
Prevention established social distancing proactive measures in an attempt to slow the spread of COVID19; and
WHEREAS, Milwaukee Active Streets is a partnership between the City of Milwaukee and
Milwaukee County Parks to open up outdoor space; and
WHEREAS, Active Streets are closed to through traffic but still accessible for anyone who lives
or work on the street; and
WHEREAS, while Active Streets provide additional open space for community members to
walk, bike, and run, community members are still asked to obey social distancing measures when
utilizing the spaces; and
WHEREAS, Shorewood community members are requesting additional open space as a result of
playgrounds and other play spaces closed as well as trails and sidewalks containing a higher density of
people recently; and
WHEREAS, representatives from Milwaukee County Parks expressed support for Estabrook
Parkway to be closed as long as there is support from the Village of Shorewood; and
WHEREAS, the Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Committee reviewed the possibility of including
Estabrook Parkway in the Active Streets program and determined it would be consistent with other
roadways and streets included in the Milwaukee Active Streets program;
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Village Board of the Village of Shorewood to
recommend to the City of Milwaukee and Milwaukee County Parks to add Estabrook Parkway to the
Milwaukee Active Streets program.
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Village Board of the Village of Shorewood, Milwaukee
County, Wisconsin, this 18th day of May, 2020.
___________________________________
Allison Rozek, Village President
Countersigned:
___________________________________
Sara Bruckman, CMC/WCMC, Village Clerk

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO VILLAGE BOARD
Agenda Item: Discuss and possibly consider adding Menlo Boulevard to the Active Streets
program.
Date: May 18, 2020
Presenter: Tyler Burkart, Assistant Village Manager
Department: Village Manager’s Office
History – Please include a timeline of historical relevant events related to this agenda item. This may

include previous Village Board action, policies, planning documents, etc. If able, hyperlink to previous
agenda packets (include page number) to reference information. If there is no relevant history, N/A
should be entered in this space.

1. The Village Board on May 4, 2020 discussed potential pedestrian street closures as requested by
a number of community members (link). The Village Board deferred the issue to Pedestrian and
Bicycle Safety Committee to make a recommendation.
2. The Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Committee met on May 12, 2020 to discuss Shorewood’s
potential Active Streets program (link). The Committee passed a motion by a 6-0 vote stating:
“Add Menlo Blvd. from Morris Blvd. to Lake Dr. to the Active Streets program for 24 hours per
day similar to Milwaukee’s Active Streets program until school is in session or until the North
Shore Health Department identifies social distancing is no longer necessary. The sidewalks
would be reserved for pedestrians. Motorists or anything with wheels will need to still obey
traffic signs. North-south through traffic can still go through the active street but not allowed to
turn left or right unless for local traffic. Those other blocks that want to be included should
notify the Village Manager’s Office and placed on the next Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety
Committee to make a recommendation for Village Board final approval.”

Agenda Item Discussion – Please provide a summary of the agenda item along with bullet points

highlighting the main items and key issues to be discussed.

General Summary
The Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Committee spent several hours on May 12, 2020 discussing the best
way for Shorewood to implement Active Streets concepts. The Committee mentioned they didn’t want
to call the action a bicycle or pedestrian street closure because the street is still open for local traffic and
can be used in a variety of ways.
After discussion, the Committee committed to Menlo Boulevard (from Morris Blvd. to Lake Dr.) as the
stretch to try first as an active street. The Committee believed this stretch was the best location for a
few reasons. This stretch hits several main corridors (i.e. Oakland Ave. and Lake Dr.), connects to
several public spaces such as the Oak Leaf Trail and park space, and takes advantage of the boulevard’s
safety design features. Other streets considered as a test active street include Lake Bluff, Olive,
Kensington, Beverly, and Murray. Lake Bluff and Olive were disregarded due to the current street
reconstruction project. Murray was disregarded due to the Fire Department’s use as a main
thoroughfare for emergency responses. Kensington was also considered, but the Committee expressed

Menlo Blvd. had more access to other public spaces and was more centrally located by at least one
block.
If approved, the Committee recommends all north-south streets (i.e. Maryland, Prospect, Downer, etc.)
that go through the active street would still be allowed to do so and not be blocked off. The active
street would remain in effect until either school was back in session or the North Shore Health
Department lifts all social distancing measures, whichever action happens first. The barricades would be
placed for all 24 hours each day until the active street is no longer in effect. Sidewalks would be
reserved for pedestrians. Other blocks of the Village that would want to implement an active street, as
long as the Village has enough barricades, would need to submit an inquiry to the Village Manager’s
Office, who will place the submission on the upcoming Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Committee agenda.
The Committee would then make a recommendation for the Village Board to consider for their next
meeting.
Block parties are not advised by the North Shore Health Department while the Stay at Home order is in
place; however, they will be allowed under the gathering size limits identified in the local plan by phase.
Neighborhood residents can walk, bike, run, or wheel on these streets for exercise. Games, socializing,
or congregating are prohibited as they do not allow for proper physical distancing and do not adhere to
the guidance in the Safer at Home Order. All active streets, except for those in parks, will be open to
local traffic only. If you live on the street you will be able to drive on the street and park on the street as
needed. Parking will not be impacted. When driving on the street people are asked to drive with care
and slow down and yield to people walking, biking, or running. Efforts should be made to find alternate
driving routes whenever possible.
The Assistant Village Manager talked with the Committee as well as the Village Manager about the
communication and outreach of this action to community members, especially those on Menlo
Boulevard. Staff recommends for the Village Board to concentrate the May 18, 2020 discussion solely
around the concept. If the Board supports the concept of Menlo Boulevard (or a different location)
serving as the test location, staff will then mail a letter to all residents along the test location to inform
them of the proposal. Those residents would be encouraged to attend the June 1 Village Board meeting
for comments prior to approval that night. The Village would also communicate the proposal via social
media, manager’s memo, email, website, and a press release.
For more information on the Milwaukee Active Streets program, go to
https://activestreets.mailchimpsites.com/.
Below are additional comments from the Department of Public Works and the Police Department on the
implementation of the active streets recommendation:
Police Department Comments
The Police Department wanted to stress the streets would not be closed to traffic and that vehicles
would still enter that area. It is imperative for people using this area to understand they would need to
still use the same caution as they do on any street in the village. Any enforcement of this Active Street
area would be difficult as officers would have no immediate way to determine if vehicles utilizing the
roadway on Menlo had a legitimate purpose (i.e. resident, food delivery, newspaper delivery, etc.) to be
on that street. The department recommends there be clear messaging to both those that live in the
area and those that are going to be using the area that the roads are not closed to vehicles and to use
extreme caution.

Department of Public Works Comments
Staff estimates that for the route identified, a total of 46 Type 3 road barricades are necessary. With the
2020 budget allocation to purchase additional barricades for the bike race, we have sufficient inventory
for this purpose, however 30 additional light kits will be necessary to properly light these barricades.
Staff estimates the cost at $840.00 plus freight. Please see the attached traffic control plan for
reference.
As noted by the Police Department the roads are not closed to traffic. As such, staff recommends the
outer barricades be signed “LOCAL TRAFFIC ONLY”. We have no signs of this type in stock and estimate
the cost to obtain to be $1,170.00 plus freight for 30 signs.
Total shipping costs for the lights and signs is estimated at $362.00. The total cost for all materials with
freight is estimated at $2,372.00.
Southbound through traffic on Morris Boulevard will be diverted to Beverly Road (please see attached
proposed traffic control plan). For the duration of the Menlo Active Streets designation, Beverly Road
between Morris Boulevard and Oakland Avenue must be signed no parking (one side) to accommodate
the additional traffic due to its narrow width.
Public Works staff also recommends that should the start of the school year be deferred beyond the fall
season, the barricades be removed by November 1 to allow for proper snow and ice control operations.
Please also note that DPW does not have sufficient barricade inventory to support any additional
requests for Active Streets closures or block parties for the duration of the Menlo Active Streets
designation.

Community and Business Outreach – If applicable, did you notify the community groups and
businesses that are directly impacted by this agenda item. Please specify in attached
communication plan how community groups and businesses will be informed of action after
Village Board consideration.
__X__ Yes

____ No

As described in the general summary, the Village has several strategies to communicate the proposal to
those impacted based on the Village Board’s May 18 direction. The Village did perform some additional
outreach via manager’s memo, social media, website, and email in preparation for tonight’s meeting.

Fiscal Note – Please include comments on the fiscal impact of this action.
Material costs necessary for implementation are estimated at $X and are detailed in DPW section above.
The Committee didn’t discuss any fee for becoming an active street but may be a consideration the
Village Board may want to discuss.

Action Required / Recommended – Please include the recommended motion or possible actions for

this agenda item.

Option #1: “I move to agree to the Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Committee’s recommendation in
concept and direct staff to notify residents along Menlo Boulevard about the June 1 Village Board
meeting.”
Option #2: “I move to amend the Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Committee’s recommendation by [insert
amendment] and direct staff to notify residents along [insert location] about the June 1 Village Board
meeting.”

Attachments – Please list the following attachments and supporting documents for this agenda item.

Some attachments may be hyperlinked. Include Fiscal notes, if applicable, as the first attachment
following this memorandum. Attachments may include: agreements/contracts, presentation materials,
letters, service proposals, etc.
1. May 12 Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Committee Meeting Materials
2. Proposed traffic control plan

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD
REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO PEDESTRIAN AND BICYCLE SAFETY COMMITTEE
Agenda Item: Consider Recommendation for Temporary Alternative Open Spaces
Date: May 12, 2020
Presenter: Tyler Burkart, Assistant Village Manager
Department: Village Manager’s Office
Agenda Item Discussion – Please provide a summary of the agenda item along with bullet points
highlighting the main items and key issues to be discussed.
The Village has been receiving a number of requests for alternative outdoor spaces during the current
pandemic, which may include street closures or temporary bike boulevards. Residents submitting the
requests are referencing the Wisconsin Bike Federation's petition calling for low-volume streets
(Milwaukee Journal Sentinel article on petition) to be closed to automobile traffic to provide additional
space for people to walk and ride while maintaining social distancing. Some community members
expressed a need for additional outdoor space. Meanwhile, the Village wants to make sure any proposal
(if approved) would maintain the social distancing and other safety measures promoted by the North
Shore Health Department.
After discussing the topic during their May 4 meeting, the Village Board is asking the Pedestrian and
Bicycle Safety Committee to come up with a recommendation. The Committee will be able to utilize
resources from the Police, DPW, and Village Manager’s Office in order to finalize a recommendation in
response to these requests. Committee members are encouraged to review the Ped and Bike Master
Plan to see if any of those concepts can be applied to the recommendation. Committee members
should also read through the Village Board materials on this topic prior to the meeting starting on page
176. Pedestrian and bicycle safety, availability of personnel and volunteers to move barricades and
other traffic control, street cleanup of activities occurring in the right-of-way, traffic flow, access for
emergency responders, selecting locations of alternative open spaces, and parameters for dogs are just
some of the issues to be considered when finalizing a recommendation.

Community and Business Outreach – If applicable, did you notify the community groups and
businesses that are directly impacted by this agenda item. Please specify in attached
communication plan how community groups and businesses will be informed of action after
Village Board consideration.
__X__ Yes
____ No
Notification of this meeting was communicated through more channels than normal, including the
weekly Manager’s Memo, Facebook, and the front page of the website.

Action Required / Recommended – Please include the recommended motion or possible actions for
this agenda item.
There is no recommended motion. The Committee is asked to formulate and approve a
recommendation by the end of the meeting.

Attachments – Please list the following attachments and supporting documents for this agenda item.
Some attachments may be hyperlinked. Include Fiscal notes, if applicable, as the first attachment
following this memorandum. Attachments may include: agreements/contracts, presentation materials,
letters, service proposals, etc.
1. Village Board May 4 Memo on Alternative Open Spaces
2. Article in New York Times titled “Cities Close Streets to Cars, Opening Space for Social
Distancing”

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO VILLAGE BOARD
Agenda Item: Explore alternatives to create safe outdoor spaces, including but not limited to, possible
closure of streets, sidewalks and other areas of the municipality.

Date: May 4, 2020
Presenter: Rebecca Ewald, Village Manager
Department: Village Manager’s Office
History – Please include a timeline of historical relevant events related to this agenda item. This may

include previous Village Board action, policies, planning documents, etc. If able, hyperlink to previous
agenda packets (include page number) to reference information. If there is no relevant history, N/A
should be entered in this space.

1. March, 2020 – the Wisconsin Bike Federation started a petition calling for low-volume streets
(link to article) to be closed to automobile traffic to provide additional space for people to walk
and ride while maintaining social distancing.
2. The City of Madison implemented a Shared Streets plan during the time of the Stay at Home
order. Madison evaluated their shared streets locations based on three key components: 1)
Crowding issues, 2) Population, and 3) Density. In addition, they evaluated ease of
cost/implementation, avoiding routes with public transit stops and impact to businesses doing
curbside pick-up.
3. April, 2020 - Milwaukee County Parks closed Grant Park Drive through Grant Park to vehicle
traffic and is hoping to add another parkway as a pilot site — either in Jackson Park or Lincoln
Creek Parkway — before evaluating other routes. The parks department is working with the
Milwaukee County Sherriff's Office and the City of Milwaukee to evaluate the feasibility and
develop the logistics. North Shore Health Department (NSHD) has requested on behalf of the
Village that Milwaukee County Parks close Estabrook Parkway. PENDING - I’VE REQUESTED AN
UPDATE FROM MILWAUKEE COUNTY PARKS
4. NSHD does not recommend closure of local, low volume residential streets. Closure of
individual blocks creates a block party environment that does not support the message of
moving through our parks and adhering to social distancing. As an additional reference point,
NSHD has also advised that communities do not issue block party permit requests until further
guidance supports gatherings of 50 or more at one place/time in conjunction with the Badger
Bounce Back plan.
5. Wisconsin DOT - modification and partial lane closures on Lake Drive, a state highway, require
an approved permit. The DOT advised that they will not permit partial lane closure with cones
but would permit partial lane closures with concrete barriers. In addition the DOT would allow
the Village to prohibit parking on either side of Lake Drive if large message board signs were
placed on the north and south end of Lake Drive advising of the new pedestrian lanes and
construction bollards were placed on the dividing line between the parking lane and vehicle lane
at each intersection to Lake Drive advising drivers with signage, and then placed along the same
dividing line more sporadically to visually advise drivers the pedestrians/cyclists would be
utilizing the parking lane for pedestrian activity.
6. Considerations for low volume residential street closures:
- Would on-street parking be allowed?
- What communication will take place with all residents along the route, informing them of
the changes and requirements?

-

DPW may need to rent road closure traffic signage/devices depending upon length of
route/location/requirements and create new signage.
- Waste Management recycling and Village refuse trucks will continue to access any closed
areas.
- Morris Boulevard has additional large vehicle traffic daily from our DPW department and
Hubbard Park.
- Roadway closures are not recommended within 1-2 blocks for the current 2020 Road
Reconstruction Project due to already displaced parking of vehicles and limited roadway
access through August for residents along the construction routes.
7. All Shorewood Parks are open under the direction to “Move Through” the park. The beach is
currently closed; however, it is anticipated that it will be open with possible restrictions in the
near future. The Shorewood High School track is also open for public use, while adhering to
social distancing.
8. Here is a link to the Village of Shorewood Comprehensive Bicycle Study, p. 17 has an overview
map of currently bicycle facilities.
9. Here is a link to the Village Pedestrian & Bicycle Master Plan, 2015.

Agenda Item Discussion – Please provide a summary of the agenda item along with bullet points

highlighting the main items and key issues to be discussed.

The information above was gathered in preparation for the discussion.

Community and Business Outreach – If applicable, did you notify the community groups and
businesses that are directly impacted by this agenda item. Please specify in attached
communication plan how community groups and businesses will be informed of action after
Village Board consideration.
____ Yes

__X__ No

If Yes, identify how and what community groups and businesses were notified.
Action Required / Recommended – Please include the recommended motion or possible actions for

this agenda item.

To be determined by the Village Board.

Attachments – Please list the following attachments and supporting documents for this agenda item.

Some attachments may be hyperlinked. Include Fiscal notes, if applicable, as the first attachment
following this memorandum. Attachments may include: agreements/contracts, presentation materials,
letters, service proposals, etc.

Cities Close Streets to Cars, Opening
Space for Social Distancing
Boston, Minneapolis, Oakland and other cities have temporarily banned through traffic
on streets, giving pedestrians and cyclists extra elbow room during the coronavirus
pandemic.

Oakland, Calif., began closing streets to through traffic on Saturday to make it easier for
residents to maintain a safe distance while outside.Credit...Jim Wilson/The New York
Times

By Johnny Diaz
•
•
o
o
o

April 11, 2020

o
o

With roads cleared of traffic because of the coronavirus pandemic, some cities across the
country have repurposed streets into car-free zones, giving pedestrians and cyclists extra
room to spread out and practice social distancing.
Cities including Boston, Minneapolis and Oakland, Calif., have closed streets to through
motor traffic. Others are extending sidewalks to make more space for pedestrians
looking to stay at least six feet apart. And some municipalities are considering adopting
similar measures.
Samuel I. Schwartz, a consultant and former New York City traffic commissioner known
as Gridlock Sam for his traffic-curbing efforts, supports the idea of car-free zones in the
city.
“There is no more important resource in New York City and in all the dense cities after
people than space,” he said on Saturday. “And cities are now dedicating 30 to 40 percent
of their land areas to cars. This could be a welcomed reclamation movement.”
Traffic at New York City’s busiest bridges and tunnels has fallen nearly 60 percent. The
city recently experimented with a short-lived pilot program that converted parts of four
major thoroughfares to pedestrians for social distancing. Mayor Bill de Blasio suggested
that he might revisit the program, which drew criticism from advocates of alternative
transportation for not going far enough.
In Oakland, some 74 miles of roadway, about 10 percent of the city’s streets, will
eventually be closed to through motor traffic as part of a new program called Oakland
Slow Streets that started on Saturday.
“This is an effort to give Oaklanders space to spread out to engage in outdoor recreation
in a socially distant manner,” Mayor Libby Schaaf announced on Twitter on Friday.
The program began by closing four street segments to through traffic (local traffic and
emergency vehicles were still permitted).
“We want Oaklanders to have space and give our parks a break,” she added, asking that
residents wear a mask if they head outside.
An advocacy group for pedestrians and cyclists in Berkeley, Calif., has also started
a petition calling for a similar car-free program that would temporarily repurpose the
city’s bike boulevards.
On Saturday, the Massachusetts Department of Conservation & Recreation closed three
segments of parkways in the greater Boston area to vehicles, leaving them open to
pedestrians and cyclists only.

Image

William J. Day Boulevard in South Boston is closed to auto traffic over the Easter
weekend.Credit...Michael Dwyer/Associated Press

The department said that the measures, which are currently in place for this weekend
only, “will promote social distancing to aid in the prevention of spreading Covid-19.”
The department said it would evaluate the effectiveness of the closures after the
weekend.
In the Boston suburb of Brookline, the town’s Select Board and Transportation Board
last week approved the extension of sidewalks along four major thoroughfares to enable
social distancing for cyclists, pedestrians, wheelchair users and scooter riders. The
modifications repurpose parking lanes, opening them up for pedestrians by limiting
motor traffic.
Jonathan Berk, a proponent of new urbanism, applauded the efforts in Boston and
beyond and said they allow residents to see their cities in a new light.
“I’m hoping that as we continue over the next few weeks and months to allocate more
now-empty streets to people, it will show people the benefits of a less auto-centric urban
environment,” he said in an email. “Showing urban residents what’s possible when you
have this ‘blank canvas’ of street space to utilize for walking, biking, running, playing
games with neighbors and just enjoying as a new, public neighborhood open space.”

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO VILLAGE BOARD
Agenda Item: Review biannual Sidewalk Program.
Date:
May 18, 2020
Presenter:
Leeann Butschlick, Director
Department: Public Works
History – Please include a timeline of historical relevant events related to this agenda item. This may include

previous Village Board action, policies, planning documents, etc. If able, hyperlink to previous agenda packets
(include page number) to reference information. If there is no relevant history, N/A should be entered in this space.

There are approximately 60 miles of public sidewalk pavement within the Village of Shorewood. To
ensure these walks remain in good condition, a regular sidewalk replacement program is administered
on a rotating cycle. All public sidewalks and carriage walks in the target area are reviewed and identified
for removal or repair.
The Village has conducted these sidewalk replacement programs for decades. Records from the 1990’s
indicate the program was implemented annually in one of six defined areas. Concrete replacement
criteria were adopted by the Village Board in May, 1995. The cost was assessed to the adjacent property
owner at 100% of cost (50% for corner property non-address side). The contract was administered and
inspected by staff in the Department of Community Development (DCD), the present day Planning and
Development Department. Documented program changes occurred as follows:
• 2006-07 – beginning in 2006, the responsibility for administration of all public construction
projects (sidewalks, roads, water and sewer improvements) was moved from DCD to the
Department of Public Works. Sidewalk inspections in 2006 and 2007 were performed by a DPW
staff member on injury-restricted duty.
• 2008 – there was no project due to the street reconstruction program and the Oakland Avenue
Streetscape project.
• 2009 – Village’s Pavement Management Plan was adopted. The sidewalk program changed to a
biennial program, implemented in odd calendar years. The schedule/map was modified from
the previous six areas to four (geographical quadrants). Inspection duties were performed by a
former DPW seasonal staff interning with the Village’s then-municipal engineer, Bonestroo &
Associates.
• 2011-13 – the project map/schedule was slightly modified in 2011 to avoid an area adjacent to
Edgewood Avenue that was particularly impacted by the June 2010 storm events. Inspection
duties in both years were performed by DPW interns.
• 2015-17 – in 2015 the program schedule/map was again modified to five project areas, primarily
to meet the available scope of work as the deferred work increased quantities significantly
above the available contract capacity. Also in 2015, the Board approved a contract with an
engineering firm for field inspection as it was agreed that professional inspection would improve
the work quality and experience for residents. Inspection was provided by Sigma in both project
years.
• 2019 – the concrete replacement criteria were modified. An option for grinding trip hazards,
rather than full slab replacement, was added to the program. Inspection was provided by Strand
Associates, the Village’s municipal engineer.
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Agenda Item Discussion – Please provide a summary of the agenda item along with bullet points highlighting
the main items and key issues to be discussed.

There are four primary components to the replacement program policy:
1.
Frequency/implementation of program.
2.
Program schedule (map).
3.
Funding mechanism(s).
4.
Replacement criteria and treatment methods.
Each of these components are addressed in greater detail below:
Frequency. As noted above, the sidewalk program was originally an annual program but modified to
occur biennially with the adoption of the Pavement Management Plan (PMP) schedule (major
infrastructure projects generally occur in even calendar years, with minor or maintenance programs
budgeted and scheduled for odd calendar years). Staff recommends this schedule continue as it aligns
with both the widespread infrastructure budgetary and project implementation goals as outlined in the
PMP. Additionally, the frequency of the program schedule adequately addresses liability concerns.
Schedule (map). A map illustrating the project schedule (through 2021) is attached as is a proposed
future schedule based upon the currently approved program parameters.
Funding mechanism. Sidewalk replacement is currently the only public infrastructure item which the
Village funds through a special assessment. The possibility of funding this program through the tax levy
has been discussed in the context of the Long Range Financial Plan development discussions in recent
years. In 2019, alternative funding scenarios were also reviewed during Village Board evaluation of
alternatives to address a significantly larger scope of work than estimated during the development of
bid documents. It was the consensus of the Board that funding of the 2019 project continue through
special assessment.
Per State Statute, the Village Board must approve a resolution authorizing the special assessment.
Estimated notices of assessment are sent at least 20 days prior to the start of construction. All notices of
assessment are generated and mailed by DPW administrative staff. Upon completion of the work the
assessment is automatically posted to the property tax bill. Based on prior Board action, sidewalk special
assessments in excess of $1,000 may be paid in two equal annual installments.
Each program year will include sidewalk replacement at various locations which is not assessable,
including pedestrian ramp repairs, walks located within alley approaches and sidewalk adjacent to
municipal property.
Please see the table below for historical program data highlights:
Approximate number
Cost per SF Cost per sidewalk
LF grinding
of Notices of
(5 inch)
section (5x6)
cost
Assessment issued
2019
$8.64
259.20
18.50
620
2017
$6.34
190.20
NA
350
2015
$7.64
229.20
NA
650
2013
$4.70
141.00
NA
670

Contract bid
amount
$235,530.00
$181,125.00
$268,500.00
$211,500.00
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Please note that in project years 2015-2019 above, the cost per square foot also incorporates the cost of
the contract field inspection (which has added approximately $1 per square foot to the total).
Replacement criteria and treatment methods. As noted above, the original 1995 concrete replacement
criteria were amended April 1, 2019 and further modified on June 17, 2019 (final copy attached). While
standards were relaxed with the June modification, the primary change as originally proposed was the
addition of criteria to allow for the incorporation grinding into the program.
Grinding, most properly referred to as scarifying, is commonly used to address offset concrete slabs
which result in a trip hazard. As noted, this was incorporated in the 2019 program and was generally
well received by residents, possibly because no charges were associated with the work. The locations
which met the criteria for grinding were significantly greater than that estimated in the program bid and
increased the Village portion of the project cost.
Staff’s initial finding was that grinding was not an assessable cost under Wis. Stat. Sec. 66.0701 as it did
not meet the statute’s definition of “installing or constructing any public work or improvement.” Upon
further review, however, the Village Attorney has provided an opinion that 66.0907 does allow for the
imposition of a “special charge” for the repair of sidewalks. This statutory “special charge” would be
applied in the same manner as the special assessment for a sidewalk replacement.
Based upon the experiences of the 2019 program, staff recommends grinding continue as a component
of the program. The grinding could be completed either through a vendor contract or by DPW staff with
proper equipment. On one occasion, the department borrowed the Whitefish Bay grinding machine for
a spot issue (Shorewood supplied its own blade), however for the volume of work that is anticipated
staff does not see a lending arrangement as feasible option. The cost of a similar piece of equipment is
$10,000. This type of machine is hand operated requiring the individual to manually move it down the
sidewalk from location to location. A second option is to purchase a scarifying attachment for one of
DPW’s current pieces of equipment. Options range from $20,00 to $40,000. By utilizing this attachment,
the operator is able to efficiently and effectively move from location to location while safely operating
from the cab of the machine. Staff believes such an attachment to be the best long-term option if it is
determined Village staff will complete the grinding portion of the program.
Given the equipment cost as noted above, and staff’s previously expressed safety concerns with the use
of a walk-behind grinding machine, staff recommends that future grinding of trip hazards remain a part
of the concrete replacement contract.
It is also staff’s intention to adjust the inspection contract scope of work to increase hours evaluating
quantities prior to bid. This will be offset with a reduction in construction field hours and the total cost is
not expected to be significantly different from previous programs. It will provide more accurate bid
quantities with the goal of averting the issues experienced with contract quantities in 2019 (please see
June 3, 2019 meeting materials for reference).

Fiscal Note – If applicable, please address the financial impacts of the item.
As it is currently funded primarily through special assessments, the sidewalk program has a relatively
minor impact on the Village’s overall infrastructure spending (the 2019 levy-supported budget allocation
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was $25,000). Continued use of grinding at the Village’s cost will require and increase to this amount for
2021 and future programs (estimated additional $25,000 - $50,000).
Should the Board again wish to consider removing the special assessment funding and move the
program to the tax role, staff would recommend that an estimated $250,000 would be scheduled for
each program year in the Long Range Financial Plan.

Community and Business Outreach – If applicable, did you notify the community groups and businesses
that are directly impacted by this agenda item. Please specify in attached communication plan how community
groups and businesses will be informed of action after Village Board consideration.

____ Yes

____ No

If Yes, identify how and what community groups and businesses were notified.

Action Required / Recommended – Please include the recommended motion or possible actions for this
agenda item.

Staff requests your consideration of staff recommendations related to the following multiple program
elements:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Program frequency – staff recommends the continuation of the biennial program (odd calendar
years) with the exceptions as noted in the Long Range Financial Plan to accommodate other
larger infrastructure plans.
2021-2031 project area map – staff recommends finalization following the adoption of the 20222030 Long Range Financial Plan schedule.
Funding mechanism – staff requests your confirmation of funding the sidewalk replacement and
grinding costs through special assessment and/or special charge.
Replacement criteria and treatment methods – staff is not requesting any modification to the
criteria at this time, however direction regarding the contracting vs. purchasing of equipment
for the grinding is requested.

Attachments – Please list the following attachments and supporting documents for this agenda item. Some
attachments may be hyperlinked. Include Fiscal notes, if applicable, as the first attachment following this
memorandum. Attachments may include: agreements/contracts, presentation materials, letters, service
proposals, etc.

1.
2.
3.

Sidewalk Replacement Program schedule (current)
Sidewalk Replacement Program schedule (proposed)
Policy 36 – Concrete Replacement Criteria

Shorewood Sidewalk Program

2019

2017

2021

2015

2023

2031

2029

2027

DRAFT - PROPOSED
Shorewood Sidewalk Program
2021-2031
Adopted May 18, 2020

2021

2025

Policy No.
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36
Authority:
Shorewood Village Board
Date of Issue:
Effective Date:
May 15, 1995; amended April 1, 2019

April 1, 2019

The Village Board has adopted Policy No. 36 for the purposes of establishing criteria related
to concrete replacement. An amendment approved April 1, 2019 establishes criteria related to
concrete grinding to address public sidewalk trip hazards.
CONCRETE REPLACMENT CRITERIA
All concrete surface, for public sidewalks, carriage walks, service walks, driveway
approaches, parking slabs, driveways and private sidewalks will be considered defective if one or
more of the following applicable conditions exist for the various categories:
1. Sidewalks with pieces that are loose or missing at or near control joints, within the center four
feet of a walkway.
2. Sidewalks with two or more pits or pockets possessing one dimension of at least three (3)
inches and a depth of at least ½ inches or pocket of sufficient size to pose a hazard that is
located in the center four feet of a walkway.
3. All concrete which has single or multiple cracks in a slab that have opened to a width of ¼ inch
for one or two cracks or greater than 1/8 inches for three or more cracks and extend the width
of the slab allowing displacement of the underlying base as well as ice formation and resultant
heaving.
4. All concrete slabs that have cracks with differential settlement of greater than ½ inch which
may cause tripping.
5. Concrete slabs that have a spalling and/or crumbling conditions over at least ¼ of the surface.
6. Concrete slabs that have a ponding condition due to improper drainage and misaligned slabs
that cannot be remedied by mudjacking.
7. Individual concrete slabs that are fractured into several pieces.
8. Materials other than concrete are used on an approach or private garage floor.
9. Concrete slab is eligible for grinding to correct a trip hazard(s) if the following conditions (a – f)
are met. Prior to grinding, the Village will notify the adjacent property owner of the intent to
grind and provide the option for replacement at owner’s cost according to assessment policy.
a. The concrete slab must NOT meet any of the criteria 1-9 identified above.
b. The concrete slab must not have been previously repaired.
c. The existing concrete slab must be at least 4 inches thick.
d. The vertical displacement (trip hazard) shall be between ½ and 1 ½ inches thick.
e. The spacing width between adjacent panels shall not exceed ½ inch.
f. The grinded surface shall not exceed 12 horizontal: 1 vertical slope.

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO VILLAGE BOARD
Agenda Item: Consider plan to re-open Saturday compactor at DPW yard.
Date:
May 18, 2020
Presenter:
Leeann Butschlick, Director
Department: Public Works
History – Please include a timeline of historical relevant events related to this agenda item. This may include

previous Village Board action, policies, planning documents, etc. If able, hyperlink to previous agenda packets
(include page number) to reference information. If there is no relevant history, N/A should be entered in this space.

Please recall that on April 6, 2020 the Village Board approved Resolution 2020-04 which suspended the
sections of the Village Code applicable to the operation of the Saturday drop-off site.

Agenda Item Discussion – Please provide a summary of the agenda item along with bullet points highlighting
the main items and key issues to be discussed.

As adopted, Resolution 2020-04 was to be in effect until such time that the department’s COVID-related
emergency staffing protocols were suspended. As such, staff is proposing to re-open the compactor for
Saturday drop-off beginning Saturday, June 6.
Staff is proposing the following temporary measures for your consideration:
•

•
•
•
•
•

Increased staffing. Per the current transfer station operation agreement, the site is to be staffed
with one Shorewood employee and one Whitefish Bay employee. Staff anticipates a larger-thantypical crowd on the first open date and proposes doubling the staff to two Shorewood and two
WFB employees.
Personal protective equipment. All staff will wear masks and gloves.
Reduced check-in contact. Staff will record resident address and disposal information rather than
utilizing a shared sign-in sheet.
Vehicle limits. In order to maintain traffic control, staff proposes limiting the number of vehicles in
the rear yard to four (4) at any given time.
No assistance removing items from vehicles.
Adjusted fees. Please consider the following:
o Staff suggests that as a gesture of good will, the gate fees could be suspended for the month
of June. As always, proof of residency will be required. Electronics charges would apply per
the fee schedule.
o In lieu of this option, staff requests that the disposal fees be temporarily adjusted to
amounts in five dollar increments to limit the amount of change necessary (and therefore
personal contact). This would result in the following fee changes:
 Gate fee car reduced to $10 from $12
 Gate fee truck/van/trailer reduced to $15 from $17

Communication with Whitefish Bay staff has been on-going and they have indicated general agreement
with these recommendations.

Fiscal Note – If applicable, please address the financial impacts of the item.

Sidewalk Program review

May 18, 2020

On average, $700.00 is generated in gate fees each open Saturday. Suspension of fees would have a
fiscal impact of $700-1,400 for the month, depending upon the number of no fee days as determined by
the Board.
If the Board were to choose to adjust the fees as outlined (to $10 and $15), staff estimates the revenue
loss to total approximately $100 each open date based upon the average number of site users.
Please note the above numbers are based upon average site users over the past six months. As noted
above, staff does anticipate June visits to far exceed the previous average based upon resident calls,
comments and inquiries.

Community and Business Outreach – If applicable, did you notify the community groups and businesses
that are directly impacted by this agenda item. Please specify in attached communication plan how community
groups and businesses will be informed of action after Village Board consideration.

____ Yes

____ No

If Yes, identify how and what community groups and businesses were notified.

Action Required / Recommended – Please include the recommended motion or possible actions for this
agenda item.

Staff requests your consideration of the temporary recommendations as noted above for the Saturday
compactor operation and requests your direction to finalize the operational changes with Whitefish Bay.
Additionally, staff requests your specific direction related to the proposal for adjusted fees.
Suggested motion: I move that staff be directed to collaborate with Whitefish Bay to implement
Saturday compactor temporary operation measures to include suspension of gate fees for the month of
(PICK ONE) June/suspension of gate fees for June 6th only/temporary adjustment of fees to $10 per car
and $15 per truck/van/trailer.

Attachments – Please list the following attachments and supporting documents for this agenda item. Some
attachments may be hyperlinked. Include Fiscal notes, if applicable, as the first attachment following this
memorandum. Attachments may include: agreements/contracts, presentation materials, letters, service
proposals, etc.

None.

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO VILLAGE BOARD
Agenda Item: Consider waiving lease payment for Hubbard Park Lodge.
Date: May 18, 2020
Presenter: Sara Bruckman, CMC
Department: Clerk Customer Service
History – Please include a timeline of historical relevant events related to this agenda item. This may

include previous Village Board action, policies, planning documents, etc. If able, hyperlink to previous
agenda packets (include page number) to reference information. If there is no relevant history, N/A
should be entered in this space.
1. The Village of Shorewood leases Hubbard Park Lodge, River Club and the area in between to
Russ Davis. Monthly lease payment is $3,333.

Agenda Item Discussion – Please provide a summary of the agenda item along with bullet points
highlighting the main items and key issues to be discussed.

Due to the Stay at Home Order and ever changing circumstances of the pandemic, restaurants have
been significantly challenged. Russ Davis is requesting a waiver of two months’ rent in the amount of
$6,666 and consideration to revisit the lease payment at the conclusion of summer. Davis did apply and
receive assistance from the CDA Emergency Business Grant Program in the amount of $4,237.
Waiver of two lease payments will result in $6,666 loss in revenue, as there is no alternative method to
recoup the revenue.

Community and Business Outreach – If applicable, did you notify the community groups and
businesses that are directly impacted by this agenda item. Please specify in attached
communication plan how community groups and businesses will be informed of action after
Village Board consideration.
____ Yes

__X__ No

If Yes, identify how and what community groups and businesses were notified.
Action Required / Recommended – Please include the recommended motion or possible actions for

this agenda item.

The Village Board is requested to act on the request.

Attachments – Please list the following attachments and supporting documents for this agenda item.

Some attachments may be hyperlinked. Include Fiscal notes, if applicable, as the first attachment
following this memorandum. Attachments may include: agreements/contracts, presentation materials,
letters, service proposals, etc.

From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

Russ Davis
Rebecca Ewald
Lease Forgiveness for Covid 19
Wednesday, May 13, 2020 3:18:26 PM

Hi Rebecca,
I wanted to follow up on a phone conversation we had about lease payments. With the total
uncertainty of the restaurant business in the future I was hoping the Village could waive my lease
payment for 2 months this year. As you know the restaurant business is devastated and most of my
weddings are cancelling for the summer. I have paid April so far and I can take care of May and June
but 2 months forgiveness would go a long way to stay above water (July and August). I would also
like to request that we revisit this situation at the end of summer to see what the future might hold.
Thank you for the consideration
Russ Davis
Vecchio Entertainment Group
2730 N Humboldt Blvd
Milwaukee, WI 53212
414-763-4175
www.escapetomilwaukee.com

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO THE VILLAGE BOARD
Agenda Item: Consider Agenda Management Vendor Selection.
Date: May 18, 2020
Presenter: Sara Bruckman, CMC/WCMC
Department: Clerk/Customer Service
History – Please include a timeline of historical relevant events related to this agenda item. This may

include previous Village Board action, policies, planning documents, etc. If able, hyperlink to previous
agenda packets (include page number) to reference information. If there is no relevant history, N/A
should be entered in this space.

1. October 2018 – As part of the 2019 Budget approval, the Village Board identified
Agenda Management as a 2020 initiative and approved $6,000 to investigate and
potentially purchase agenda management software for 2019.
2. August 2019 – Staff drafted an RFP for Agenda Management. The Judiciary, Personnel
and Licensing Committee reviewed and suggested minor language and timeline
revisions. The JP&L Committee agreed the RFP submittals should be approved after the
Village’s IT RFP process is complete.
3. September 3, 2019 - The Village Board approved RFP for Agenda Management (pg. 3 )
4. October 2019 – RFP Proposals were due to the Village for review
5. November 13 and 14, 2019 - Village staff including: Village Manager Rebecca Ewald,
Assistant Village Manager Tyler Burkart, Village Clerk Sara Bruckman, Deputy
Clerk/Customer Service Director Diane DeWindt-Hall, Planning, Development Director
Bart Griepentrog interviewed four (4) agenda management companies and Trustee
Davida Amenta interviewed two (2) agenda management companies.
6. December 16, 2019 – Village Clerk updated the Village Board and requested them to
review and provide comments and recommendations to the Judiciary, Personnel, and
Licensing Committee by December 30 to consider at their January 6, 2020 meeting.
(Page 168)
7. January 6, 2020 – Judiciary, Personnel and Licensing (notes) reviewed and deferred
further discussion until the next Committee Meeting. (page 46) Staff recommended
Provox.
8. January 21, 2020 – Judiciary, Personnel and Licensing (notes JP&L only) reviewed and
deferred and requested staff to review proposals with IT. (Page 3)
Agenda Item Discussion – Please provide a summary of the agenda item along with bullet points

highlighting the main items and key issues to be discussed.

The purpose of an agenda management system is to provide easy access for staff, Board and the general
public to meeting agendas, minutes and video recordings. To achieve this the Village is seeking to
reduce the time it takes to prepare/coordinate agendas, manage meetings and produce minutes and
video recordings and provide easy search capabilities for review of these items.
Staff is seeking direction on how to proceed with this initiative. Here are some options for consideration:
a. Reject all proposals and maintain status quo.

b. Defer the initiative until 2021, allocating $13,000 ($17,000 was budgeted for 2020 page 150) in the
2021 budget for implementation based upon the quotes received.
c. Defer initiative until 2022 for further consideration.
d. Select a vendor and implement an agenda management software, as time is available.
Implementation of a vendor was to be done in the first/second quarter of 2020. We have two
remaining elections and several adaptations due to COVID-19. Staff would need to evaluate the time
available to implement the software in 2020.
e. Defer direction on agenda management initiative until the Village Board considers all 2021 initiatives
on June 1 and June 15.

Community and Business Outreach – If applicable, did you notify the community groups and
businesses that are directly impacted by this agenda item. Please specify in attached
communication plan how community groups and businesses will be informed of action after
Village Board consideration.
___ Yes

__X__ No

If Yes, identify how and what community groups and businesses were notified.
Action Required / Recommended – Please include the recommended motion or possible actions for

this agenda item.

The Board is requested to make a motion with the direction deemed appropriate so that staff may work
plan for this item accordingly.

Attachments – Please list the following attachments and supporting documents for this agenda item.

Some attachments may be hyperlinked. Include Fiscal notes, if applicable, as the first attachment
following this memorandum. Attachments may include: agreements/contracts, presentation materials,
letters, service proposals, etc.

PROCLAMATION
WHEREAS, public works services provided in the Village of Shorewood are an
integral part of our residents’ everyday lives; and
WHEREAS, the support of an understanding and informed citizenry is vital to the
efficient operation of public works programs including sewer and water
systems, park and forestry maintenance, fleet and facilities
maintenance, refuse collection, street maintenance and repair, traffic
and streetlight system maintenance and winter operations; and
WHEREAS, the health, safety and comfort of the residents of the Village of
Shorewood greatly depends on these facilities and services; and
WHEREAS, the quality and effectiveness of these facilities, as well as their planning,
design and construction is vitally dependent upon the efforts and skill
of public works personnel; and
WHEREAS, the efficiency of the qualified and dedicated personnel who staff the
Village of Shorewood’s Department of Public Works is greatly
influenced by residents’ attitude and understanding of the importance
of their work.
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Allison Rozek, President of the Village of Shorewood,
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, do hereby proclaim the week of May 17, 2020 as

NATIONAL PUBLIC WORKS WEEK
in the Village of Shorewood, and I call upon all residents and civic organizations to
acquaint themselves with the issues involved in providing our public works and to
recognize contributions which public works officials make every day to our health,
safety, comfort and quality of life.
DATED at Shorewood, Wisconsin, this 18st day of May, 2020.

______________________________________
Allison Rozek, President

